GEBZE TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE OF BIOTECHNOLOGY

T.R.

WILLOW TREE EXTRACTS AS NOVEL PLANT-BASED BIOSTIMULANTS

HANDE MUTLU A THESIS SUBMITTED FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE DEPARTMENT OF BIOTECHNOLOGY

> GEBZE 2019

GEBZE TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE OF BIOTECHNOLOGY

WILLOW TREE EXTRACTS AS NOVEL PLANT-BASED BIOSTIMULANTS

HANDE MUTLU A THESIS SUBMITTED FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE DEPARTMENT OF BIOTECHNOLOGY

THESIS SUPERVISOR ASST. PROF. BAHAR YILDIZ KUTMAN

> GEBZE 2019

GEBZE TEKNİK ÜNİVERSİTESİ BİYOTEKNOLOJİ ENSTİTÜSÜ

YENİ BİTKİ BAZLI BİYOSTİMÜLANTLAR OLARAK SÖĞÜT ÖZÜTLERİ

HANDE MUTLU YÜKSEK LİSANS TEZİ BİYOTEKNOLOJİ ANABİLİM DALI

DANIŞMANI DR. ÖĞR. ÜYESİ BAHAR YILDIZ KUTMAN

> GEBZE 2019



YÜKSEK LİSANS JÜRİ ONAY FORMU

GTÜ Biyoteknoloji Enstitüsü Yönetim Kurulu'nun 26/06/2019 tarih ve 2019/11-2 sayılı kararıyla oluşturulan jüri tarafından 16/07/2019 tarihinde tez savunma sınavı yapılan Hande MUTLU' nun tez çalışması Biyoteknoloji Anabilim Dalında YÜKSEK LİSANS tezi olarak kabul edilmiştir.

JÜRİ

ÜYE

(TEZ DANIŞMANI)

II) : Dr. Öğr. Üyesi Bahar YILDIZ KUTMAN

ÜYE

ÜYE

: Dr. Öğr. Üyesi Ümit Barış KUTMAN

Autnay

: Dr. Öğr. Üyesi Kübra Sultan ÖZDEMİR BİLİCİ

fingordp

ONAY

Gebze Teknik Üniversitesi Biyoteknoloji Enstitüsü Yönetim Kurulu'nun/...... tarih ve/..... sayılı kararı.

SUMMARY

Salinity is one of the abiotic stresses threatening crop production and thus global food security. Biostimulants can be used as innovative and promising agents to address current challenges to sustainable agriculture. Plant-based biostimulants, also called botanicals, are attractive options due to their safety, renewability and low cost however, the mechanisms of their action are not fully explored.

Willow tree (*Salix* spp.) extracts are rich in many bioactive compounds including salicylates. Extracts of willow bark contain substantial amounts of salicin, which can be converted into the phytohormone salicylic acid, and have been used in traditional medicine for their anti-inflammatory and analgesic activities.

In this thesis study, the potential of willow bark and leaf extracts were evaluated as plant-based biostimulants to improve maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) growth in the absence and presence of salinity stress. Experiments were conducted on perlite, soil and solution culture under growth chamber conditions.

Perlite and soil experiments results suggest that willow tree extracts as a seed treatment agent could improve the maize seedlings performance and enhance various growth parameters including shoot and root lengths as well as biomass production under both control and saline conditions. Moreover, these extracts enhanced mineral content and protein concentration and reduced the negative effects of salinity in the early period.

In hydroponics experiments, especially, willow bark extracts enhanced root growth and development. The observed positive effects of willow extracts is thought to be due to its rich bioactive compounds. As a natural compound, willow extracts have a huge potential to be used as SA sources instead of chemical SA to increase the growth and development of plants.

Results suggest that aqueous extracts of willow tissues may be used as biostimulants to improve crop performance although effects may not be salinity specific. Further studies are needed to determine the compositions of extracts and their effects on other crops under different stress conditions.

Key words: biostimulant, salinity stress, seed treatment, willow leaf extract, willow bark extract, salicylic acid, hydroponic culture

ÖZET

Tuzluluk, bitki üretimini ve dolayısıyla küresel gıda güvenliğini tehdit eden abiyotik streslerden biridir. Biyostimülantlar, sürdürülebilir tarıma yönelik mevcut zorlukları gidermek için yenilikçi ve ümit verici ajanlar olarak kullanılabilir. Bitkisel olarak da adlandırılan bitki bazlı biyostimulantlar, güvenilir, yenilenebilir ve düşük maliyetleri nedeniyle cazip seçeneklerdir, ancak etki mekanizmaları tam olarak araştırılmamıştır.

Söğüt ağacı (*Salix* spp.) özütleri salisilatlar da dahil birçok biyoaktif bileşik bakımından zengindir. Söğüt kabuğunun özleri, fitohormon olan salisilik aside dönüştürülebilen ve geleneksel tıpta sıkça kullanılan önemli miktarlarda salisin içerir.

Bu tez çalışmasında söğüt kabuğu ve yaprak özütlerinin biyostimulant potansiyeli mısırın (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) tuz stresine karşı büyümesi açısından ele alınmıştır. Deneyler iklimlendirme odası koşullarında perlit, toprak ve su çözeltisi ortamlarında yürütülmüştür.

Perlit ve toprak deneyleri sonuçları, bir tohum uygulama maddesi olarak söğüt ağacı özütlerinin hem kontrol hem de tuzlu koşullarında mısırın biyokütle üretiminin yanı sıra sürgün ve kök uzunlukları dahil olmak üzere çeşitli büyüme parametrelerini arttırabileceğini göstermektedir. Bu uygulamalar mineral içeriği ve protein konsantrasyonunu arttırıp ve erken dönemde tuzluluğun olumsuz etkilerini azaltmıştır.

Su kültürü deneylerinde, özellikle söğüt kabuğu özütünün, kök büyümesini ve gelişimini arttırdığı görülmüştür. Söğüt özütünün gözlemlenen olumlu etkilerinin, içerdikleri zengin biyoaktif bileşiklerden kaynaklandığı düşünülmektedir. Söğüt özütleri, bitkilerin büyüme ve gelişimini arttırmak için kimyasal SA yerine doğal bir SA kaynağı olarak kullanılabilir.

Sonuçlar, söğüt doku özütlerinin tuz stresi olan ve olmayan koşullarda mısır performansını arttırmak için biyolojik uyarıcılar olarak kullanılabileceğini göstermektedir. Özütlerin kompozisyonlarının ve farklı stres koşulları altında başka bitkiler üzerindeki etkilerinin belirlemek için başka araştırmalara ihtiyaç vardır.

Anahtar Kelimeler: biyostimulant, tuzluluk stresi, tohum uygulamaları, söğüt yaprak ekstraktı, söğüt kabuk ekstraktı, salisilik asit, su kültürü

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to thank with a great sincerity to Asst. Prof. Dr. Bahar YILDIZ KUTMAN for her supervision, guidance and advice during the period of my research. I feel so lucky to be her student. I wish to express my special thanks to Asst. Prof. Dr. Umit Baris KUTMAN for his precious contributions to my thesis and sharing his creative ideas with me during my studies.

I wish to thank all members of my thesis committee, including Asst. Prof. Dr. Kubra Sultan Ozdemir Bilici and Prof. Dr. Elif Damla ARISAN for their very valuable contributions to my thesis.

I would like to thank all the KutmanLab members, my dear lab mates: Burak TUNCBAS, Yagmur ARIKAN, Aysenur BAYRAK, Elif Ozlem GUNCALDI, Aysenur CATALER KARAKUS and Ali KAVAL, for all their supports, friendship and all lovely memories.

I would also like to thank Prof. Dr. Ismail CAKMAK and all the CAKMAK lab members, particularly Yasemin CEYLAN SEN, Atilla YAZICI, Yusuf TUTUS and Sinem TUTUS for their advice and positive supports for my research.

The most importantly, I specially thanks to all members of my family, especially my mother Ayse MUTLU and my father Yekta MUTLU and my little sister Ceren for their invaluable supports.

I also want to add very special thanks to my dear Erdinc DURAK for always being with me, his support, patience and his precious love.

Lastly, I would like to thank May Seed Company for the kind supply of seed materials which contributed a lot to my thesis studies.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SUMMARY	i
ÖZET	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST of ABBREVIATIONS and ACRONYMS	vii
LIST of FIGURES	ix
LIST of TABLES	xvii
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Biostimulants	1
1.1.1. Main Categories of Plant Biostimulants	3
1.1.1.1. Inorganic Compounds	3
1.1.1.2. Chitosan	3
1.1.1.3. Beneficial Fungi and Bacteria	4
1.1.1.4. Humic and Fulvic acids	4
1.1.1.5. Seaweed Extract	5
1.1.1.6. Protein Hydrolysates (PHs)	6
1.1.1.7. Botanicals	6
1.2. Abiotic Stress	7
1.2.1. Salinity Stress	8
1.2.1.1. Effects of Salinity on Plants	10
1.2.1.2. Plant Salinity Tolerance	12
1.3. Maize (Zea mays L.)	13
1.4. Seed Treatment	16
1.5. Salicylic Acid (SA)	18
1.6. Willows (<i>Salix</i> spp.)	20
1.6.1. Salix Babylonica (Weeping Willow)	21
1.7. What was this MSc Thesis Project about?	22
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	24
2.1. Materials and General Information	24
2.1.1. Plant Material	24
2.1.2. Sodium Chloride (NaCl)	24

2.1.3. Salicylic Acid	24
2.1.4. Preparation of Willow Tree Extracts	24
2.1.5. Nutrient Solution	25
2.1.6. Growth Chamber Conditions	25
2.2. Plant Growth Methods and Media	25
2.2.1. Perlite Experiments	25
2.2.1.1. First Perlite Experiment Methods	26
2.2.1.1.1. Preparation of Salt Solution	26
2.2.1.1.2. Experimental Design	26
2.2.1.2. Second Perlite Experiment Methods	26
2.2.1.2.1. Preparation of Salicylic Acid Solution	26
2.2.1.2.2. Seed Soaking with Salicylic Acid and Sowing	27
2.2.1.3. Third Perlite Experiment Methods	27
2.2.1.3.1.Seed Soaking with Willow Bark and Leaf Extracts and Sowing	27
2.2.1.3.2. Total Root Area Determination	28
2.2.2. Soil Experiment	29
2.2.2.1. First Soil Experiment Method	29
2.2.2.2. Second Soil Experiment Method	29
2.2.2.1. Element Analysis	30
2.2.2.2.2. Preparation of Crude Plant Extracts for Enzyme and Protein	
Analyses	31
2.2.2.2.3. Antioxidant Enzyme Analysis	31
2.2.2.3.1. Superoxide Dismutase (SOD) Assay	31
2.2.2.3.2. Glutathion Reductase (GR) Assay	31
2.2.2.3.3. Ascorbate Peroxidase (AP) Assay	32
2.2.2.3.4. Catalase (CAT) Assay	32
2.2.2.2.4. Total Protein Analysis	32
2.2.3. Solution Culture Experiments	32
2.2.4. Statistical Analysis	33
3. RESULTS	34
3.1. Perlite Experiment Results	34
3.1.1. First Perlite Experiment Results	34
3.1.2. Second Perlite Experiment Results	38
3.1.3. Third Perlite Experiment Results	44
3.2. Soil Experiment Results	52

3.2.1.	First Soil Experiment Results	52
3.2.2.	Second Soil Experiment Results	58
3.3. Hy	droponic Experiment Results	73
4. DISCU	SSION AND CONCLUSION	79
REFERENC	CES	87
BIOGRAPH	łY	112



LIST of ABBREVIATIONS and ACRONYMS

<u>Abbreviations</u> and Acronyms	Explanations
EC	: Electrical Conductivity
ECe	: Saturated Paste Extract
CAGR	: Compound Annual Growth Rate
GB	: Glycine Betaine
PHs	: Protein Hydrolysates
ESP	: Exchangeable Sodium Percentage
СК	: Cytokinin
Al	: Aluminum
Со	: Cobalt
Na	: Sodium
Se	: Selenium
Si	: Silicon
PS II	: Photosystem II
ROS	: Reactive Oxygen Species
PAL	: Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase
SWE	: Seaweed extract
$^{1}O_{2}$: Singlet oxygen
H_2O_2	: Hydrogen peroxide
O2	: Superoxide radical
OH	: Hydroxyl radical
\mathbf{K}^+	: Potassium
Ca ⁺²	: Calcium
Ν	: Nitrogen
JA	: Jasmonic acid
GA	: Gibberellins
ABA	: Abscisic acid
IAA	: Indole-3-Acetic Acid

SA	Salicylic acid	
CAT	Catalase	
APX	Ascorbate peroxidase	
SOD	Superoxide dismutase	
GR	Glutathione reductase	
POD	Peroxidase	
HCl	Hydrochloric acid	
NaOCl	Sodium hypochlorite	
ASC	Ascorbate	
GPX	Guaiacol peroxidase	
GSH	Reduced glutathione	
ANOVA	Analysis of variance	
n.s.	not significant	
Мо	Molybdenum	
ASA	Acetylsalicylic acid	
IC	Isochorismate	
PAs	Proanthocyanidins	
Saligenin	Salicylic alcohol	
Conc.	Concentration	
Cont.	Content	
CV.	cultivar	
DAS	Days After Sowing	
LSD	Fisher's least significant difference	
HSD	Tukey's honestly significant difference	e
$Ca(NO_3)_2$	Calcium nitrate	
WB	Willow Bark	
WL	Willow Leaf	
WS	Water Soaking	

LIST of FIGURES

Figure	e No:	Page
2.1:	Schematic representation of willow tree extracts preparation and	9
	application	
2.2:	Representation of analysis of total root area, (A) determination of	28
	scale, (B) removing of scale, (C) adjustment of colour, (D) convert	
	a picture to black and white.	
3.1:	Effect of salinity treatments on germination percentage (%) of	34
	maize (Zea mays cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite under	
	growth chamber conditions (A) 3 DAS, (B) 5 DAS and (C) 7 DAS.	
	Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30	
	seeds. Bars represent standard deviations.	
3.2:	Shoot and root FW of maize (Zea mays cv. Caramelo) plants grown	36
	in perlite under growth chamber conditions and subjected to	
	salinity stress at different levels. Values are measured for plants	
	harvested (A) 3 DAS, (B) 5 DAS and (C) 7 DAS. Values are means	
	of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Different	
	upper- and lower-case letters indicate significant differences	
	between means according to Fisher's protected LSD test.	
3.3:	Total FW of maize (Zea mays cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite	37
	under growth chamber conditions and subjected to salinity stress at	
	different levels. Values are measured for plants harvested (A) 3	
	DAS, (B) 5 DAS and (C) 7 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent	
	box replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Different lower-case	

Fisher's protected LSD test.

3.4: Shoot Length of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown in 38 perlite under growth chamber conditions and subjected to salinity stress at different levels. Values are measured for plants harvested (A) 3 DAS, (B) 5 DAS and (C) 7 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Different lower-

letters indicate significant differences between means according to

case letters indicate significant differences between means according to Fisher's protected LSD test.

- 3.5: Effect of seed treatment with SA on germination percentage of 39 maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions and harvested (A) 3 DAS, (B) 5 DAS and (C) 7 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Different upper- and lower-case letters indicate significant differences between means according to Fisher's protected LSD test.
- 3.6: Effect of seed treatment with SA on shoot FW of maize (*Zea mays* 41 cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions and harvested (A) 3 DAS, (B) 5 DAS and (C) 7 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Uppercase letters and lower-case letters indicate significant differences according to the Fisher's protected LSD test in the absence and presence of salinity stress, respectively.
- 3.7: Effect of seed treatment with SA on root FW of of maize (*Zea mays* 42 cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions and harvested (A) 3 DAS, (B) 5 DAS and (C) 7 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Uppercase letters and lower-case letters indicate significant differences according to the Fisher's protected LSD test in the absence and presence of salinity stress, respectively.
- 3.8: Effect of seed treatment with SA on total FW of maize (*Zea mays* 43 cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions and harvested (A) 3 DAS, (B) 5 DAS and (C) 7 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Uppercase letters and lower-case letters indicate significant differences according to the Fisher's protected LSD test in the absence and presence of salinity stress, respectively.
- 3.9: Effect of seed treatment with SA on shoot length of maize (*Zea mays* 44 cv. Caramelo) plants grown for 7 days in perlite under growth chamber conditions. Values are means of 4 independent replicates,

each containing 30 seeds. The lower-case letters were given according to the Fisher's protected LSD test results in the control condition and salt stressed condition.

- 3.10: Effect of seed treatment with various agents (WS: Water Soaking, 45 SA: Salicylic acid (0.5 mM), WB: Willow Bark (2%), WL: Willow Leaf (2%)) on 3-day-old maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) seedlings grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions.
- 3.11: Effect of seed treatment with various agents (WS: Water Soaking, 46 SA: Salicylic acid (0.5 mM), WB: Willow Bark (2%), WL: Willow Leaf (2%)) on 6-day-old maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) seedlings grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions.
- 3.12: Effect of seed treatment with various agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB 48 (2%), WL (2%)) on germination percentage of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions and harvested (A) 3 DAS or (B) 6 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Uppercase letters and lower-case letters indicate significant differences according to the Fisher's protected LSD test in the absence and presence of salinity stress, respectively.
- 3.13: Effect of seed treatment with various agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), 49 WB (2%), WL (2%)) on shoot FW of maize plants (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions and harvested (A) 3 DAS or (B) 6 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Uppercase letters were given according to Tukey's protected HSD test.
- 3.14: Effect of seed treatment with various agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), 50 WB (2%), WL (2%)) on root FW of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions and harvested (A) 3 DAS or (B) 6 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Uppercase letters and lower-case letters indicate significant differences according to the Fisher's protected LSD test in the absence and presence of salinity stress, respectively.

- 3.15: Effect of seed treatment with various agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), 51 WB (2%), WL (2%)) on total FW of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions and harvested (A) 3 DAS or (B) 6 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Uppercase letters and lower-case letters indicate significant differences according to the Fisher's protected LSD test in the absence and presence of salinity stress, respectively.
- 3.16: Effect of seed treatment with various agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), 51 WB (2%), WL (2%)) on total root area (calculated by Image J) of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions and harvested (A) 3 DAS or (B) 6 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Uppercase letters and lower-case letters indicate significant differences according to the Fisher's protected LSD test in the absence and presence of salinity stress, respectively.
- 3.17: Effect of seed treatment with various agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), 52 WB (2%), WL (2%)) on shoot length of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite media under growth chamber conditions and harvested (A) 3 DAS or (B) 6 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. The lower-case letters were given according to the Fisher's protected LSD test results in the control condition and salt stressed condition.
- 3.18: Effect of priming times and salinity stress on maize plants (Zea 53 mays cv. Caramelo) grown for 14 days under growth chamber conditions by using salt treated soils which had different soil EC_e values.
- 3.19: Effect of priming times and salt stress on germination percentage of 54
 (A) 5 DAS, (B) 7 DAS and (C) 10 DAS maize plants (Zea mays cv. Caramelo) grown under growth chamber conditions by using salt treated soils which had different soil EC_e values. Values are means of 4 independent pot replicates, each containing 15 seeds.

- 3.20: Effect of (A) 0h, (B) 4h, (C) 8h, (D) 12h and (E) 16h priming time 56 on plant height of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown under growth chamber conditions by using salt treated soils which had different soil EC_e values. Values are means of 4 independent pot replicates, each containing 15 seeds.
- 3.21: Effect of priming time and salinity stress on fresh weight of maize 57 (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown for 14 days under growth chamber conditions by using salt treated soils which had different soil EC_e values. Values are means of 4 independent pot replicates, each containing 15 seeds. Uppercase letters were given according to the Fisher's protected LSD test results according to the priming time.
- 3.22: Effect of priming time on dry weight 14 DAS of maize (*Zea mays* 57 cv. Caramelo) plants grown for 14 days under growth chamber conditions by using salt treated soils which had different soil EC_e values. Values are means of 4 independent pot replicates, each containing 15 seeds. Uppercase letters were given according to the Fisher's protected LSD test results according to the priming time.
- 3.23: Effects of different seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB 58 (2% and 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) on maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown for 14 days under growth chamber conditions under control and saline soil.
- 3.24: Effects of different seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB 59 (2% and 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) on germination percentage of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants ((A)5 DAS, (B)7 DAS and (C)10 DAS) grown under control and saline soil conditions. Values are means of 5 independent pot replicates, each containing 15 seeds. Uppercase letters and lower-case letters indicate significant differences according to the Fisher's protected LSD test in the absence and presence of salinity stress, respectively.
- 3.25: Effect of seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 61 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) on plant height of soil grown maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants under control and saline conditions.

Values are means of 5 independent pot replicates, each containing 15 seeds.

- 3.26: Effect of seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 61 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) on shoot fresh weight of soil grown maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) under control and salinity stress. Values are means of 5 independent pot replicates, each containing 15 seeds. Uppercase letters and lower-case letters indicate significant differences according to the Fisher's protected LSD test in the absence and presence of salinity stress, respectively.
- 3.27: Effect of seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 62 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) on shoot dry weight of soil grown maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) under control and salinity stress. Values are means of 5 independent pot replicates, each containing 15 seeds. Uppercase letters and lower-case letters indicate significant differences according to the Fisher's protected LSD test in the absence and presence of salinity stress, respectively.
- 3.28: Effect of salinity and salicylic acid, willow bark and leaf extracts on 74 maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown for 30 days under growth chamber conditions by using hydroponic culture.
- 3.29: Effect of salicylic acid, willow bark and leaf extracts on plant height 76
 30 DAS of hydroponically grown maize plants (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) under (A) control and (B) salt stress conditions. Values are means of 4 independent pot replicates, each containing 5 plants. The lowercase letters were given according to the LSD results under the control and salinity conditions.
- 3.30: Effect of salinity stress and salicylic acid, willow bark and leaf 77 extracts on shoot fresh weight of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown for 30 days under growth chamber conditions by using hydroponic culture. Values are means of 4 independent pot replicates, each containing 5 plants. In cases where the interaction had no significant effect, the uppercase letters were given according to the Fisher's protected LSD test results in the control condition

and the lower-case letters were given for to the salt stressed condition.

3.31: Effect of salinity and salicylic acid, willow bark and leaf extracts on 78 shoot (A) and root (B) dry weight of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown for 30 days under growth chamber conditions by using hydroponic culture. Values are means of 4 independent pot replicates, each containing 5 plants. In cases where the interaction had no significant effect, the uppercase letters were given according to the Fisher's protected LSD test results in the control condition and the lower-case letters were given for to the salt stressed condition.

LIST of TABLES

Table	<u>No</u> :	Page
1.1:	Salt tolerance of some crop species	9
3.1:	One-way ANOVA of the effect of salinity on seed germination	35
	percentage (%), shoot, root and total FW and shoot length for 3 DAS,	
	5 DAS and 7 DAS of maize (Zea mays cv. Caramelo) plants grown	
	in perlite for the first perlite experiment.	
3.2:	Two-way ANOVA of the effects of salinity (EC _e) and seed treatment	40
	with Salicylic acid (SA) on (A) germination percentage, (B) shoot,	
	(C) root and (D) total FW and (E) shoot length for maize (Zea mays	
	cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite in the second experiment and	
	harvested 3 DAS, 5 DAS or 7 DAS.	
3.3:	Two-way ANOVA of the effects of salinity (ECe) and seed treatment	47
	(ST) on (A) germination percentage, (B) shoot, (C) root and (D) total	
	FW, (E) total root area and (F) shoot length for maize (Zea mays cv.	
	Caramelo) plants grown in perlite in the third experiment and	
	harvested 3 DAS and 6 DAS.	
3.4:	Two-way ANOVA of the effects of salinity (ECe) and priming time	55
	(PT) on (A) germination percentage (5 DAS, 7 DAS and 10 DAS),	
	(B) plant height (7 DAS, 10 DAS and 14 DAS), (C) shoot fresh and	
	(D) dry weight (14 DAS) of soil grown maize under control and salt	
	stress.	
3.5:	Two-way ANOVA of the effects of salinity (EC _e) and seed treatment	60
	(ST) on (A) germination percentage (5 DAS, 7 DAS and 10 DAS),	
	(B) plant height (7 DAS, 10 DAS and 14 DAS), (C) shoot fresh and	
	(D) dry weight (14 DAS) of soil grown maize under control and salt	
	stress.	
3.6:	Two-way ANOVA of the effects of salinity (ECe), seed treatment on	63
	mineral concentrations of maize grown in soil in the second	
	experiment.	

- 3.7: K and Na concentrations of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) leaves in 64 response to different seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) and soil salinity.
- 3.8: Shoot macroelement concentrations of maize (*Zea mays* cv. 65 Caramelo) leaves in response to different seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) and soil salinity.
- 3.9: Shoot microelement concentrations of maize (*Zea mays* cv. 66 Caramelo) leaves in response to different seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) and soil salinity.
- 3.10: Two-way ANOVA of the effects of salinity (EC_e) and seed treatment
 67 on mineral content of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) grown in soil
 under growth chamber conditions.
- 3.11: K and Na content of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) shoots in 68 response to different seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) and soil salinity.
- 3.12: Shoot macroelement content of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) 69 plants in response to different seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) and soil salinity.
- 3.13: Shoot microelement content of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants 70 in response to different seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) and soil salinity.
- 3.14: Two-way ANOVA of the effects of salinity (ECe) and seed treatment 70 (ST) on protein concentration of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown in soil under growth chamber conditions.
- 3.15: Effect of seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 71 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) and salinity on protein concentration of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) grown in soil under growth chamber conditions.
- 3.16: Two-way ANOVA of the effects of salinity (ECe) and seed treatment
 (ST) on antioxidative enzyme of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) grown in soil under growth chamber conditions.
- 3.17: Effect of seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 73 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) and salinity on specific activity of

antioxidative enzymes of maize (Zea mays cv. Caramelo) plants grown in soil under growth chamber conditions.

3.18: Two-way ANOVA of the effects of salinity (EC_e) and treatment 75 agents (A) on (A) plant height (19 DAS, 26 DAS and 30 DAS), (B) shoot fresh and (C) shoot and (D) root dry weight (30 DAS) of hydroponically grown maize plants (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) under control and salt stress conditions.



1. INTRODUCTION

With a growth rate of at least 25%, human population is estimated to reach approximately 10 billion by 2050 [Schroeder et al., 2013], [Rouphael and Colla, 2018a]. However, the arable land in use is expected to increase by only 5% until 2050 [FAO, 2009]. Trend of shifting to non-agricultural activities like urbanization and industrialization, problems coming with the climate change, degradation of arable land due to wrong irrigation practices, pollution and desertification cause a decrease in readily used arable land [Motha and Baier, 2005].

Until 2050, to feed the increasing population, food production has to be approximately doubled in developing countries and increased by 70% globally to meet the demand [FAO, 2009]. Therefore, it will become even more important to achieve maximum crop yield from the unit area in the future [Tan et al., 2006], [Rouphael et al., 2018b].

On the other hand, the usage of chemical fertilizers in agriculture can be quite inefficient because over-fertilization or other wrong fertilization applications can cause soil degradation or salinization [Keeney and Olson, 1986], [Halpern et al., 2015]. The excess fertilizers can run away to nature for example via leaching from the agricultural area to underground waters and lead to environmental problems which negatively affect all living being and deteriorated soil properties.

The decreasing arable land, usage of chemical fertilizer and climatic changes threaten global food safety and security. So, sustainable, eco-friendly and also efficient agriculture practices are required for feeding the growing population [Duhamel and Vandenkoornhuyse, 2013].

1.1. Biostimulants

In recent years, natural plant biostimulants, which can be a promising solution as an alternative, safe and innovative and productive approach for sustainable agricultural production, are gradually replacing synthetic chemicals [Rouphael et al., 2017b], [Van Oosten et al., 2017]. As a result, the negative effects of chemical fertilizers and environmental pollution as well as farmer's production cost are expected to decrease [Ertani et al., 2016].

Biostimulants are neither fertilizers nor pesticides, but when applied in small quantities they can enhance the yield, growth and health of the plant [Calvo et al., 2014], [Brown and Saa, 2015], [Lovatt, 2015].

Although the exact mechanisms are not known or very much depend on the substance that is used as a biostimulant, biostimulants can increase nutrient uptake, nutrient use efficiency, photosynthesis capacity and biotic or abiotic stress tolerance of plants [du Jardin, 2015], [Brown and Saa, 2015], [Yakhin et al., 2017]. Moreover, biostimulants are reported to provide better crop yield, quality, and vigour as well as better germination, leaf and fruit number and root growth and development [Roupheal et al., 2018]. In biostimulant treated plants, increased amounts of primary metabolites like amino acid, protein, sugar and also secondary metabolites such as phenolic compounds are measured [Ertani et al., 2011]. Biostimulants can be applied to:

1) seeds by different seed treatment techniques,

2) directly to plants by foliar applications, or

3) plant roots by mixing with irrigation water or growing medium like perlite or soil.

Biostimulants may contain many compounds that are important for plant metabolism [du Jardin, 2015]. These compounds can be organic substances like proteins, carbohydrates, lipids, phenolic compounds, hormones, vitamins and nucleotides or inorganic substances like beneficial elements and play a critical role in primary and secondary plant metabolism [Yakhin et al., 2017]. Moreover, some biostimulants involve signaling molecules act as secondary messengers which stimulate signaling pathways and cellular responses [Mochida and Shinozaki, 2011], [Wang and Irving, 2011].

Biostimulants help various plants withstand to different stress condition by inducing of the signaling pathways and antioxidant system, reducing reactive oxygen species and enhancing secondary metabolites [Ertani et al., 2013]. The effectiveness of biostimulants may vary depending on the type of plant, developmental phase, period, amount and process of practice [Colla et al., 2015].

The global biostimulants market is rapidly expanding and by 2022 this market value is expected to reach from \$ 1 billion to \$ 3 billion with at a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of approximately 11%. Europe (34%) has the largest share of the world biostimulant market, followed by North America (23%) and Asia-Pacific (22%) [Rouphael et al., 2018a].

As a result, the use of biostimulants in agriculture application has enormous potential that can be important contributions to early-stage plant growth and development through the seed soaking especially can help plants overcome stress situations, including salinity [de Vasconcelos et al., 2009].

1.1.1. Main Categories of Plant Biostimulants

Biostimulants can be classified in many different categories and found in alternative formulations. But they are generally classified into the following major groups: inorganic compounds, chitosan, humic and fulvic acids, seaweed extracts, botanicals, protein hydrolysates, beneficial fungi and bacteria [du Jardin, 2015].

1.1.1.1. Inorganic Compounds

Elements which can be used to optimize the plant growth and development but not essential for the life cycle of plants or essential for only particular plants are known as beneficial elements and they can be classified as a group of biostimulants (Kleiber and Markiewicz, 2013; Radkowski and Radkowska, 2013). Some examples are aluminum (Al), cobalt (Co), sodium (Na), selenium (Se), and silicon (Si) are called beneficial elements [Broadley et al., 2012].

The effects of these beneficial elements may vary depending on the type and dose [Pilon-Smits et al., 2009]. Beneficial elements can play a role in primary or secondary metabolism and nodulation of plants and can improve plant growth and tolerance to biotic and abiotic stresses, induce hormone synthesis and signaling and provide cell wall stability and osmoregulation [Vatansever et al., 2017], [Pilon-Smits et al., 2009].

Inorganic salts of such elements, like chloride, phosphate, phosphite silicate and carbonate are shown to enhance resistance against to biotic stress including fungal disease and thus can be used, at least conditionally, as antifungal agents instead of synthetic fungicides [Deliopoulos et al., 2010].

1.1.1.2. Chitosan

Chitosan is the second most common polysaccharide in nature after cellulose [Hejazi and Amiji, 2003] and can be found in the cell walls of crustacean shells insects and fungi [Sandford, 2003]. This biopolymer has a wide application area including food, medicine, cosmetic due to its natural, non-toxic, biodegradable and antimicrobial properties [Pichyangkura and Chadchawan, 2015]. In addition, chitosan can also be used as biostimulant in agricultural area [Pichyangkura and Chadchawan, 2015].

Chitosan can be applied as a soil conditioner, antimicrobial or seed treatment agent, and these applications are reported to have a positive effect on plant metabolism [Lee et al., 2005]. Chitosan has beneficial effects on plant metabolism, including enhanced plant growth and development, better germination and crop quality [Kim et al., 2005].

Moreover, this biopolymer can act as an elicitor and induce the defense system, improve accumulation of secondary metabolites, and thus provide resistance to different biotic (fungi, viruses, and bacteria) and abiotic stresses (drought, salinity) [Katiyar et al., 2015].

1.1.1.3. Beneficial Fungi and Bacteria

Microorganisms-based biostimulants like beneficial bacteria (Rhizobium, Azotobacter, Bacillus etc.) and fungi (Arbuscular mycorrhizal, Trichoderma spp. etc.) are also classified as biofertilizers or biopesticides. The widespread usage of these microorganisms in agriculture is critical for sustainable agriculture as they have a potential to reduce the need of synthetic products which can be harmful to the environment [Vessey, 2003], [Selvakumar et al., 2009].

Beneficial bacteria and fungi are found in the rhizosphere of plants and can produce stimulant compounds like phytohormones which have critical roles in plant metabolism and thus may help the plants to tolerate various stress conditions [Bhattacharyya et al., 2012].

Moreover, these beneficial microorganisms can form symbiotic relationship with plants and cause changes in root morphology by enhancing root area, weight and length and, therefore can improve water-use-efficiency, crop yield and nutrient uptake particularly for phosphorus and nitrogen [Kloepper et al., 2007], [Ravensberg, 2015].

1.1.1.4. Humic and Fulvic acids

Humic and fulvic acids constitute more than half of the active organic compounds in the soil [Stevenson, 1994]. These substances are formed by biodegradation of dead organic matters in soils in a quite long time and when mixed with soils, they can increase the organic matter content and increase agricultural production [Bulgari et al., 2015], [Canellas et al., 2015].

When humic substances are applied to the soil with the purpose of improving soil properties and fertility [Rouphael and Colla, 2018], nutrient availability and solubility [Zandonadi et al., 2007]. They can improve carbon and nitrogen metabolism of plants [Canellas et al., 2015] and enhance many growth and quality related parameters [Halpern et al., 2015].

These compounds can show biostimulant activity by affecting root morphology, growth, and development [Calvo et al., 2014], secondary metabolite production [de Pascale et al., 2017], reactive oxygen secies (ROS) scavenging, phenylalanine ammonialyase (PAL) activity [Olivares et al., 2015] as well as regulation of related genes. In this way, plants are reported to withstands stress condition such as drought and salinity [Battacharyya et al., 2015], [Calvo et al., 2014].

1.1.1.5. Seaweed Extract

Seaweed extract (SWE) or macroalgae are another subclass of biostimulants, which are often used for foliar or soil applications as powder or liquid extracts [Craigie, 2011], [Battacharyya et al., 2015]. These compounds can also be used in organic farming as organic fertilizers due to their marine sources and organic origin. The biostimulant effect of SWEs can be attributed the wide range of bioactive compounds such as osmolytes, nutrients, secondary metabolites, polysaccharides, and plant hormones [Khan et al., 2009].

SWE has been reported to enhance plant growth, germination capacity, flowering, nutrient uptake and remobilization, fruit setting, rhizosphere microorganism activity, nucleic acid and chlorophyll synthesis and root structure development [Birceno-Domínguez et al., 2014], [Hernández-Herrera et al., 2014], [Arioli et al., 2015]. Furthermore, these biostimulant substances can affect the regulation of genes, primary metabolism of plants such as photosynthesis, respiration [Sharma et al., 2014] and resistance against biotic [Allen et al., 2001] and abiotic stresses [Elansary et al., 2016].

1.1.1.6. Protein Hydrolysates (PHs)

Protein hydrolysates (PHs) include peptides and amino acids which are produced from either plant (legume seeds, alfalfa hay) or animal sources (leather, fish) by chemical and/or enzymatic hydrolysis [Kumar et al., 2019], [Schaafsma, 2009]. They can be applied in low amounts as leaf, seed or soil applications in various forms such as liquid, granule or powder [Colla et al., 2015].

When compared to animal-derived PHs, plant-derived PHs are preferred more in agricultural production due to food safety issues and vegetarian food nutrition or religious related customer preferences [Colla et al., 2014], [Cerdán et al., 2009]. According to the literature, the application of various plant-based protein hydrolysates on different plant species has improved germination capability, plant growth and development, crop yield and quality, root structure and nutrient uptake [Ertani et al., 2009], [Paul et al., 2019].

Moreover, these biostimulant substances play a critical role in the plant defense system and provide resistance to abiotic stresses by activation of signaling molecules and antioxidant enzymes, enhancing carbon and nitrogen metabolic activities and proline accumulation [Rouphael et al., 2017a], [Sestili et al., 2018].

1.1.1.7. Botanicals

Plant-based biostimulants, which are also called botanicals, are plant extracts or substances obtained from plants which can also be used as food additives or other products that are manufactured by pharmaceutical and cosmetic industries [du Jardin, 2015], [Seiber et al., 2014]. Botanical extracts include several important natural bioactive molecules like natural phenolics [Khattak et al., 2015] and these bioactive substances can increase yield and fruit quality, enhance photosynthesis, carbohydrate levels [Ziosi et al., 2012] and nodule development, improve secondary metabolite production [Yakhin et al., 2017] and [Bibi et al., 2016]. These plant-based biostimulants can be applied to agronomic valuable plants by seed treatment or foliar spraying both in the presence or absence of a stress condition.

A good example for plant-based biostimulants is Moringa leaves extract which have attracted the attention of agronomists due to its attractive properties such as being a natural, renewable, cheap, good source of cytokinin (CK), zeatin, antioxidants, vitamin, amino acids, protein and nutrients [Phiri and Mbewe, 2010], [Siddhuraju and Becker, 2003], [Bibi et al., 2016]. Application of moringa leaf extracts to different plants like maize [Bibi et al., 2016], [Afzal et al., 2012], [Iftikhar et al., 2009], [Rehman et al., 2015], [Basra et al., 2011], sunflower [Basra et al., 2009], rangeland grasses [Nouman et al., 2012], wheat [Yasmeen et al., 2013], lentil [Imran et al., 2014], pea [Merwad, 2018], radish [Ashraf et al., 2018] and tomato [Yasmeen et al., 2014] demonstrated stimulatory action and enhanced plant abiotic stress tolerance by increasing phenolics accumulation, root and shoot lengths, chlorophyll contents, fresh and dry weights of plants and provided better seed germination [Bibi et al., 2016], [Basra et al., 2011].

Another example of botanical biostimulants are garlic extracts. Improved plant growth and development, higher biomass, better quality and activation of key enzymes are observed when plants are treated with this compound [Hayat et al., 2018].

Finally, sugar beet extract are documented to contain many bioactive substances as well as glycine betaine (GB) which is one of the major organic osmolytes. Abbas et al. (2010) showed that many metabolic activities, GB level, growth, tolerance to salinity stress and yield of eggplant increased with leaf application of sugar beet extracts.

1.2. Abiotic Stress

Abiotic stress has arisen from excess or deficit of non-biological factors and can adversely affect food safety, crop production, yield and quality and result environmental degradation [Forni et al., 2017]. Plants are frequently exposed to these stress conditions including salinity, drought, UV, temperature (heat, cold, freezing), heavy metal toxicities, flooding, and inadequate oxygen [Hirayama and Shinozaki, 2010]. These stresses act as a serious threat to agricultural activities and can cause more than half of the world's major crop yield to be lost [Agarwal et al., 2018].

Development of cereals which are adapted to undesirable environmental conditions is very important for sustainable food production [Gong et al., 2014]. Today, various strategies are used to produce plants that can withstand these stresses but most of these methods are not easily applicable to farms or it takes a long time for the growers to adapt them [Ashkani et al., 2015].

1.2.1. Salinity Stress

Salinity stress is one of the most commonly observed abiotic stresses that seriously damage the agricultural sector and endanger the sustainable food supply of the growing global human population [Agarwal et al., 2018], [Botella et al., 2005]. More than one-third of the world's fertile lands are affected by soil salinity and especially in arid and semi-arid regions productivity of approximately 3.000 hectares of arable land is reduced significantly [Shabala, 2013], [Qadir et al., 2014]. Unfortunately, it is estimated that the impact of soil salinity will increase in the coming years and almost half of the fertile land will turn into barren lands before the 22nd century [Wang et al., 2003]. If not totally impossible, the transformation of the areas affected by salinity into a productive land is a difficult, time consuming and expensive [Ondrasek et al., 2011]. In Turkey, approximately 1.5 million hectares of land, which is about one-third of the fertile land, are affected by soil salinity in various degrees [Ekmekci et al., 2005].

Soil salinity consists of electrolytes of anions and cations resulting from the dissolution of various salts such as NaCl, KCl, Na₂SO₄, Na₂CO₃, MgCl₂, MgSO₄ in soil solution or water [Munns and Tester, 2008]. Soil salinization may be observed due to natural causes (primary salinity) or human activities (secondary salinity) [Parihar et al., 2015]. The primary salinity is caused by long term salt accumulation due to natural causes including global warming, insufficient rainfall, increase in evapotranspiration, weathering of native rocks, salty underground water and tides [Arzani, 2008], [Tahjib-Ul-Arif et al., 2018], [Rouphael et al., 2018c].

On the other hand, secondary salinity arises from anthropogenic activities such as intensive farming, improper irrigation practices and drainage systems (excessive, salt-rich and poor quality irrigation water, insufficient drainage), wrong fertilizer management (over-fertilization, Cl-containing fertilizers) and land clearing which alter the hydrological offset between soil and water [Manchanda and Garg, 2008], [Ilangumaran and Smith, 2017], [Rouphael et al., 2018c].

Electrical conductivity (EC) and exchangeable sodium percentage (ESP) can be used as parameters to determine the soil salinity level. With increasing electrical conductibility, the osmotic potential decreases and the soil solute concentration increases [Manchanda and Garg, 2008]. If the measured saturated paste extract (EC_e) value is 4 or more and the ESP value is 15% or less, the soils are considered as saline soils and this corresponds to approximately to 40 mM NaCl [Munns and Tester, 2008]. The high ESP ratio indicates that Na is much more abundant than the other exchangeable cation. Soils with an ESP value greater than 15 are not only classified as saline soils but they are considered saline-sodic soils [Chhabra, 2017].

According to the EC mesaurements some threshold levels are reported for different plant species. The threshold value means the highest soil salinity which does not result in a yield reduction for a specific plant species. Since the salinity threshold value of each plant may be different, the impact level of this threshold may vary depending on plant species [Maas, 1986], [Munns, 2002]. If the EC of saturation extract of the soil is lower than this threshold value, that plant species is not expected to show a biomass or yield reduction due to salinity stress and above the threshold salinity stress is expected to effect that crop species. In addition, the slope level gives information about the expected percent decrease in yield or biomass per one unit increase in measured soil EC values above that salinity threshold [Tanji and Kielen, 2002]. Table 1 shows the specific threshold values of some plants species. For example according to this table maize has a threshold of 1.7 dS/m and the maize yield is expected to be reduced by about 13% for each 1ds/m rise in ECe of soil [Ma et al., 2008].

	EC of saturated soil extract	
Crop species	Threshold (EC _e)	Slope
	(ds/m)	(% per ds/m)
Barley (H. Vulgare)	8.0	5.0
Sugar Beet (B. vulgaris)	7.0	5.9
Wheat (T. aestivum)	6.0	7.1
Soybean (G. max)	5.0	20.0
Sunflower (H. annuus)	4.8	5.0
Tomato (L. esculentum)	2.5	9.9
Maize (Z. mays)	1.7	12.9
Common Bean (P. vulgaris)	1.0	19.0

Table 1.1 Salt tolerance of some crop species

Halophytes, which are also known as salinity tolerant plants and constitute only a small part of the world flora, can accumulate Na⁺ ions in their vacuoles and use it as

osmoticum [Wungrampha et al., 2018]. Low Na concentrations can exert a beneficial effect on plant growth, especially in natrophilic (salt-loving) species. By using osmotic adjustment, these plants can take up water from the soil and thus they can easily grow and develop in saline regions [Flowers and Colmer, 2015], [Shabala and Mackay, 2011].

1.2.1.1. Effects of Salinity on Plants

The adverse effects of salt stress on plants are related to the osmotic stress in short term and ionic toxicity in long term exposure [Carillo et al., 2011]. Firstly, the accumulation of soluble salts is detected by the root system immediate induces osmotic stress. As the amount of salt in the soil increases, the osmotic potential as well as total water potential of the soil decreases and the plant cannot take up water [Kader and Lindberg, 2010], [Acosta-Motos et al., 2017]. Secondly, high concentration of ions especially Na+ and Cl- that accumulate in the plant over time causes ionic stress. These ions enter the plant in the transpiration stream and start to accumulate on the old leaves of the plant and may cause progressive damage or death [Wungrampha et al., 2018]. The accumulation of excess Na+ and Cl- in the cytoplasm impair cell structure and function and inhibit growth and development by disrupting many metabolic processes [Pirasteh-Anosheh et al., 2017], [Parihar et al., 2015].

In general, when the plants are exposed to salt stress, their physiological and metabolic balances deteriorate and many critical steps and processes including germination, seedling establishment, reproduction, cellular structure, enzymatic activities, nutrient homeostasis, yield, respiration, water balance, hormonal status and photosynthesis are negatively affected due to direct or indirect effects of osmotic and ionic stress [Parihar et al., 2015], [Fardus et al., 2018], [Bulgari et al., 2018].

The seed germination, which is the first stage of plant development and very critical to determine the plant yield, is severely affected due to impaired water absorption of seeds as a result of osmotic stress [Fernández-Torquemada et al., 2013]. Under saline conditions germination may be delayed or totally blocked.

The growth-related parameters including plant height, fresh and dry weight, leaf number, size and area, number of flowers, seed setting, grain yield, and total biomass are decreased by the presence of excess salt ions [Guan et al., 2011], [Dolatabadian et al.,

2011]. The negative effect of salinity on shoot growth is greater when compared to root growth, so root to shoot ratio increase [Jimenez et al., 2003].

Photosynthesis is one of the most critical processes for plants and is negatively affected by salinity stress since photosystem II (PS II) activity, chlorophyll content, stomatal conductivity is reduced, thylakoid membrane stability is impaired and photosynthesis-related genes are downregulated [López-Climent et al., 2008].

The nutrient homeostasis is also impaired as the toxic ions reduce or interfere the uptake, translocation and remobilization mechanisms of essential minerals including potassium (K⁺), calcium (Ca⁺²) as well as nitrogen (N). In salt affected plants lower K⁺/Na⁺ and Ca⁺²/Na⁺ ratio are observed [Rady et al., 2017], [Zhu, 2001]. The excess of salts inhibits N uptake and disrupt nitrogen metabolism because of the relationship between Na⁺ and NH₄ ⁺ as well as between Cl⁻ and NO₃⁻ [Rozeff, 1995]. The Na⁺ ions compete with K⁺ ions because of their chemical similarities and causes K deficiency by inhibiting K uptake [Chinnusamy et al., 2006]. K⁺ is one of the most critical and abundant essential element in plant cells and play a critical role in plant metabolism including stomatal control, photosynthetic efficiency, enzymatic activities, maintaining membrane stability and homeostasis and also protein synthesis. It is also an important determinant of plant tolerance to abiotic stress [Rodriguez-Navarro et al., 2006], [Isayenkov et a., 2019]. Ca is also another essential element and critical for cell wall stability [Hu et al., 2007].

Under the salinity stress, the production of ROS, which are highly reactive species containing oxygen such as singlet oxygen (¹O₂), hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), superoxide radical (O₂⁻⁻), hydroxyl radical (OH⁻), etc., increases and oxidative stress is stimulated [Borsani et al., 2001]. Under normal conditions ROS is synthesized at low levels and act as signal transduction molecules in many important processes such as growth, development, signalling pathways, stress tolerance, cell cycle and apoptosis [Miller et al., 2008], [Miller et al., 2010]. However, under stress conditions, the increased ROS level causes oxidative stress as toxic compounds and significantly damages the plant cell [Chinnusamy et al., 2005]. High production of ROS can result in mutations in DNA level, deterioration of membrane function and chlorophyll pigments and degradation of proteins [Muchate et al., 2016]. Moreover, ROS disrupts the lipid metabolism and thus reduces the

membrane stability by decreasing membrane fluidity and deteriorating its integrity [Birben et al., 2012], [Ayala et al., 2014].

Salinity stress causes significant changes in the levels of phytohormones including abscisic acid (ABA), Indole-3-Acetic Acid (IAA) and salicylic acid (SA) [Zholkevich and Pustovaytova, 1993]. Under salt stress, ABA is mainly responsible for inhibition of stomatal opening, therefore it prevents the stomatal transpiration and water loss [Parida and Das, 2005], [Kawasaki et al., 2001]. The reduced levels of IAA and SA have negative effects on seed germination and growth [Zholkevich and Pustovaytova, 1993], [Verma et al., 2016]. Therefore, treating the plants with these hormones can mitigate the harmful impacts of salt on plants [Javid et al., 2011].

Salinity also impairs the soil structure and thus can cause adverse effects on root morphology of plants which are grown under salt-affected soils. The accumulation of salts in the soil change soil structure and properties, cause soil compaction, reduce aeration and water permeability capacity of soils. These soil related issues limiting root growth due to restricting air and water movement [Machanda and Garg, 2008].

The above-mentioned adverse effects of salt stress may vary depending on the species, genotype, and development stage of the plant subject to stress, salt type as well as the level and duration of stress [Dajic, 2006].

1.2.1.2. Plant Salinity Tolerance

Plants have developed many adaptation mechanisms to cope with saline conditions including osmotic adjustment, salts exclusion/ inclusion and compartmentalization, stimulation of antioxidative, hormonal, and secondary mechanisms, upregulated stress-related genes and expression of defense proteins for avoiding to salt stress [Hamed et al., 2018], [Pirasteh-Anosheh et al., 2017], [Sorahinobar et al., 2016], [Liu et al., 2016].

Osmotic adjustment is a mechanism where accumulation of compatible inorganic ions and organic solutes such as proline, glycine betaine, sugar alcohol (sorbitol, mannitol, pinitol), sugars reduce the water potential and thus plants can continue water uptake from the environment where water availability is limited [Parihar et al., 2015], [Fahad et al., 2015]. Accumulation of these compatible solutes do not cause any toxicity problems in the cytosol, and these compounds also exhibit antioxidant activity by eliminating ROS, protection membrane stability and three-dimensional structure of proteins [Manchanda and Garg, 2008].

The levels of intracellular Na⁺ depends on the activity of two Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters which are secondary active transports and use the proton gradient [Xu et al., 2010], [Apse and Blumwald, 2002]. One of these is Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters, which are located in the plasma membrane, exclude Na and thus inside the cytoplasm keep Na⁺ concentration at a low level [Shi et al., 2003]. The other one, which is called is vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter, is located on tonoplast and transport Na into the vacuole [Apse and Blumwald, 2007]. By using these antiporters plants can utilize these ions as osmolytes and continue taking up water under saline conditions due to low osmotic potential [Chinnusamy et al., 2005].

High ROS levels observed in saline conditions can be reduced by plants by inducing various antioxidative enzymes, such as catalase (CAT), ascorbate peroxidase (APX), superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione reductase (GR), peroxidase (POD) and non enzymatic antioxidants like secondary metabolites (flavonoids, carotenoids, proline, other phenolics), ascorbate (ASC), reduced glutathione (GSH), etc. [Ertani et al., 2013], [Gill and Tuteja, 2010].

Another adaptation mechanism of plants under stress conditions is the stimulation of phytohormone including auxins, SA, CK, jasmonic acid (JA), ABA and gibberellins (GA) synthesis. These plant hormones are produced by various biochemical pathways and play a critical role in enhancing tolerance to salt stress conditions [Waśkiewicz et al., 2016], [Fahad et al., 2015].

1.3. Maize (Zea mays L.)

Cereals, which are the major part of the basic diet of people in most countries, compose a huge portion of agricultural production [Dudziak et al., 2019]. Among other cereals, maize is one of the fundamental food and feed crops [Campos et al., 2004]. Although area designated for maize production is lower when compared to wheat and rice, the yield obtained from the unit hectares is higher among all cereals [Ozcan, 2009]. It is estimated that maize production, which is approximately 800 million tons, will increase further in the future to feed the growing global human population [Alexandratos and Bruinsma, 2012], [Chulze, 2010].

The origin of the maize plant is Central America, especially Mexico. After the discovery of the American continent, maize seeds first spread to Spain and then to Africa and Asia [Ramirez-Cabral et al., 2017], [Matsuoka et al., 2002]. Introduction of maize to Turkey is thought to be through Egypt and Syria in 16th century. The Turkish name "misir" is also related to its import from "Egypt" [Ozcan, 2009], [Comertpay, 2008]. Maize can be grown almost everywhere in the world especially in tropical, subtropical and temperate zones due to its wide adaptability [Gecit, 2009], [Kogbe and Adediran, 2003].

All over the world, the three leading countries in maize production are United States, China and Brazil [Ranum et al., 2014]. The United States, which accounts for about onethird of world maize production, is also the largest maize vendor and about one-fifth of the maize produced in US is exported [Kusvuran and Nazlı, 2014]. In Turkey, maize has the third highest cultivation area after wheat and barley and it is grown almost everywhere, especially in Çukurova region [Karlı et al., 2018].

Maize is a monocotyledonous plant and belongs to the Poaceae family [Schnable et al., 2009], [Zhang et al., 2009]. The consumable part of maize contains a high level of carbohydrates, water, protein, lipid and fiber as well as important minerals, vitamins and carotenes [White and Johnsan, 2003]. Besides its critical place in nutrition, maize, which is a product with high economic value, also has a wide usage area in other sectors including food, energy, textile, biofuel and cosmetic [Ozcan, 2009], [Yavuz et al., 2016], [Vaughan et al., 2018].

Maize is classified as a moderately sensitive plant to salinity stress [Goldsworthy, 1994]. Under saline conditions particularly early growth stages of maize like germination and seedling establishment are affected. Germination is delayed and due to osmotic stress related problems non-uniform germination can be observed [Farsiani and Ghobadi, 2009]. Salt stress may cause reduction in almost all growth parameters of maize such as shoot and root length, dry weight and leaf growth [Goldsworthy, 1994], [Devi et al., 2019]. Accumulation of the high concentrations of Cl⁻ and Na⁺ ions as a result of salinity in roots and leaves of maize can cause nutrient imbalance by inhibiting uptake and transport of essential elements (K⁺, Ca⁺², N, Mg⁺², Cu, Mo, Zn) [Hasegawa et al., 2000], [Turan et al., 2010], [Karimi et al., 2005]. The accumulation of these ions in maize leaves, may cause
dwarfing, inhibition of leaf expansion and eventually leaf abscission [(Qu et al., 2012], [Fortmeier and Schubert, 1995].

Another component of salt stress that negatively effects maize plant is oxidative stress and it results in increased production of ROS such as O_2^{-} and H_2O_2 [de Azevedo et al., 2006], [Hichem et al., 2009].

Under salt stress conditions, many changes can be observed in the metabolism of the maize plant such as osmotic adjustment, maintaining of homeostatic balance, stimulation antioxidant, and hormonal system to tolerate the stress situation [Gong et al., 2014], [Farooq et al., 2015]. The high concentration of Na⁺ ions is excluded or transported into vacuoles by antiporters. This strategy is not only critical to protect maize from of Na⁺ ion accumulation but also important for osmotic adjustment to balance the water potential. In addition, salt tolerant maize crops can possess higher K⁺/Na⁺ ratio as a result of enhancing K⁺ uptake while inhibiting Na⁺ uptake [Neubert et al., 2005], [Wakeel et al., 2011a], [Akram et al., 2007].

Antioxidant defense system are activated as a response to salinity stress in maize plants [de Azevedo et al., 2006]. Production of polyphenols, upregulated stress-related genes and expressed proteins and also enzymatic antioxidants such as SOD, CAT, APX, GR, guaiacol peroxidase (GPX) are some examples. These enzymatic or non-enzymatic antioxidant molecules can scavenge highly toxic ROS and protect maize against oxidative stress [Rios-Gonzalez et al., 2002], [de Azevedo et al., 2006], [Hichem et al., 2009].

Improvement of maize species, which can adapt to undesirable environmental conditions such as salinity stress, is becoming more and more important. Breeding of crops with genetic engineering by means of screening of genotypes, utilization of specific markers, desirable genes selection may be developed salt tolerance maize crops [Giaveno et al., 2007], [Gosal et al., 2009], [Li et al., 2010], [de Azevedo et al., 2004]. On the other hand, treatment of various microorganism such as beneficial soil bacteria and fungi, seed treatment or foliar application with various priming agents, which can also be classified as biostimulant, can be used as easily applicable, cheap and effective management strategies for production of salinity-tolerant maize plants [Yang and Lu, 2005], [Janmohammadi et al., 2008], [Feng et al., 2002], [Nadeem et al., 2009].

1.4. Seed Treatment

In the very early stages of their life cycle plants are often subject to abiotic stresses during their seed germination and seedling establishments. These stages are vital stages for the development of plants, healthy growth as well as high yielding capacity. Unfortunately, at these early stages, plants are very susceptible to different stresses including salinity [Hubbard et al., 2012], [Patade et al., 2011]. Low cost, efficient and eco-friendly seed treatment strategies can improve seed performance, enhance germination capacity and seedling vigor which are crucial for healthy growth and development of plants under both control and stress conditions [Afzal et al., 2016].

Seed soaking, seed priming and seed coating are different seed treatments techniques [Halmer, 2004], [Jisha et al., 2013]. In the seed soaking method, which is a simple and commonly used method in crop production, seeds are hydrated for a certain period of time before being sowing [Pan et al., 2017]. A positive influence of seed soaking with several agents are documented in many studies. In these studies, pre-treated seeds demonstrate higher germination potential, biomass, yield, quality and stress tolerance [Roychoudhury et al., 2016], [Tian et al., 2014], [Nathawat et al., 2007]. However in seed priming, the seeds which are soaked in the specific solution for given period are dried before usage [Rajjou et al., 2012]. Primed seeds have a developed physiologic status than the other ones. When compared to non-primed seeds, primed seeds have rapid radical emergence, higher germination rate and yield, greater seed vigor and seedling establishment, and homogeneity of seedlings [Bewley et al., 2013], [Basra et al., 2005]. In seed coating, specific machinery is required to coat the outer layer of seeds with the desired materials and the seeds can be stored like this for a long time. This seed treatment can increase growth and development by providing growth regulators and nutrients [Farooq et al., 2012], [Halmer, 2004]. In addition, seed coating using plant-based protein hydrolyzate has been reported to increase biomass, root, shoot and chlorophyll content, but cause a decrease in germination rate [Amirkhani et al., 2016].

Pre-sowing application of different compounds by using these methods are possess a considerable high economic value for the agrochemical sector [Sharma et al., 2015]. With seed treatments sowing process becomes easier, seeds can be protected for a longer time during storage and by enhancing pre-germination metabolism, post-germination performances can be higher [Sharma et al., 2015], [Paparella et al., 2015], [Halmer, 2004]. Plus, by using these treatments plants can be protected against biotic (pathogen, pests, weed, etc.) and abiotic stress (salinity, drought, low temperature, etc.) factors [Amirkhani et al., 2016].

In literature, many studies have shown different seed treatment agents including water, micronutrients like Zn, B, Mo, Mn, Cu and Co [Farooq et al., 2012], osmopriming agents such as KNO₃ [Yan, 2015] and PEG [Amini, 2013], compatible solute like glycine betaine [Cheng et al., 2018] and proline [Hua-long et al., 2014]. Moreover, different phytohormones such as JA [Sharma et al., 2018], SA [Tahjib-Ul-Arif et al., 2018], [Yang et al., 2016], IAA [Iqbal and Ashraf, 2007], GA [Siadat et al., 2011], CK [Iqbal et al., 2006] are also used as seed treatments agents for different purposes in agriculture practices. Various chemical compounds such as hydrochloric acid (HCl), sodium hypochlorite (NaOCl) are also used as seed treatment agents particularly for pest and diseases management, but while providing some tolerance to stress conditions, these chemicals can negatively affect germination and seedling establishment [Taylor and Salanenka, 2012], [Khah, 1992].

Under saline conditions, seed priming is reported to decrease the negative effects of stress on germination and seedling establishment by increasing uptake of K+ and Ca⁺² and decreasing Na⁺ and Cl⁻ accumulation and thus contributed to osmotic adjustment and water uptake [Bakht et al., 2011], [Ashraf, 2004]. In another study where seeds are soaked with SA improved germination, growth, proline metabolism, antioxidant activity and better water uptake, higher photosynthetic activity and less accumulation of toxic ions such as Na⁺ and Cl⁻ ions are observed [Misra and Saxena, 2009], [Kaydan et al., 2007], [Gunes et al., 2005].

Usage of biostimulants as seed treatments agents are another emerging application strategy for food safety and sustainable agriculture due to usage of safe and renewable resources [Sharma et al., 2015]. A wide variety of biostimulants can be used as seed treatment agents, for example, inorganic compounds [Abdel et al., 2016], [Jerše et al., 2017], humic acid [Mereddy, 2015] seaweed extracts [Rady et al., 2018]; [Kasim et al., 2016], animal-based protein hydrolysate [Wilson et al., 2018], plant-derived protein hydrolysates [Amirkhani et al., 2016], beneficial microorganism including fungi [Gómez-Muñoz et al., 2018] and bacteria [Disi et al., 2018], chitosan [Orzali et al., 2014] and botanicals [Ahmad et al., 2016], [Panuccio et al., 2018], [Ashraf et al., 2018].

Seed treatments with botanical extract, which is a sustainable, green, promising approach in agriculture, are becoming increasingly important. [Kumar et al., 2017], [Panuccio et al., 2018]. Botanical-priming using various plant extracts such as the mulberry, eucalyptus, curry, brassica, aloe vera and sorghum leaf are reported to increase seed performance, quality and vigor, enhance growth parameters like root and shoot lengths, fresh and dry weights and provide rapid and higher germination and optimize nutrient-use-efficiency under both control and stress conditions [Mehta et al., 2010], [Masuthi et al., 2015], [Rafi et al., 2015].

One of the most commonly seed treatment agent among other botanical biostimulants is the extracts of the moringa plant which is rich in natural bioactive compounds. In many studies, it has been documented that when applied to the maize seeds moringa extracts affects the plant metabolism, enhance yield, biomass, seedling vigor and germination performance and also improve growth and development by increasing enzyme activity involved in carbohydrate metabolism and photosynthetic pigment [Basra et al., 2011], [Afzal et al., 2012], [Bakhtavar et al., 2015], [Bibi et al., 2016]. Moreover, seed treatment with this extract can alleviate negative effects of abiotic stress on maize crops by improving antioxidant systems [Foidl et al., 2001], [Basra et al., 2011].

1.5. Salicylic Acid (SA)

SA, which is considered a phytohormone, acts both as a natural phenolic and as an important signaling molecule in plants [Gunes et al., 2007], [Jini and Joseph, 2017]. The first commercial production of synthetic salicylic acid was made in Germany in 1874 by Hermann Kolbe, however, after 20 years Felix Hoffman converted salicylic acid into acetylsalicylic acid due to the side-effects (ASA) [Mahdi, 2010]. In 1899, the German company Bayer produced the commercially ASA the close analog of SA and in a short time it has become the best selling and quite successful plant-derived drug in the world which is named as "ASPIRIN" [Drew et al., 2016].

In plants, SA is synthesized in two different ways: 90% or more of it are synthesized by isochorismate (IC) pathway in stressed plants, and the rest is synthesized by PAL pathway under control conditions [Kumar, 2014]. After synthesis, SA is transported in plants via the phloem channel and its levels can change substantially according to tissues and species. Moreover, this phytohormone is intensely present in the infected or/and necrosis areas and active in the event of possible stress conditions [Hayat et al., 2010], [Chen et al., 2001]. Under control conditions, SA is usually found in low amounts (more or less one μ g/g fresh weight) in different plant species such as soybean, tomato, rice, tobacco and barley [Raskin et al., 1990], [Yang et al., 2004], [Methenni et al., 2018].

Salicylic acid plays a critical role in various physiological and biochemical processes in plants [Nazar et al., 2011]. The application of SA may increase growth and development [Eraslan et al., 2008], synthesis of compatible solutes including proline and glycine betaine [Loutfy et al., 2012], chlorophyll content [Singh and Usha, 2003], flowering [Kim et al., 2018], photosynthesis [Khan et al., 2014], seed germination [Rajou et al., 2006] and also ion uptake and transportation [Belkhadi et al., 2010]. Moreover, depending on the concentration, method of application and developmental stage of different plant species, SA can act differently in plants [Horváth et al., 2007]. Low SA levels may have a beneficial impact on stress tolerance; however, as the level of SA increases, oxidative stress is induced and thus can result in cell damage [Miura and Tada, 2014], [Hara et al., 2012].

Salicylic acid may act as a non-enzymatic antioxidant and enhance resistance to abiotic stress [Miura and Tada, 2014], therefore the protective impacts of SA against various abiotic stresses have extensively been investigated [Fardus et al., 2018]. It was observed that application of SA can help plants withstand various abiotic stress conditions such as salinity [Khan et al., 2014], [Gunes et al., 2007], [Palma et al., 2013], [Idrees et al., 2011], heavy metals [Moussa and El-Gamel, 2010], [Belkhandi et al., 2010], [Zhang et al., 2015], drought [Azooz and Youssef, 2010], [Yazdanpanah et al., 2011], [Fayez and Bazaid, 2014], heat [Khan et al., 2013], boron toxicity [Eraslan et al., 2008] and osmotic stress [Singh and Usha, 2003], [Al-Hakimi, 2006], [Alavi et al., 2014]. In these studies, the exogenous application of SA has also been exhibited to regulate accumulation of osmolytes [Liu et al., 2016], antioxidants and pigments [Fardus et al., 2018] and stimulate defense-related genes [Dixon et al., 1995], enzyme activities involved in nitrogen metabolism [Hayat et al., 2010], secondary metabolite synthesis [Zhao et al., 2005] and antioxidative metabolism [Noreen et al., 2009].

Under the salt stress, SA applications was shown to mitigate the harmful effects of salinity by enhancing osmotic adjustment, photosynthesis, plant growth and development, acitivating defense systems and reducing uptake of Na and Cl ions whereas improving

uptake of Mg and N ions [Pirasteh-Anosheh et al., 2017], [Yan et al., 2018], [Horváth et al., 2007], [Grzeszczuk et al., 2018].

1.6. Willows (Salix spp.)

Willows (*Salix* spp.) which are a member of the Salicaceae family, are deciduous trees or shrubs as well as are dioecious species. They may reaches 30 meters in height and their life span is approximately 100 years. With their elongated leaves and high evapotranspiration rates, willows can easily adapt to their region and grow very quickly and provide a huge biomass [Guo et al., 2015], [Wiesneth et al., 2018], [Popova and Kaleva, 2015]. Willows are naturally observed in moist soils like river banks because they need high moisture as well as high water tolerance but can also grow almost everywhere and are widely used in parks and gardens for ornamental purposes [Kenstavičienė et al., 2009].

Although it is difficult to determine the number of willow species correctly due to the complexity of the genus, there are approximately 450 species worldwide [Mabberley, 2008], [Shah et al., 2016]. Turkey has a rich diversity in terms of natural willow species. There are 28 willow species grow in Turkey 4 of which are peculiar to our country. They are S. anatolica (anatolian willow), S. purpurea (purple willow or Denizli willow), S. rizeensis (Rize willow), S. trabzonica (Trabzon willow) [Arihan and Güvenc, 2011].

The utilization of this tree dates back to about 6000 years ago and it is well-known as an important medicinal plant. For many years, the bark and leaves of the willow tree were used by the ancient civilizations for the treatment of various diseases without knowing the active ingredients. Many ancient civilizations, such as Assyrians, Sumerian, Egyptians used the extracts of willow bark and leaves due to their analgesic, antipyretic, and anti-inflammatory properties [Noleto-Dias et al., 2018], [Mahdi, 2010]. Before the 19th century, the ingredients of willow extracts were unknown but later studies documented the presence of many bioactive secondary compounds such as polyphenols (proanthocyanidins (PAs), phenolic acids, flavonoids, tannins, lignans), terpenoid and many salicylate compounds (salicin, saligenin, and salicylic acid) [Khan et al., 2015], [El-Shazly et al., 2012]. In willow, these substances play a critical role not only as a part of defense mechanism and signaling molecule but also as therapeutic properties especially due to salicin content.

Salicin, which is the main ingredient in willow bark and leaves, is a prodrug and at the same time it is the precursor of aspirin [Alamgir, 2017], [Wiesneth et al., 2018]. Salicin was first isolated in 1828 by Johann Buchner in low amounts from the willow tree bark. About 10 years later in 1838, salicylic acid was first isolated by Raffaele Piria and its name was derived from willow (*Salix alba* L.) [Popova et al. 1997], [Arteca 1996].

When salicin is absorbed, it turns into glucose and saligenin (salicylic alcohol). Afterward, saligenin is easily oxidized to SA in the blood, tissue and in the liver and thus, it can ensure its therapeutic effects [Rappoport, 2004], [Schrör, 2016]. When the hydroxyl group of salicylic acid is acetylated and thus aspirin is obtained [Roberts and Marrow, 2001]. On the other hand, when aspirin contacts with water it is rapidly hydrolyzed and converted into SA. According to the literature, 0.5 gram aspirin is equivalent to approximately 800 mg of salicin which be obtained from about 90 grams of dry willow bark [Schulz et al., 2001].

Besides the medicinal properties of the willows, they are extensively used for phytoremediation, soil erosion and flood control, basketry and fence, biodiesel fuel, wood supply, cellulose and paper production. In addition, willow trees have a rich habitat and food source for various living organisms [Kuzovkina and Quigley, 2005].

The chemical composition and amount of Salicylates compounds may change with age, seasonal, tissue, genotype, species and various environmental factors. For example, salicylates amount in bark and leaves is higher in spring when compared to autumn [Arimura and Maffei, 2016].

1.6.1. Salix Babylonica (Weeping Willow)

Due to the very this structure of shoots and branches, Salix babylonica, which is also known as a weeping willow, leaves look as if they are hanging down. Weeping willow trees can grow up to 15 m with leaves of about 8 to 15 cm. Yellowish white flowers bloom between March and April. [Eminagaoglu et al., 2014]. Weeping willow is commonly used as an ornamental tree and distributed all over the world. It is generally found in moist places and grown virtually anywhere in Turkey [Elghandour et al., 2015].

Like other Salix species, weeping willow has a rich content of bioactive compounds such as flavonoid (catechins, kaempferol-7- O-glucoside, luteolin, luteolin-7-O-β-D-

glucopyranoside, luteolin-4'-O glucoside, apigenin-7-O-galactoside, chrysoeriol), phenolic compounds (lignan), alkaloids, terpenoid, saponins and salicin [Ruuhola and Julkunen-Tiitto, 2000], [Jiménez-Peralta et al., 2011], [Khatoon et al., 1988].

1.7. What was this MSc Thesis Project about?

In this thesis, it is aimed to test the potential of willow bark and leaf extracts as new plant-based biostimulant to improve the growth of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) in the absence and in the presence of salinity stress. Maize is selected as a model plant for this project as it is one of the most important cereal sources for human diet due to its rich nutrients and at the same time it is moderately sensitive to salt stress. Salinity is one of the most commonly observed abiotic stresses threatening crop production all over the world including Turkey. For maize plants, even minor increases in salinity stress tolerance could have a substantial effect on crop production, food safety and sustainable agriculture all around the world.

For this study experiments were conducted on three different growth media (perlite, soil and solution culture) under growth chamber conditions.

In perlite experiments, the impacts of willow bark and leaf extracts were investigated as a seed treatment agent in the very early growth stages of maize under both control and salt stress conditions. As the first step, the effect of salt stress on germination and seedling establishment which are considered to be the most sensitive stages to salinity stress were investigated and clear effects of these extracts on the seed performance were documented.

In soil experiments again the performance of maize seeds which were treated with willow bark and leaf extracts as well as SA were tested under both control and salt stress condition. In this growth media, plants had a longer time to grow when compared to perlite experiments. Various parameters related to germination, growth, stress tolerance and mineral homeostasis were measured to explain the physiological basis of the observed effects.

In hydroponic experiments, beneficial effects of willow tree extracts and SA on the vegetative growth and development were investigated in maize seedlings which were

treated with these compounds via nutrient solution. Again, various parameters related to germination, growth as well as stress tolerance were measured.

Plant-based biostimulants, also called botanicals, are attractive options to address current challenges to sustainable agriculture due to their safety, renewability and low cost however, the mechanisms of their action are not fully explored. When the literature analysis is performed, the thesis study is unique in many respects. To our knowledge, this will be the first study to investigate the biostimulant potential of willow tree extracts and also the effects of the willow extracts, a natural source of salicylic acid will be compared with the chemical compound SA for the first time.



2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Materials and General Information

2.1.1. Plant Material

The maize seeds (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo F1) which were used in all experiments of this study were obtained from May Seed, Bursa, Turkey. Caramelo species are an early, dwarf, hybrid sweet maize and their germination percentage is about 90%. Caramelo is suitable for both fresh consumption and industrial usage.

2.1.2. Sodium Chloride (NaCl)

In all experiments salt stress conditions were created by using sodium chloride (NaCl) with a molecular weight of 58,44 g/mol and obtained from Merck.

2.1.3. Salicylic Acid

Salicylic acid($C_7H_6O_3$) with a molecular weight of 138.12 g /mol was used as the chemical compound of Sigma Aldrich (France).

2.1.4. Preparation of Willow Tree Extracts

For preparation of plant extracts, fresh willow leaves and barks were randomly collected from a mature willow tree (*Salix babylonica*) from Tuzla region of Istanbul. For obtaining 2% and 4% willow extracts 15 and 30 g of willow leaves (or barks) were chopped and the total volume was adjusted to 750 ml by using dH₂O. This mixture is kept at 90°C for 30 minute and by using a stirrer, stirred at 400 rpm during this process. Using a cheese cloth, the solution is filtered and stored at -20°C until applications. For seed treatment experiments which were conducted in perlite or soil media, 2 or 4% solutions were directly used. For solution culture experiment, the solution was diluted and 0.1% or 0.2% willow extracts were applied to hydroponic pots as described below (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1: Schematic representation of willow tree extracts preparation and application

2.1.5. Nutrient Solution

Nutrient solution was used for all perlite and hydroponic experiments. The full strength nutrient solution contained 0.6 mM K₂SO₄, 2 mM Ca(NO₃)₂.4H₂O, 0.2 mM KH₂PO₄, 0.75 mM MgSO₄.7H₂O, 0.1 mM KCl, 75 μ M Fe (in the form of FeEDTA), 2 μ M H₃BO₃, 2 μ M MnSO₄.H₂O, 3 μ M ZnSO₄.7H₂O, 0.6 μ M CuSO₄.5H₂O, 0.50 μ M (NH₄)₆Mo₇O₂₄.4H₂O. All the chemicals used for his purpose was analytical grade.

2.1.6. Growth Chamber Conditions

All the experiments were conducted in a growth chamber under controlled climatic conditions with the properties of light / dark periods: 16 / 8 h; temperature (light / dark): 25 / 20°C; relative humidity (light / dark): 60 / 70.

2.2. Plant Growth Methods and Media

2.2.1. Perlite Experiments

Perlite has a porous structure and it provides effective ventilation, water and supporting media for germinating seeds. Since perlite has a strong capillary attraction, water and nutrients can easily be taken by plant roots. Perlite can successfully be used as a soil regulator in gardens and greenhouses, a growing medium in soilless agriculture and seed germination media.

2.2.1.1. First Perlite Experiment Methods

2.2.1.1.1. Preparation of Salt Solution

Four different salt doses were tested as a preliminary test to determine the optimal salt dose. 0, 50, 100, 150 mM NaCl solutions were prepared separately in half-strength nutrient solution (as described at 2.1.5). Before sowing the seeds, perlite was washed in these solutions.

2.2.1.1.2. Experimental Design

In this experimental design 48 (4 replication \times 4 salt doses \times 3 harvest time) small plastic boxes were used with dimensions 110 x 120 x 55 mm (WxLxH). For the determination of salinity effect, 4 different salt solutions (0, 50, 100, 150 mM NaCl) were used.

Maize seeds were germinated in moistened perlite for 3, 5 or 7 days in growth chamber conditions. At different harvest times (3 days after sowing (DAS), 5 (DAS), and 7 (DAS)) germination rate, shoot and root fresh weight, shoot length and and total fresh weight of maize seeds were measured for all the plants grown in a single germination box.

2.2.1.2. Second Perlite Experiment Methods

2.2.1.2.1. Preparation of Salicylic Acid Solution

To obtain 1mM of SA solution, 0.138 g of SA was mixed with 100 ml water and stirred at 40°C for 1 hour. The final volume was completed to 1 liter with pure water. This heating step was critical to solubilize SA. From this stock solution various dilutions were prepared and applied as seed soaking agent. This stock solution was stored in the refrigerator at +4 °C until usage.

2.2.1.2.2. Seed Soaking with Salicylic Acid and Sowing

In this experiment, three different doses of salicylic acid were used to determine the optimum salicylic acid dose as seed treatment agents. The maize seeds were selected and soaked with 0.25, 0.5 or 1 mM SA for 16 h. During seed soaking, seeds were placed between filter papers which were wet with 4 different (0, 0.25, 0.5, and 1 mM) SA solutions.

Soaked seeds were sowed in small plastic boxes which include perlite that is treated with a half-strength nutrient solution (described at 2.1.5). For this experiment 96 boxes (2 salt treatment (0 and 100 mM NaCl) x 4 replicates x 3 harvest times (3, 5 and 7 DAS) x 4 salicylic acid treatments) were used. The selected salinity level (100 mM NaCl) used in the 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} experiments was determined according to the results of the first experiment. The experiment was conducted under growth chamber conditions.

2.2.1.3. Third Perlite Experiment Methods

2.2.1.3.1. Seed Soaking with Willow Bark and Leaf Extracts and Sowing

The willow leaf and willow bark extracts which prepared as described 2.1.4 were tested as seed treatment agents to determine their effects on seed performance under control and saline conditions.

One group of maize seeds were left untreated as control whereas the rest of the seeds were soaked between filter papers in big plastic boxes for 16 hours at room temperature. For seed treatment agents:

- Water,
- Salicylic acid (0.5 mM),
- Willow bark Extract (2%) and
- Willow leaf Extract (2%) was used

In the experiment design maize seeds were subjected to germination test in perlite by using 80 pots (4 replicates x 5 treatment agents including non-soaked control plants x 2 salt doses (0 and 100 mM NaCl) x 2 different harvest time (3 and 6 DAS). As described in the previous experiment, the perlite was washed with half-strength nutrient solution in the presence or absence of selected salt applications. The experiment was conducted under growth chamber conditions.

In order to determine the effects of seed treatment agents, in addition to the parameters measured for the first and second perlite experiment, the total root area of the germinated seeds was calculated by using a computer program as described below.

2.2.1.3.2. Total Root Area Determination

For calculating the root area of maize seedlings, a program called image J was used. After opening the image file for the root area analysis, first the desired area to be measured was selected and cropped. A line of a certain length was drawn between the two points to adjust the measurement scale (Figure 2.1A). The scale was then cropped (Figure 2.1B). Analysis \rightarrow Set Scale were clicked and known distance and unit of length were filled. → Split Channels were clicked respectively and red pop-up Image Color Then, window was selected. After that, Analyze Analyze Particles obtained. were selected and total root area were calculated by the program.



Figure 2.2: Representation of analysis of total root area, (A) determination of scale, (B) removing of scale, (C) adjustment of colour, (D) convert a picture to black and white.

2.2.2. Soil Experiment

The primed or soaked seeds were sown in plastic pots (no:4) containing 1.25 kg soil. Pots of all treatments were fertilized with 100 ppm P (in the form of KH₂PO₄) and 250 ppm N (in the form of Ca(NO₃)₂) before sowing. The soil characteristics were clay-loam texture where EC_e was measured as 3.3 ds.m^{-1} . After fertilization, the pots were irrigated with 50 ml distilled water regularly until the experiment finished. The experimental design was a randomized complete block with four (first experiment) and five (second experiment) replicates. 15 maize seeds were sowed in each pot for the two soil experiments. Both experiments were conducted in a growth chamber under controlled climatic conditions as described above.

2.2.2.1. First Soil Experiment Method

To determine the optimal priming time, hydropriming was performed for 0, 4, 8, 12 and 16 h. Seeds for sowing were kept between filter papers which were moistened with water in plastic boxes. When the priming times were completed, the seeds were dried at room temperature for 2 days and used for sowing.

Before sowing the seeds, salt and fertilizers were mixed with the soil. It was calculated that 0.375 g of salt was required to increase the EC_e of 1 kilogram of soil by 1 ds/m. The amount of salt required to increase 1.5 ds/m for 1.25 kilograms of soil was determined. For this experiment soil EC values were adjusted to 3.3 (Control), 4.8, 6.3, 7.8 and 9.3 ds/m.

Per each pot 15 seeds were sown in soil and the pots were irrigated with 50 ml dH₂O daily for 14 days. The germination rate of seeds was determined for days 5, 7 and 10. Plant heights was measured at day 7, 10 and 14 (before harvest). At the end of 14 days, the plants were harvested and their fresh weights were measured. The harvested plant shoots were dried at 60° C for 3 days and afterwards their dry weights were determined.

2.2.2.2. Second Soil Experiment Method

In this experiment, the selected concentrations of SA (0.5 mM) willow bark (2%) and willow leaf (2%) which were used for perlite experiment were again used. In addition to these selected rates, concentrated willow extracts (4% both for bark and leaf) was tested

as seed treatment agents. For control purposes, a group of seeds were left untreated and for another group water was used as seed treatment agent. The selected EC_e (7.8) and soaking times (16 h) levels were used in this second experiment. Instead of priming, soaking was preferred as the seed treatment method due to some unexpected damages observed as the first soil experiment as a result of seed priming.

Selected seeds for soaking application were exposed to 7 different seed treatment agents (no treatment, water, SA, willow bark (2 or 4%) and willow leaf (2 or 4%)) in big plastic boxes between impregnated filter paper with agents solutions for 16 hours at the room temperature. Soaked seeds were sown into pre-prepared pots. In total 70 pots were used (7 seed treatment x 5 replicates x 2 salinity levels).

In addition to the measurements made for the first soil experiment, antioxidative enzyme activities, tissue mineral and protein concentrations were analyzed. For enzyme and protein determination fresh samples were used. From each pot replicate, 0.5 grams of fresh samples were taken and after shocking by using liquid nitrogen the samples were stored at -80°C until they were used for extraction. The remaining plant samples were placed in the drying oven for determination of dry weight and mineral concentration and were dried at 60° C for 2 days.

2.2.2.1. Element Analysis

Dried shoot samples were finely ground with coffee milling machine. Approximately 0.2 g of the dried and ground plant samples were weighed and placed in digestion tubes. The samples which were treated with 2.0 ml of 30% hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) and 5.0 ml of nitric acid (HNO₃) were digested in a closed vessel microwave system (MarsExpress; CEM Corp., Matthews, NC, USA). After cooling down sufficiently, total sample volume was finalized to 20 ml by adding double-deionized water and filtered through filter papers (Macherey-Nagel, Ø125 mm, blue band). Inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES) (Vista-Pro Axial, Varian, Australia) was used to determine the concentrations of macro and micronutrient in digested plant samples. The accuracy of element analyses was checked by using certified standard reference materials obtained from the National Institute of Standards and Technology (Gaithersburg, MD, USA).

2.2.2.2. Preparation of Crude Plant Extracts for Enzyme and Protein Analyses

By mixing 50 mM KH₂PO₄ and 50 mM K₂HPO₄ in a 2:1 volume ratio, a potassium phosphate (K-P) buffer with a pH of 7.6 was prepared. The extraction buffer was prepared daily by adding 0.1 mM Titriplex III to this K-P buffer and kept on ice. 0.5 grams of frozen fresh leaf samples were homogenized with the help of a mortar and pestle by using liquid nitrogen and 5 ml of K-P buffer. The homogenates were centrifuged at 4600 min⁻¹ for 15 min at 4°C, and the supernatants were transferred to Eppendorf tubes, which were centrifuged again at 15.000 min⁻¹ for 15 min at 4°C. These supernatants were used for determination of antioxidants enzymes (SOD, GR, AP, CAT) and proteins concentrations.

2.2.2.3. Antioxidant Enzyme Analysis

2.2.2.3.1. Superoxide Dismutase (SOD) Assay

For the SOD assay, 2.95 ml of K-P buffer was mixed with 0.5 ml of Na₂CO₃, Lmethionine, NBT, 0.05 ml of crude sample extract (1:10 diluted) and 0.5 ml riboflavin, respectively in glass tubes. Since the chemicals used are light sensitive, they were kept under dark during preparation. After riboflavin addition, glass tubes were placed in the growth chambers and kept under light for 8 min. The measurements were performed by using a spectrophotometer (Cary 300 Bio, Varian, Australia) at 560 nm wavelength by using a sipper.

2.2.2.3.2. Glutathion Reductase (GR) Assay

To determine the activity of the GR enzyme, 0.7 ml of K-P buffer, 0.1 ml of Oxidized Glutathion (GSSG), 0.1 ml of 0.45 mM H₂O₂ and 0.1 ml of crude sample extract (1:40 diluted) were mixed and finally 0.1 ml of NaDPH-Na₄ was added to this mixture. The activity was determined spectrophotometrically by using 340 nm wavelength and absorbance values were monitored for 2 min to find the average depletion rate of NADPH-Na₄.

2.2.2.3.3. Ascorbate Peroxidase (AP) Assay

To measure AP activity, 0.7 ml of K-P buffer was mixed with 0.1 ml of 12 mM H_2O_2 and 0.1 ml of crude sample extract (1:40 diluted), and then 0.1 ml of ascorbic acid ($C_6H_8O_6$) was added. To calculate the average depletion rate of L-ascorbic acid, absorbance values at 290 nm were measured spectrophotometrically.

2.2.2.3.4. Catalase (CAT) Assay

The catalase activity was also determined spectrophotometrically. 0.8 ml of K-P buffer was mixed with 0.1 ml of 110 mM H_2O_2 and 0.1 ml of crude sample extract (1:40 diluted). The change in the absorbance of this mixture was followed for 2 min at 240 nm to calculate the average rate of H_2O_2 breakdown.

2.2.2.4. Total Protein Analysis

To prepare Bradford reagent, 0.1 g Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250 was dissolved in 50 ml ethanol and was mixed with 100 ml 85% ortho-phosphoric acid. This mixture was filtered and after filtration 100 ml glycerin was added to the reagent and the volume was brought to 1000 ml with deionized water. The reagent was kept at 4°C for 24 h and then used for the assay. Protein standards (0, 100, 200, 400 and 800 ppm) were prepared by dissolving bovine serum albumin in K-P buffer. 5 ml of reagent was added to 0.1 ml sample (1:10 diluted) or standard and vortexed. After 10 minutes, the reading of the protein concentration was performed at 595 nm by sipper for standards and samples.

2.2.3. Solution Culture Experiments

Maize seeds were germinated in moistened perlite containing 1 mM $Ca(NO_3)_2$ for 7 d in growth chamber before being transferred to nutrient solution. After germination, plants were transferred to hydroponic culture pots which were filled with 4.5 L of halfstrength nutrient solution which was prepared according to the procedure described at 2.1.5. Nutrient solutions were continuously aerated. After 5 day, solution culture is refreshed with full-strength nutrient solution and it was renewed weekly. One week later, for half of the pots 60 mM NaCl was mixed with the nutrient solutions. At the same time SA (2.5 μ M), low (0.1%) and high (0.2%) levels of willow bark and leaf extracts were added to the pots which belong to that treatments group. In total, two stress and treatment application were performed. The experiment was designed as a total of 48 pots (4 replicate x 6 treatment agents x 2 salt levels). There are 5 maize plants in each pot.

Plant height measurements were performed on 19th (right before starting the stress application), 26th and 30th DAS. 30th DAS, plants were harvested and the weight of fresh samples (shoot) were determined. Roots were washed with distilled water. Both the root and shoot samples were dried in an oven for 3 days at 60°C. The dry weight of shoot and root samples were also measured.

2.2.4. Statistical Analysis

For statistical analysis The JMP software (14.0.0) was used. The significance of the effects of the treatments and their interactions on the reported traits for each experiment was evaluated by using analysis of variance (ANOVA). Where ANOVA revealed a significant effect, post-hoc tests at 5% significance were used to determine significant differences between means. In cases where there was only one source of variation, Fisher's protected least significant difference (LSD) test was preferred, however when there were more than one sources of variation, Tukey's honestly significant difference (HSD) test was used.

3. RESULTS

3.1. Perlite Experiment Results

3.1.1. First Perlite Experiment Results

The average germination percentages of maize seeds grown in perlite treated with control and 3 different NaCl solutions (50, 100 and 150 mM) was shown in Figure 3.1. The germination percentage was not affected by the NaCl treatment on 3 DAS (Figure 3.1A), 5 DAS (Figure 3.1B) and 7 DAS (Figure 3.1C). Since according to ANOVA test there was no statistically significant difference between treatments, the same letter was written on related bars (Table 3.1A).



Figure 3.1: Effect of salinity treatments on germination percentage (%) of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions (A) 3
DAS, (B) 5 DAS and (C) 7 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Bars represent standard deviations.

Table 3. 1: One-way ANOVA of the effect of salinity on seed germination percentage
(%), shoot, root and total FW and shoot length for 3 DAS, 5 DAS and 7 DAS of maize
(Zea mays cy. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite for the first perlite experiment.

		Germination Percentage		
(A)	Source of Variation	3 DAS	5 DAS	7 DAS
	Salinity	n.s.	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>
(B)	Source of Variation	Shoot FW		
		3 DAS	5 DAS	7 DAS
	Salinity	***	***	*
(C)	Source of Variation		Root FW	
		3 DAS	5 DAS	7 DAS
	Salinity	*	**	n.s.
	Source of Variation		Total FW	
(D)		3 DAS	5 DAS	7 DAS
	Salinity	n.s.	*	n.s.
			Shoot Length	
(E)	Source of Variation	3 DAS	5 DAS	7 DAS
	Salinity	***	***	**

n.s. Not significant; * $0.01 \le F Pr. < 0.05$; ** $0.001 \le F Pr. < 0.01$; *** F Pr. < 0.001

The salinity stress had a highly significant effect on shoot fresh weight (Shoot FW) of maize seedlings at 3, 5 and 7 DAS (Figure 3.2; Table 3.1B). Under all salt stress conditions, maize plants had lower shoot FW than the control plants. When compared to control treatments, the shoot FW was decreased by approximately 25, 50 and 60 % in 3-day-old seedlings, 20, 40 and 50 % in 5-day old seedlings, 10, 15 and 30 % in 7-day-old seedlings under 50, 100 and 150 mM NaCl treatment, respectively.

Salinity also significantly affected root fresh weight for 3 and 5-day-old seedlings but these significant effects were lost when the seedlings grow for 7 days (Table 3.1C). The concentration of 100 and 150 mM NaCl significantly reduced the root weights of the 3- and 5-day-old seedlings compared to the control, whereas the effect of 50 mM had a significant effect only on 5-day-old seedlings (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2: Shoot and root FW of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions and subjected to salinity stress at different levels. Values are measured for plants harvested (A) 3 DAS, (B) 5 DAS and (C) 7 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Different upper- and lower-case letters indicate significant differences between means according to Fisher's protected LSD test.

When compared to control condition, applied salt doses had no significant effect on the total weight of the maize seedlings (Figure 3.3) except for on 5-day-old-seedlings grown in perlite treated with 150 mM NaCl solutions (Figure 3.3B, Table 3.1D). As shown in Figure 3.3A and Figure 3.3B, the total fresh weight of the 3 and 5 day seedlings shows a decrease as the salt concentration increases.



Figure 3.3: Total FW of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions and subjected to salinity stress at different levels. Values are measured for plants harvested (A) 3 DAS, (B) 5 DAS and (C) 7 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent box replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Different lower-case letters indicate significant differences between means according to Fisher's protected LSD test.

Shoot length was also significantly affected by salt treatment (Table 3.1E; Figure 3.4). Plants had the highest shoot length value under the control conditions while plants grown at 150 mM had the lowest shoot length. As salt concentration increased, the shoot length of 5-day-old plants significantly decreased. The negative effect of 50 mM NaCl on shoot length of maize seedlings was observed when the plants were 5-days-old but this effect was lost when after 2 days. Although 150 mM NaCl further reduced the ,shoot length at 7DAS, effect of 100 mM and 150 mM NaCl was not significantly different.



Figure 3.4: Shoot Length of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions and subjected to salinity stress at different levels. Values are measured for plants harvested (A) 3 DAS, (B) 5 DAS and (C) 7 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Different lower-case letters

indicate significant differences between means according to Fisher's protected LSD test.

3.1.2. Second Perlite Experiment Results

In this second perlite experiment, where the aim was to determine the optimum SA dose under control and saline conditions, interaction of the variables (salinity (EC_e) x seed treatment (SA)) did not have a significant effect on germination percentage (Table 3.2A; Figure 3.5). Germination percentage was significantly affected by seed treatment with SA but not salinity except for 3 DAS. Under the control conditions, germination percentage measured was not significantly changed by SA treatment. In salinity treated case, low SA dose increased germination rate at 3 and 5 DAS but this effect was lost for 7 day-old-seedlings (Figure 3.5).



Figure 3.5: Effect of seed treatment with SA on germination percentage of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions and harvested (A) 3 DAS, (B) 5 DAS and (C) 7 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Different upper- and lower-case letters indicate significant differences between means according to Fisher's protected LSD test.

		Germination Percentage		
	Source of Variation	3 DAS	5 DAS	7 DAS
(A)	ECe	*	ermination Percenta 5 DAS n.s. * n.s. Shoot FW 5 DAS *** n.s. Root FW 5 DAS *** n.s. Root FW 5 DAS *** n.s. n.s. n.s. n.s. Notal FW 5 DAS *** n.s. n.s. Shoot Length 5 DAS *** n.s. n.s. 5 DAS *** n.s. n.s. *** n.s. *** *** *** *** *** *** ***	n.s.
	SA	Germination Percentag 3 DAS 5 DAS * n.s. * * n.s. * n.s. * n.s. n.s. n.s. n.s. n.s. n.s. Shoot FW 3 DAS 5 DAS *** * * n.s. n.s. n.s. N.S. n.s. n.s. N.S. n.s. n.s. M.S. n.s. n.s. Total FW 3 DAS 5 DAS *** * * 3 DAS 5 DAS **** * Shoot Length 3 DAS **** * **** *	*	
	ECe*SA	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>
	Source of Variation		Shoot FW	
(B)		3 DAS	5 DAS	7 DAS
	ECe	***	***	**
	SA	**	*	n.s.
	ECe*SA	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>	n.s.
			Root FW	
(C)	Source of Variation	3 DAS	5 DAS	7 DAS
	ECe	***	***	***
	SA	<i>n.s.</i>	n.s.	*
	ECe*SA	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
	Source of Variation		Total FW	
(D)		3 DAS	5 DAS	7 DAS
	ECe	***	*	*
	SA	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
	ECe*SA	*	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>
	Source of Variation		Shoot Length	
		3 DAS	5 DAS	7 DAS
E)	ECe	***	***	***
	SA	***	<i>n.s.</i>	n.s.
	ECe*SA	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>

Table 3. 2: Two-way ANOVA of the effects of salinity (EC_e) and seed treatment with Salicylic acid (SA) on (A) germination percentage, (B) shoot, (C) root and (D) total FW and (E) shoot length for maize (*Zea mays cv. Caramelo*) plants grown in perlite in the second experiment and harvested 3 DAS, 5 DAS or 7 DAS.

n.s. Not significant; * $0.01 \le F Pr. < 0.05$; ** $0.001 \le F Pr. < 0.01$; *** F Pr. < 0.001

At 3 DAS harvest time, 0.5 mM SA treatment increased the shoot fresh weights of maize seedling by approximately 25 % under control and 50% under stress conditions (Figure 3.6 A). Higher SA dose did not provide extra benefit under these conditions. These positive effects of SA treatments at higher doses was lost at 5 and 7 DAS harvest time (Figure 3.6; Table 3.2B). Salt applications dramatically reduced the shoot FW at 3 DAS however, when the seedlings got bigger, this effect was reduced or nearly lost (Figure 3.6).



Figure 3.6: Effect of seed treatment with SA on shoot FW of maize (*Zea mays* cv.
Caramelo) plants grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions and harvested (A) 3
DAS, (B) 5 DAS and (C) 7 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Uppercase letters and lower-case letters indicate significant differences according to the Fisher's protected LSD test in the absence and presence of salinity stress, respectively.

Salinity reduced root growth of maize seedlings at all harvest times (Figure 3.7; Table 3.2C). The application of SA had a significant effect on the root FW of maize seedlings only at 7-days-old plants (Table 3.2C). Seed treatment with 0.5 mM SA gave the highest root FW for 3-day-old-seedlings both under control and salinity stress conditions (Figure 3.7A). However, for the 5 and 7 day-old-maize seedlings salicylic acid applications did not provide any significant difference (Figure 3.7 B, C).



Figure 3.7: Effect of seed treatment with SA on root FW of of maize (*Zea mays* cv.
Caramelo) plants grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions and harvested (A) 3 DAS, (B) 5 DAS and (C) 7 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Uppercase letters and lower-case letters indicate significant differences according to the Fisher's protected LSD test in the absence and presence of salinity stress, respectively.

The interaction of salinity and SA application had a significant effect on the total weights of 3-day-old-maize seedlings, whereas this effect was not observed in 5 and 7-day-old maize seedlings (Table 3.2D; Figure 3.8). In general salinity applications reduced the Total FW of maize plants at early stages of their growth (Figure 3.8 A, B). The application of 0.5 mM SA caused the least reduction in total fw of 3-day-old-seedling among all other SA-treated seedlings under stress condition (Figure 3.8A).



Figure 3.8: Effect of seed treatment with SA on total FW of maize (*Zea mays* cv.
Caramelo) plants grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions and harvested (A) 3 DAS, (B) 5 DAS and (C) 7 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Uppercase letters and lower-case letters indicate significant differences according to the Fisher's protected LSD test in the absence and presence of salinity stress, respectively.

A significant effect of the SA application on the shoot length of maize seedlings was not observed for 7-day-old-seedlings under all conditions. (Table 3.2E, Figure 3.9A) On the other measurement dates, the application of 0.5 and 1 mM SA indicated a similar positive effect on shoot length of seedlings under the stress condition at both 3 and 5 DAS (Figure 3.9B). At all harvest times, shoot length was reduced by salinity treatment. Plants grown from seeds which were not treated with SA had the lowest shoot height under both control and saline conditions (Figure 3.9; Table 3.2E).



Figure 3.9: Effect of seed treatment with SA on shoot length of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown for 7 days in perlite under growth chamber conditions. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. The lower-case letters were given according to the Fisher's protected LSD test results in the control condition and salt stressed condition.

For the rest of this study 0.5 mM SA was used for seed treatment agent. Since it was observed that seed treatment of 0.5 mM SA gave some advantage to maize seedlings in respect to measured growth parameters however 1 mM SA did not provide extra benefit.

3.1.3. Third Perlite Experiment Results

In the last perlite experiment, seed treatments of SA and the willow extracts were tested under control and saline stress conditions. As shown in Figure 3.10 and Figure 3.11, salinity application adversely affected shoot and root development of maize seedlings. Seeds which germinated in the presence of 100 mM NaCl produced shorter and weaker shoot and roots.



Figure 3.10: Effect of seed treatment with various agents (WS: Water Soaking, SA: Salicylic acid (0.5 mM), WB: Willow Bark (2%), WL: Willow Leaf (2%)) on 3-day-old maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) seedlings grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions.

When compared to seedlings which did not receive any seed applications, all the seedlings which were treated with any agents (water, SA, WB or WL) showed a better seedling performance, produced longer shoots and roots both in the presence and absence of salinity stress (Figures 3.10-11). Among others, both 3- and 6-days-old maize seedlings which were willow bark and leaf extracts exhibited better growth and development under the stress conditions (Figures 3.10-11). Visually, the differences were more obvious at 6-days-old seedlings when compared to 3-days-old ones.



Figure 3.11: Effect of seed treatment with various agents (WS: Water Soaking, SA: Salicylic acid (0.5 mM), WB: Willow Bark (2%), WL: Willow Leaf (2%)) on 6-day-old maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) seedlings grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions.

Table 3.3: Two-way ANOVA of the effects of salinity (ECe) and seed treatment (ST) on(A) germination percentage, (B) shoot, (C) root and (D) total FW, (E) total root area and(F) shoot length for maize (*Zea mays cv. Caramelo*) plants grown in perlite in the third experiment and harvested 3 DAS and 6 DAS.

		Germination Percentage			
	Source of Variation	3 DAS	6 DAS		
(A)	ECe	n.s.	<i>n.s.</i>		
	ST	*	<i>n.s.</i>		
	ECe*ST	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>		
		Shoot FW			
	Source of Variation	3 DAS	6 DAS		
(B)	ECe	***	***		
	ST	***	***		
	ECe*ST	*	**		
_					
	Source of Variation	3 DAS	6 DAS		
(\mathbf{C})	FC.	***	***		
(C)	ST	***	***		
	ECe*ST	n.s.	<i>n.s.</i>		
-		Total FW			
(D)	Source of Variation	3 DAS	6 DAS		
	ECe	***	***		
2)	ST	***	**		
	EC _e *ST	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>		
		Total Root Area			
	Source of Variation	3 DAS	6 DAS		
(E)	ECe	***	***		
()	ST	***	***		
	ECe*ST	***	n.s.		
(F)		Shoot Length			
	Source of Variation	3 DAS	6 DAS		
	Salinity Treatment (0 mM)	***	***		
	Salinity Treatment (100	***	***		

n.s. Not significant; * 0.01 ≤ F Pr. < 0.05; ** 0.001 ≤ F Pr. < 0.01; *** F Pr. < 0.001

Neither salinity stress nor any of the seed treatments did not cause a significant effect on seed germination rate for 3- or 6-days-old maize seedling (Figure 3.12; Table 3.3).



Figure 3.12: Effect of seed treatment with various agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2%), WL (2%)) on germination percentage of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions and harvested (A) 3 DAS or (B) 6 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Uppercase letters and lower-case letters indicate significant differences according to the Fisher's protected LSD test in the absence and presence of salinity stress, respectively.

The interaction of salinity and seed treatment was found to be significant on the shoot fresh weight of all seedlings (Table 3.3B; Figure 3.13). Salinity treatment reduced the shoot FW at both harvest stages (Figure 3.13). The reduction which is observed due to salinity was reversed significantly with all seed treatments. At 3 DAS, maximum shoot fresh weight was measured in maize seedlings treated with willow bark or willow leaf under both control and saline conditions (Figure 3.13A). Although the difference was not that severe, at 6 DAS the highest shoot FW was observed in maize seedlings which were pre-treated with willow leaf extract (Figure 3.13B).



Figure 3.13: Effect of seed treatment with various agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2%), WL (2%)) on shoot FW of maize plants (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions and harvested (A) 3 DAS or (B) 6 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Uppercase letters were given according to Tukey's protected HSD test.

Like shoot FW, root FW was also significantly reduced by salt treatment (Table 3.3C; Figure 3.14). The average root weights of the 3-day-old plants grown under both stress and control conditions were half of the root weights of seedlings treated with willow extracts (Figure 3.14A). The application of SA and willow extracts were significantly enhanced root FW in all seedlings when compared to control treatment (Figure 3.14). The highest root fresh weights were observed in plants which were treated with willow extracts as seed applications at both harvest stages. In salt treated plants which were harvested at 6 DAS, the water application did not cause a significant increase in the roots FW of the maize plants, however, the applications of willow extracts as well as SA caused a significant increase (Figure 3.14B).



Figure 3.14: Effect of seed treatment with various agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2%), WL (2%)) on root FW of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions and harvested (A) 3 DAS or (B) 6 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Uppercase letters and lower-case letters indicate significant differences according to the Fisher's protected LSD test in the absence and presence of salinity stress, respectively.

Salinity also had a negative effect on total FW of maize plants (Table 3.3D, Figure 3.15). At both harvest stages seed treatments of willow leaf and willow bark extracts significantly increased total FW of maize plants under both control and saline conditions (Figure 3.15) The positive effect of salicylic acid and water application was similar on the and when compared to willow extracts these treatments caused a lower increase in total FW.


Figure 3.15: Effect of seed treatment with various agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2%), WL (2%)) on total FW of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions and harvested (A) 3 DAS or (B) 6 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. Uppercase letters and lower-case letters indicate significant differences according to the Fisher's protected LSD test in the absence and presence of salinity stress, respectively.



Figure 3.16: Effect of seed treatment with various agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2%), WL (2%)) on total root area (calculated by Image J) of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite under growth chamber conditions and harvested (A) 3 DAS or (B) 6 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds.

Uppercase letters and lower-case letters indicate significant differences according to the Fisher's protected LSD test in the absence and presence of salinity stress, respectively.

It was determined that salt and seed treatment had a significant effect on total root area (Table 3.3E). As expected, salinity stress reduced the total root area drastically (Figure 3.16). Seed treatment agents increased the root area at both harvest times and the best results were obtained in response to willow extracts, particularly willow leaf. Compared to the control seedlings, the total root area of the 3-day-old maize seedlings

treated with willow leaf extract increased more than 100% in the control state and almost 100% in the case of salinity stress (Figure 3.16A).

Salinity treatment reduced the shoot length of maize seedlings at both 3 and 6 DAS harvest stages (Figure 3.17). At 3 DAS and 6 DAS, shoot length was reduced by 44 % and 43%, respectively. Control seedlings had the lowest shoot length under the all conditions. Shoot length was significantly affected by different seed treatment applications (Table 3.3F). In the case of non-saline conditions, willow bark and leaf applications showed a similar significant increment on the shoot length, while the positive effect of willow leaf application was more pronounced under saline conditions (Figure 3.17). When compared with other seed treatment agents, the plants which were treated with willow leaf extracts as seed applications showed the highest shoot length at both day 3 and day 6 under saline conditions and when compared to control plants, the average shoot length of these plants were 100 % higher at 6 DAS (Figure 3.17B).



Figure 3.17: Effect of seed treatment with various agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2%), WL (2%)) on shoot length of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown in perlite

media under growth chamber conditions and harvested (A) 3 DAS or (B) 6 DAS. Values are means of 4 independent replicates, each containing 30 seeds. The lower-case letters were given according to the Fisher's protected LSD test results in the control condition and salt stressed condition.

3.2. Soil Experiment Results

3.2.1. First Soil Experiment Results

The maize plants grown from seeds subjected to different hydropriming applications and were grown under different soil ECs for 14 days are given at Figure 3.18. At all priming applications, maize plants were adversely affected by the salinity applications. Step by step as soil EC value increased, plant growth and development decreased. Seed priming with water improved the homogeneity and vigor of the maize seedlings under saline conditions.



Figure 3.18: Effect of priming times and salinity stress on maize plants (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) grown for 14 days under growth chamber conditions by using salt treated soils which had different soil EC_e values.



Figure 3.19: Effect of priming times and salt stress on germination percentage of (A) 5
DAS, (B) 7 DAS and (C) 10 DAS maize plants (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) grown under growth chamber conditions by using salt treated soils which had different soil EC_e values. Values are means of 4 independent pot replicates, each containing 15 seeds.

There was no significant effect of different priming times on seed germination of maize plants. The effect of salinity on germination percentage of 5-days-old maize seedlings was clearly observed, whereas this effect was totally lost on 10th day (Table 3.4A; Figure 3.19). Salinity treatments reduced the germination percentage of maize plants almost 60 % (Figure 3.19A) at 5 DAS. None of the hydropriming times had a consistent effect on the germination percentage.

Table 3.4: Two-way ANOVA of the effects of salinity (EC_e) and priming time (PT) on (A) germination percentage (5 DAS, 7 DAS and 10 DAS), (B) plant height (7 DAS, 10 DAS and 14 DAS), (C) shoot fresh and (D) dry weight (14 DAS) of soil grown maize under control and salt stress.

	Course of Variation	Germination Percentage				
	Source of variation	5 DAS	7 DAS	10 DAS		
(A)	ECe	***	**	n.s.		
	РТ	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>	n.s.		
	EC _e *PT	n.s.	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>		
	Course of Variation		Plant Height			
	Source of variation	7 DAS	10 DAS	14 DAS		
(B)	ECe	***	***	***		
	PT	n.s.	<i>n.s.</i>	n.s.		
	EC _e *PT	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>		
	Come of Versiation	Shoot Fresh Weight				
	Source of Variation		14 DAS			
(C)	ECe		***			
	РТ	n.s.				
	EC _e *PT	n.s.				
	Source of Variation		Shoot Dry Weigh	t		
	Source of variation		14 DAS			
(D)	ECe		***			
	PT	<i>n.s.</i>				
	EC _e *PT		n.s.			

While salinity had a significant negative effect on plant height, the priming time did not have a significant effect on this trait (Table 3.4B). Compared with control plants, salt applications (with EC values: 4,8; 6,3; 7,8; 9,3) reduced plant length of 14-day-old maize by 10, 20, 30 and 40%, respectively (Figure 3.20). As expected, maize plants grown at the highest salt dose were the shortest. Under non-saline conditions the tallest plants were obtained from seeds primed with water for 12 or 16 h, whereas at the highest salinity case 8 or 16 h treatment gave the best results.



Figure 3.20: Effect of (A) 0h, (B) 4h, (C) 8h, (D) 12h and (E) 16h priming time on plant height of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown under growth chamber conditions by using salt treated soils which had different soil EC_e values. Values are means of 4 independent pot replicates, each containing 15 seeds.

According to statistical calculations, it was observed that shoot fresh weight of maize plants was only affected by salinity treatments (Table 3.4C). In respect to increasing salt applications, shoot FW was reduced by approximately 20, 30, 40 and 50% when to the control plants (Figure 3.21). For the control EC level and EC level of 7.8 (which was selected for the following experiment), 16 h priming time gave the highest shoot FW.



Figure 3.21: Effect of priming time and salinity stress on fresh weight of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown for 14 days under growth chamber conditions by using salt treated soils which had different soil EC_e values. Values are means of 4 independent pot replicates, each containing 15 seeds. Uppercase letters were given according to the Fisher's protected LSD test results according to the priming time.



Figure 3.22: Effect of priming time on dry weight 14 DAS of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown for 14 days under growth chamber conditions by using salt treated soils which had different soil EC_e values. Values are means of 4 independent pot replicates, each containing 15 seeds. Uppercase letters were given according to the Fisher's protected LSD test results according to the priming time.

In parallel to the FW results, the DW of maize seedlings decreased significantly with increasing salinity (Table 3.4D; Figure 3.22). Seed treatment of water with different priming times could not prevent this reduction. In the case of control and highest salt treatments, the effect of seed treatments at different times with water was identical (Figure 3.22).

3.2.2. Second Soil Experiment Results

In the second soil experiment maize seeds which were soaked by using SA, WB and WL as seed treatment agents were grown in soil medium under either control or saline conditions where the selected EC dose of 7.8 ds/m was used for salinity treatment. Compared to the non-soaked control plants, all the seed applications were found to have a positive effect on the growth and development of 14 day-old maize plants under both control and stress conditions (Figure 3.23). In the case of saline conditions, the positive effects of water soaking and SA looked limited when compared to seed treatments of WB and WL.



Figure 3.23: Effects of different seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) on maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown for 14 days under growth chamber conditions under control and saline soil.

Salinity reduced germination percentage significantly only on the 5th day after sowing, while seed applications did not have a significant effect on germination percentage under these conditions (Table 3.5A, Figure 3.24A). On the 7th and 10th day germination percentage results, the highest germination was recorded for the high

concentration willow leaf application under both control and saline status. (Figure 3.24B, C).



Figure 3.24: Effects of different seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) on germination percentage of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants ((A)5 DAS, (B)7 DAS and (C)10 DAS) grown under control and saline soil conditions. Values are means of 5 independent pot replicates, each containing 15 seeds. Uppercase letters and lower-case letters indicate significant differences according to the Fisher's protected LSD test in the absence and presence of salinity stress, respectively.

Table 3.5: Two-way ANOVA of the effects of salinity (EC_e) and seed treatment (ST) on (A) germination percentage (5 DAS, 7 DAS and 10 DAS), (B) plant height (7 DAS, 10 DAS and 14 DAS), (C) shoot fresh and (D) dry weight (14 DAS) of soil grown maize under control and salt stress.

	Source of Variation	Germination Percentage				
	Source of variation	5 DAS	7 DAS	10 DAS		
(A)	ECe	***	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>		
	ST	n.s.	n.s.	<i>n.s.</i>		
	ECe*ST	n.s.	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s</i> .		
	Course of Variation		Plant Height			
	Source of variation	7 DAS	10 DAS	14 DAS		
(B)	ECe	***	***	***		
	ST	***	***	*		
	EC _e *ST	n.s.	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s</i> .		
	Source of Variation	Shoot Fresh Weight				
	Source of variation		14 DAS			
(C)	ECe		***			
	ST	***				
	EC _e *ST	<i>n.s.</i>				
			Shoot Dry Weight	;		
	Source of Variation	14 DAS				
(D)	ECe	***				
	ST	***				
	ECe*ST		<i>n.s.</i>			

When compared to control conditions, under saline conditions plant height was reduced irrespective of the seed treatment (Table 3.5B; Figure 3.25). Under both control and saline conditions, maximum length was observed in plants which were treated with willow leaf at low concentration as a seed soaking agent (Figure 3.25). All the seed treatment agents increased plant height when compared to non-soaked control plants. In saline soil, the heights of the plants treated with water, salicylic acid, willow bark extract and high dose willow leaf extract were similar (Figure 3.25B). Under saline conditions plant height was increased by 12% with watersoaking, 15% with SA, 13% with WB and 17% with WL treatments (Figure 3.25B).



Figure 3.25: Effect of seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) on plant height of soil grown maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants under control and saline conditions. Values are means of 5 independent pot replicates, each containing 15 seeds.



Figure 3.26: Effect of seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) on shoot fresh weight of soil grown maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) under control and salinity stress. Values are means of 5 independent pot replicates, each containing 15 seeds. Uppercase letters and lower-case letters indicate significant differences according to the Fisher's protected LSD test in the absence and presence of salinity stress, respectively.

Salinity application significantly reduced the shoot FW of maize plants (Table 3.5C; Figure 3.26). Seed treatments significantly increased fresh weight in the absence of salt, while the same effect was not observed in the saline state (Figure 3.26). In general, all seed treatments positively affected the shoot FW but among others, WL treatments provided the highest increase under both control and saline conditions (Figure 3.26). In the absence of salinity, the increase caused by WL applications in shoot FW was 42 %

and in the presence of salinity it was 37%. However, the increase caused by WB applications was limited to 25% under control and 26% under saline conditions.

In parallel to the shoot FW results, the dry weight of the seed treated plants was significantly higher than the dry weight of the control plant under saline conditions (Table 3.5D; Figure 3.27). In the absence of salinity, water treatment did not provide a significant increase in dry weight however all other seed treatment agents including SA, willow bark and leaf extracts caused a significant increase (Figure 3.27). Under non-saline conditions, according to shoot DW measurements the positive effect of willow leaf (54%) was greater than that of bark extract (%38) application when compared to non-treated control plants (Figure 3.27).



Figure 3.27: Effect of seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) on shoot dry weight of soil grown maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) under control and salinity stress. Values are means of 5 independent pot replicates, each containing 15 seeds. Uppercase letters and lower-case letters indicate significant differences according to the Fisher's protected LSD test in the absence and presence of salinity stress, respectively.

	Shoot K and Na Elements Concentrations								
	Source of Variation		[K]		[Na]				
(A)	ECe		***		***				
	ST		**		<i>n.s.</i>				
	EC _e *ST		<i>n.s.</i>		<i>n.s.</i>				
		Shoot Ma	croelement	s Concentra	ations				
(-)	Source of Variation	[Ca]	[Mg]	[P]	[S]				
(B)	ECe	**	n.s.	*	***				
	ST	<i>n.s.</i>	***	***	*				
	ECe*ST	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	<i>n.s.</i>				
		Shoot Mi	icroelement	s Concentra	ations				
(C)	Source of Variation	[Fe]	[Zn]	[Mn]	[Cu]	[Mo]			
	ECe	n.s.	***	***	***	***			
	ST	**	***	*	**	<i>n.s.</i>			
	EC _e *ST	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	<i>n.s.</i>			

Table 3.6: Two-way ANOVA of the effects of salinity (EC_e), seed treatment on mineral concentrations of maize grown in soil in the second experiment.

Due to salinity application shoot K concentration was significantly reduced by 10 % irrespective of the seed treatment application (Table 3.6A; Table 3.7). Salinity increased the Na concentration approximately 5-fold in the absence of seed applications (Table 3.7). Water soaking slightly reduced the increase in Na concentration, however SA and willow bark applications did not have any effect. Interestingly under saline conditions Na concentrations was further increased by willow leaf applications by approximately 15%.

Treatments	Soil EC _e	K (%)	Na(%)
	3.3	3.9 ± 0.1	0.06 ± 0.02
Control	7.8	3.5 ± 0.1	$0.38 \hspace{0.2cm} \pm \hspace{0.2cm} 0.08$
MIC	3.3	3.8 ± 0.1	0.06 ± 0.01
WS	7.8	3.6 ± 0.1	0.33 ± 0.07
	3.3	4.0 ± 0.1	0.05 ± 0.01
SA (0.5 mM)	7.8	3.6 ± 0.1	$0.39 \hspace{0.2cm} \pm \hspace{0.2cm} 0.07$
	3.3	3.8 ± 0.1	0.05 ± 0.01
WB (2%)	7.8	3.7 ± 0.2	0.39 ± 0.05
$\mathbf{WD}(\mathbf{A}0)$	3.3	3.8 ± 0.3	0.05 ± 0.01
WB (4%)	7.8	3.5 ± 0.1	$0.39 \hspace{0.2cm} \pm \hspace{0.2cm} 0.04$
\mathbf{W} (20/)	3.3	3.8 ± 0.2	0.04 ± 0.01
WL (2%)	7.8	3.5 ± 0.1	0.44 ± 0.04
$\mathbf{W}\mathbf{I}$ (404)	3.3	3.7 ± 0.1	0.06 ± 0.01
WL(4%)	7.8	3.4 ± 0.2	0.43 ± 0.02

Table 3.7: K and Na concentrations of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) leaves in response to different seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) and soil salinity.

Shoot K Conc. HSD_{0.05} (EC_e; ST; EC_exST)= (0.07; 0.2; *n.s.*) Shoot Na Conc. HSD_{0.05} (EC_e; ST; EC_exST)= (0.02; *n.s.*; *n.s.*)

While the salinity significantly decreased Ca concentration, the effect of seed treatment was not significant (Table 3.6B). Willow bark applications slightly increased the Ca concentration of maize shoots in the absence of salt stress (Table 3.8). Compared to the control plant, it was observed that 4% willow bark and leaf extracts significantly decreased Mg concentration. The highest phosphorus concentration was observed in the control plants and all the seed treatment applications significantly reduced shoot P concentration of maize plants. Salt treatments caused a reduction in S concentrations under all seed applications.

	Shoot Macroelements Concentrations (%)							
Treatments	Soil ECe	[Ca]	[Mg]	[P]	[S]			
Control	3.3	0.66 ± 0.06	0.47 ± 0.02	0.84 ± 0.07	0.42 ± 0.01			
	7.8	0.61 ± 0.05	0.47 ± 0.02	0.91 ± 0.04	0.37 ± 0.02			
WS	3.3	$0.67 \hspace{0.1in} \pm \hspace{0.1in} 0.03$	$0.46~\pm~0.02$	$0.77 \hspace{0.1in} \pm \hspace{0.1in} 0.09$	$0.41 \hspace{.1in} \pm \hspace{.1in} 0.01$			
W 5	7.8	$0.59 ~\pm~ 0.03$	$0.46~\pm~0.01$	$0.76~\pm~0.07$	$0.35 ~\pm~ 0.01$			
	3.3	$0.66 ~\pm~ 0.06$	$0.47 \hspace{0.2cm} \pm \hspace{0.2cm} 0.02$	$0.78~\pm~0.09$	$0.40 \hspace{0.1in} \pm \hspace{0.1in} 0.01$			
SA (0.5 mM)	7.8	$0.63 ~\pm~ 0.02$	$0.46~\pm~0.02$	$0.80~\pm~0.06$	$0.35 ~\pm~ 0.01$			
	3.3	$0.70~\pm~0.09$	$0.45~\pm~0.02$	$0.73~\pm~0.06$	$0.40~\pm~0.02$			
WB (2%)	7.8	0.65 ± 0.06	$0.46~\pm~0.01$	$0.79 ~\pm~ 0.03$	$0.36~\pm~0.02$			
	3.3	$0.74 \hspace{0.2cm} \pm \hspace{0.2cm} 0.10$	$0.45 ~\pm~ 0.02$	$0.73 ~\pm~ 0.08$	$0.40~\pm~0.01$			
WB (4%)	7.8	$0.64 ~\pm~ 0.03$	$0.43 ~\pm~ 0.04$	$0.74~\pm~0.07$	$0.35 ~\pm~ 0.02$			
	3.3	$0.65 ~\pm~ 0.03$	$0.45 ~\pm~ 0.03$	$0.70~\pm~0.06$	$0.41 \hspace{.1in} \pm \hspace{.1in} 0.02$			
WL (2%)	7.8	$0.69 ~\pm~ 0.04$	$0.45~\pm~0.01$	$0.75 ~\pm~ 0.04$	$0.35~\pm~0.01$			
WI (4%)	3.3	0.66 ± 0.05	$0.42 \hspace{0.2cm} \pm \hspace{0.2cm} 0.02$	$0.72 ~\pm~ 0.05$	$0.39 ~\pm~ 0.02$			
WL (770)	7.8	0.66 ± 0.05	$0.43 ~\pm~ 0.02$	$0.75 ~\pm~ 0.07$	$0.35 ~\pm~ 0.01$			

Table 3.8: Shoot macroelement concentrations of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) leaves in response to different seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) and soil salinity.

Shoot Ca Conc. $HSD_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST) = (0.03; *n.s.*; *n.s.*) Shoot Mg Conc. $HSD_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST) = (*n.s*; 0.03; *n.s.*) Shoot P Conc. $HSD_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST) = (0.03; 0.09; *n.s.*) Shoot S Conc. $HSD_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST) = (0.01; 0.02; *n.s.*)

All seed treatment agents except water significantly reduced Fe concentration particularly under saline conditions (Table 3.6C; Table 3.9). On the other hand, Zn concentration was reduced by all treatment agents including water. Salinity caused an increase in Mn concentration, while seed application did not influence it. In contrast to Mn concentrations, shoot Cu and Mo concentrations were reduced by salt treatment.

Shoot Microelements Concentrations (mg.kg ⁻¹)						
Treatments	Soil ECe	[Fe]	[Zn]	[Mn]	[Cu]	[Mo]
Control	3.3	150 ± 20	80 ± 9	101 ± 7	16.5 ± 0.5	5.8 ± 1.3
Control	7.8	$171~\pm~28$	$95~\pm~11$	$121~\pm~13$	15.8 ± 0.8	$2.1 ~\pm~ 0.3$
WC	3.3	$147 \ \pm \ 28$	67 ± 5	$93~\pm~11$	16.0 ± 0.6	$6.4 \hspace{0.2cm} \pm \hspace{0.2cm} 1.8$
w.5	7.8	137 ± 12	$77~\pm~10$	100 ± 7	$14.4~\pm~0.4$	$2.5~\pm~0.5$
	3.3	136 ± 8	65 ± 6	92 ± 10	15.3 ± 0.4	5.3 ± 1.3
SA (0.5 mM)	7.8	136 ± 10	76 ± 5	110 ± 6	$14.4~\pm~0.7$	2.2 ± 0.4
	3.3	135 ± 8	63 ± 5	85 ± 7	15.3 ± 0.7	$6.5 \hspace{0.2cm} \pm \hspace{0.2cm} 1.7$
WB (2%)	7.8	130 ± 12	75 ± 5	110 ± 10	14.5 ± 0.8	$2.3~\pm~0.1$
WD(40/)	3.3	148 ± 42	66 ± 8	101 ± 15	15.1 ± 1.1	5.2 ± 2.2
WD (4%)	7.8	119 ± 7	69 ± 6	102 ± 16	$14.6~\pm~2.0$	$2.3~\pm~0.3$
WI (204)	3.3	138 ± 6	58 ± 5	94 ± 6	14.8 ± 0.4	5.3 ± 1.2
WL (270)	7.8	129 ± 13	71 ± 4	115 ± 9	$14.6~\pm~1.9$	$2.3~\pm~0.4$
WI (4%)	3.3	139 ± 8	62 ± 5	104 ± 9	15.1 ± 0.3	$4.0~\pm~0.4$
WL (470)	7.8	127 ± 4	72 ± 7	115 ± 18	13.7 ± 0.4	2.2 ± 0.4

Table 3.9: Shoot microelement concentrations of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) leaves in response to different seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) and soil salinity.

Shoot Fe Conc. $HSD_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST) = (*n.s.*; 24; *n.s.*) Shoot Zn Conc. $HSD_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST) = (3; 9; *n.s.*) Shoot Mn Conc. $HSD_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST) = (5; 15; *n.s.*) Shoot Cu Conc. $HSD_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST) = (1; 1; *n.s.*) Shoot Mo Conc. $HSD_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST) = (0.5; *n.s.*; *n.s.*)

	Shoot K and Na Elements Content									
	Source of Variation		K		Na					
(A)	ECe		***		***					
	ST		***		**					
	EC _e *ST		<i>n.s.</i>		*					
		Shoot Mac	roelements C	Content						
	Source of Variation	Ca	Mg	Р	S					
(B)	ECe	***	***	***	***					
	ST	***	**	**	**					
	EC _e *ST	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.					
		Shoot Mic	roelements C	Content						
(C)	Source of Variation	Fe	Zn	Mn	Cu	Мо				
	ECe	***	**	**	***	***				
	ST	n.s.	n.s.	***	**	n.s.				
	ECe*ST	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>				

Table 3.10: Two-way ANOVA of the effects of salinity (EC_e) and seed treatment on mineral content of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) grown in soil under growth chamber conditions.

Like K concentrations, the shoot K content of maize plants was also significantly reduced by salinity stress (Table 3.10A; Table 3.11). Seed treatments of SA and willow extracts increased the K content of maize leaves under all conditions, whereas seed soaking with water only caused an increase under saline conditions (Table 3.11). The highest K content was observed in plants treated with 2% leaf extract in both control and stress conditions. Compared to the control plants, K content was increased by approximately 40 % with SA, 30% with WB and 40% with WL seed treatments.

Na content was significantly affected by the interaction between salinity and seed treatments (Table 3.10C). As expected, the Na content of the plants growing under saline condition was higher than that of plants grown under non-saline soil (Table 3.11). Under stress, seed treatments significantly increased the Na content compared to the control plant. The effects of watersoaking, bark and SA treatments on Na content were very similar and they were slightly higher than 4% WL application and slightly lower than 2% WL application.

Treatments	Soil EC _e	K (µg.plant ⁻¹)	Na (µg.plant ⁻¹)
Control	3.3 7.8	1113 ± 253 800 ± 87	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
WS	3.3 7.8	1193 ± 206 1101 ± 106	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
SA (0.5 mM)	3.3 7.8	1670 ± 243 1035 ± 195	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
WB (2%)	3.3 7.8	1481 ± 131 1070 ± 145	17 ± 1 113 ± 22
WB (4%)	3.3 7.8	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 1445 \ \pm \ 265 \\ 1060 \ \pm \ 116 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
WL (2%)	3.3 7.8	1704 ± 346 1121 ± 170	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
WL (4%)	3.3 7.8	1524 ± 173 1020 ± 179	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$

Table 3.11: K and Na content of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) shoots in response to different seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) and soil salinity.

Shoot K Cont. $HSD_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST) = (0.1; 0.3; *n.s.*) Shoot Na Cont. $HSD_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST) = (1; 2; 3)

Under saline conditions Ca, Mg, P and S content of maize shoots were significantly reduced in the absence of any seed treatment agent (Table 3.10B; Table 3.21). Water soaking application slightly increased Ca, Mg, P and S content under saline conditions, however in the absence of stress conditions, the microelement contents were not affected by this treatment. SA, WB and WL seed treatment agents increased the macroelement contents under both control and saline conditions.

Shoot Macroelement Content (mg.plant ⁻¹)					
Treatments	Soil ECe	Ca	Mg	Р	S
Control	3.3 7.8	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 0.024 \ \pm \ 0.003 \\ 0.021 \ \pm \ 0.003 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 0.012 & \pm & 0.003 \\ 0.008 & \pm & 0.001 \end{array}$
WS	3.3 7.8	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 0.21 & \pm & 0.032 \\ 0.18 & \pm & 0.024 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
SA (0.5 mM)	3.3 7.8	0.28 ± 0.058 0.18 ± 0.037	3.87 ± 0.66 3.13 ± 0.46	0.032 ± 0.003 0.023 ± 0.003	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 0.017 & \pm & 0.003 \\ 0.010 & \pm & 0.002 \end{array}$
WB (2%)	3.3 7.8	0.27 ± 0.051 0.19 ± 0.041	3.29 ± 0.43 3.21 ± 0.61	0.028 ± 0.002 0.023 ± 0.003	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 0.016 & \pm & 0.001 \\ 0.010 & \pm & 0.001 \end{array}$
WB (4%)	3.3 7.8	0.28 ± 0.054 0.19 ± 0.024	3.82 ± 0.71 3.03 ± 0.45	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 0.027 & \pm & 0.004 \\ 0.022 & \pm & 0.001 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 0.015 & \pm & 0.004 \\ 0.010 & \pm & 0.001 \end{array}$
WL (2%)	3.3 7.8	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 0.29 & \pm & 0.059 \\ 0.22 & \pm & 0.032 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 4.18 \ \pm \ 0.69 \\ 3.68 \ \pm \ 0.50 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 0.031 \ \pm \ 0.004 \\ 0.024 \ \pm \ 0.003 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 0.018 & \pm & 0.003 \\ 0.011 & \pm & 0.002 \end{array}$
WL (4%)	3.3 7.8	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 0.27 & \pm & 0.022 \\ 0.20 & \pm & 0.026 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	0.030 ± 0.004 0.023 ± 0.004	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 0.016 & \pm & 0.002 \\ 0.010 & \pm & 0.002 \end{array}$

Table 3.12: Shoot macroelement content of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants in response to different seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) and soil salinity.

Shoot Ca Cont. $HSD_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST) = (0.02; 0.06; *n.s.*) Shoot Mg Cont. $HSD_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST) = (0.013; 0.04; *n.s.*) Shoot P Cont. $HSD_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST) = (0.0015; 0.0045; *n.s.*) Shoot S Cont. $HSD_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST) = (0.001; 0.0031; *n.s.*)

Salinity significantly reduced the content of Fe, Zn, Mn, Cu and Mo microelements in the absence of seed treatment applications (Table 3.10C; Table 3.13). In the absence of salinity treatment Fe and Zn contents were enhanced with seed applications. Under both control and salinity stress, Mn and Cu contents were enhanced by seed applications. The highest Mn content was seen in plants treated with willow leaf extracts.

		Shoot I	Microelement Con	tents (µg.plant ⁻¹)		
Treatments	Soil ECe	Fe	Zn	Mn	Cu	Мо
Control	3.3	4.30 ± 1.10	2.25 ± 0.32	2.91 ± 0.70	0.47 ± 0.10	0.17 ± 0.05
	3.3	3.80 ± 0.30 4.60 ± 1.20	2.13 ± 0.23 2.10 ± 0.43	2.76 ± 0.56 2.89 ± 0.65	0.36 ± 0.04 0.50 ± 0.09	0.03 ± 0.01 0.20 ± 0.06
WS	7.8	$4.30 \hspace{0.1 in} \pm \hspace{0.1 in} 0.50$	$2.41 \ \pm \ 0.33$	3.07 ± 0.41	0.44 ± 0.05	0.08 ± 0.01
SA (0.5 mM)	3.3 7.8	5.70 ± 0.80 3.90 ± 0.60	2.71 ± 0.24 2.16 ± 0.30	3.87 ± 0.66 3.13 ± 0.46	0.65 ± 0.11 0.41 ± 0.07	0.23 ± 0.07 0.06 ± 0.01
	3.3	5.20 ± 0.40	2.39 ± 0.26	3.29 ± 0.43	0.59 ± 0.04	0.26 ± 0.06
WB (2%)	7.8	3.70 ± 0.10	2.19 ± 0.36	3.21 ± 0.61	0.42 ± 0.04	$0.07 \hspace{0.2cm} \pm \hspace{0.2cm} 0.01$
WB (4%)	3.3 7.8	5.50 ± 1.00 3.60 ± 0.40	2.46 ± 0.45 2.05 ± 0.16	3.82 ± 0.71 3.03 ± 0.45	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 0.21 & \pm & 0.01 \\ 0.07 & \pm & 0.01 \end{array}$
WL (2%)	3.3	6.20 ± 1.40	2.57 ± 0.34	4.18 ± 0.69	0.66 ± 0.12	0.23 ± 0.08
	7.8	4.10 ± 0.70 5.80 ± 0.00	2.27 ± 0.27 2.56 ± 0.18	3.68 ± 0.50 4.32 ± 0.73	0.47 ± 0.09 0.63 ± 0.08	0.07 ± 0.02 0.17 ± 0.02
WL (4%)	7.8	3.80 ± 0.60	2.17 ± 0.18	3.45 ± 0.67	0.41 ± 0.06	0.07 ± 0.01

Table 3.13: Shoot microelement content of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants in response to different seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) and soil salinity.

Shoot Fe Cont. $HSD_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST)= (0.4; *n.s.*; *n.s.*) Shoot Zn Cont. $HSD_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST)= (0.15; *n.s.*; *n.s*) Shoot Mn Cont. $HSD_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST)= (0.28; 0.82; *n.s*) Shoot Cu Cont. $HSD_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST)= (0.04; 0.11; *n.s*) Shoot Mo Cont. $HSD_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST)= (0.02; *n.s.*; *n.s*)

Table 3.14: Two-way ANOVA of the effects of salinity (EC_e) and seed treatment (ST) on protein concentration of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown in soil under growth chamber conditions.

Source of Variation	Protein Concentration
ECe	*
ST	*
EC _e *ST	<i>n.s.</i>

Although the interaction was not significant, both salinity and seed treatments had a significant effect on protein concentration of maize leaves (Table 3.14). The lowest protein concentration was measured in the absence of salinity and seed treatment (Table 3.15). Salinity caused an increase of 24% irrespective of the seed treatment. The seed treatment application enhanced protein concentrations when compared to control plants. Under saline condition, the protein concentration was increased by 3%, 7% and 27% with SA, WB and WL seed applications, respectively.

Seed Treatment	Soil Ece	Protein concentration		
Agent		(mg	g.g ⁻¹ F	W)
Control	3.3	6.3	±	0.8
	7.8	7.8	±	0.6
Watersoaking	3.3	7.7	±	2.2
	7.8	8.8	±	1.1
SA (0.5 mM)	3.3	7.5	±	1.2
	7.8	8.0	±	2.4
Willow bark (2%)	3.3	7.8	±	1.0
	7.8	9.0	±	0.9
Willow bark (4%)	3.3	7.8	±	1.4
	7.8	7.8	±	3.0
Willow leaf (2%)	3.3	8.4	±	2.2
	7.8	9.8	±	0.7
Willow leaf (4%)	3.3	8.8	±	1.4
	7.8	10.0	±	0.9

Table 3.15: Effect of seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) and salinity on protein concentration of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) grown in soil under growth chamber conditions.

Protein Concentration $HSD_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_e*ST) = 0.8; 2.2; *n.s.*

Source of Variation	SOD	GR	APX	CAT
ECe	n.s.	<i>n.s.</i>	***	**
ST	***	***	<i>n.s.</i>	***
ECe*ST	<i>n.s.</i>	*	<i>n.s.</i>	***

Table 3.16 : Two-way ANOVA of the effects of salinity (EC_e) and seed treatment (ST) on antioxidative enzyme of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) grown in soil under growth chamber conditions.

According to ANOVA results, specific SOD activity was not affected by salinity, but varied with seed treatments (Table 3.16). Although bark applications did not have a consistent effect, seed treatments of willow leaf extracts significantly reduced SOD activity (Table 3.17). The interaction of salinity and seed application significantly affected GR enzyme activity (Table 3.16). In general, all the seed applications reduced specific GR activity (Table 3.17). Among others, application of 4% leaf extract caused the lowest GR activity under both control and saline conditions. Specific APX activity was not affected by salinity, but seed treatment had a significant effect on it (Table 3.16). The treatments that caused the greatest decrease in APX activity were leaf, bark and SA seed treatments. (Table 3.17) The specific CAT activity was also significantly affected by the interaction of salinity and seed treatments (Table 3.16). Salinity caused an increase in the specific CAT activity in the absence of seed treatments. All the seed treatment agents also increased the specific CAT activity under control conditions. Under saline conditions, SA and high WB and all WL applications reduced the specific activity of CAT enzyme.

Specific Activity	_	SOI)		GR		Al	PX		C	CAT	
Seed Treatment Agents	Soil Ec _e	(U ma Prt.	g ⁻¹)	(-1 [NAD] Prt.	nmol PH] 1 Min ⁻	ng ⁻¹	(-µm	ol H	2O2 mg	⁻¹ Prt. N	/lin ⁻¹	^I)
Control	3.3 7.8	$\begin{array}{ccc} 28 & \pm \\ 25 & \pm \end{array}$	6 5	76 74	± ±	11 10	2.0 1.9	± ±	0.3 0.4	44 72	± ±	5 9
WS	3.3 7.8	$\begin{array}{ccc} 21 & \pm \\ 28 & \pm \end{array}$	1 1	58 66	± ±	10 19	1.7 1.5	± ±	0.2 0.3	55 72	± ±	6 8
SA (0.5 mM)	3.3 7.8	$\begin{array}{rrr} 30 & \pm \\ 31 & \pm \end{array}$	6 6	68 47	± ±	13 10	1.4 1.5	± ±	0.5 0.3	77 65	± ±	13 12
WB (2%)	3.3 7.8	$\begin{array}{ccc} 21 & \pm \\ 27 & \pm \end{array}$	9 3	51 55	± ±	5 12	1.7 1.2	± ±	0.3 0.2	67 71	± ±	8 8
WB (4%)	3.3 7.8	29 ± 29 ±	5 8	48 49	± ±	8 4	1.3 1.3	± ±	0.2 0.2	76 59	± ±	6 7
WL (2%)	3.3 7.8	23 ± 24 ±	5 2	43 51	± ±	5 5	1.3 1.2	± ±	0.3 0.3	51 57	± ±	14 11
WL (4%)	3.3 7.8	$\begin{array}{ccc} 21 & \pm \\ 21 & \pm \end{array}$	3 3	37 42	± ±	8 2	1.3 1.2	± ±	0.1 0.2	53 65	± ±	5 7

Table 3.17: Effect of seed treatment agents (WS, SA (0.5 mM), WB (2% and 4%), WL (2% and 4%)) and salinity on specific activity of antioxidative enzymes of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown in soil under growth chamber conditions.

SOD HSD $_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST) = *n.s.*; 7; *n.s.* GR HSD $_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST) = *n.s.*; 0.013; 0.02 APX HSD $_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST) = 0.4; *n.s.*; *n.s.* CAT HSD $_{0.05}$ (EC_e; ST; EC_exST) = 4; 11; 17

3.3. Hydroponic Experiment Results

Maize plants grown for 30 days in the presence or absence of salinity treatment and subjected to SA, WB and WL applications from solution culture can be seen at Figure 3.28. According to this photo it can be observed that the shoot and root growth of the plants was affected negatively from the salinity treatment. Under saline conditions, plants

which received different doses of willow extracts looked better when compared to control plants or to the ones which received SA from solution culture.



Figure 3.28: Effect of salinity and salicylic acid, willow bark and leaf extracts on maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown for 30 days under growth chamber conditions by using hydroponic culture.

Table 3.18: Two-way ANOVA of the effects of salinity (EC_e) and treatment agents (A) on (A) plant height (19 DAS, 26 DAS and 30 DAS), (B) shoot fresh and (C) shoot and (D) root dry weight (30 DAS) of hydroponicaly grown maize plants (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) under control and salt stress conditions.

(A)			Plant Height					
	Source of Variation	19 DAS	26 DAS	30 DAS				
	ECe	n.s.	***	***				
	Α	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>	*				
	ECe*A	n.s.	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>				
	Source of Variation	S	hoot Fresh Weigl	ht				
			30 DAS					
(B)	ECe	***						
	Α	<i>n.s.</i>						
	ECe*A	n.s.						
	Source of Variation	5	Shoot Dry Weigh	t				
			30 DAS					
(C)	ECe		***					
	Α		n.s.					
	ECe*A	<i>n.s.</i>						
	Source of Variation		Root Dry Weight	t				
			30 DAS					
(D)	ECe		<i>n.s.</i>					
	Α		<i>n.s.</i>					
	ECe*A	<i>n.s.</i>						

19 DAS Plant Height: HSD_{0.05} (EC_e; A; EC_exA) = *n.s.*;*n.s.*; *n.s.* 26 DAS Plant Height: HSD_{0.05} (EC_e; A; EC_exA) = 3; *n.s.*; *n.s.* 30 DAS Plant Height: HSD_{0.05} (EC_e; A; EC_exSA) = 2; 6; *n.s.* 30 DAS Shoot Fresh Weight: HSD_{0.05} (EC_e; A; EC_exA) = 1; *n.s.*; *n.s.* 30 DAS Shoot Dry Weight: HSD_{0.05} (EC_e; A; EC_exA) = 70; *n.s.*; *n.s.* 30 DAS Root Dry Weight: HSD_{0.05} (EC_e; A; EC_exA) = *n.s.*; *n.s.* In the absence of salinity stress, none of the applied treatment agents had any significant effect on plant height of maize plants at 19, 26 or 30 days (Table 3.18A; Figure 3.29). Salinity treatments started at day 19 and reductions in plant heights in respect to salinity stress was observed on day 26 and 30 (Figure 3.29 B). On day 30 the effect of treatment agents was observed under saline condition. The lowest shoot length was measured for control plants, whereas the highest shoot length was observed at WB treated plants with the higher dose. The effect of low concentration willow bark and high concentration willow leaf applications was similar and was right below the high willow bark application. Similarly, the lengths of the plants treated with SA and low leaf extracts were almost the same and although it was statistically not significant when compared to control plants they were still taller (Figure 3.29).



Figure 3.29: Effect of salicylic acid, willow bark and leaf extracts on plant height 30 DAS of hydroponically grown maize plants (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) under (A) control and (B) salt stress conditions. Values are means of 4 independent pot replicates, each containing 5 plants. The lowercase letters were given according to the LSD results under the control and salinity conditions.

Shoot fresh weight was significantly decreased by salinity stress (Table 3.14B). The treatments agents increased the fresh weight under both control and saline conditions, but this effect was not statistically significant (Table 3.14 B; Figure 3.30). Under saline conditions, the lowest shoot fresh weight was observed in the absence of any treatment agent, whereas the highest FW were obtained in plants treated with high concentrations of WB or WL extracts (Figure 3.30). Application of WB extract at higher concentration increased shoot FW by 55% and similarly, higher concentration of WL extract increased the measured trait by 50% when compared to control plants (Figure 3.30).



Figure 3.30: Effect of salinity stress and salicylic acid, willow bark and leaf extracts on shoot fresh weight of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown for 30 days under growth chamber conditions by using hydroponic culture. Values are means of 4 independent pot replicates, each containing 5 plants. In cases where the interaction had no significant effect, the uppercase letters were given according to the Fisher's protected LSD test results in the control condition and the lower-case letters were given for to the salt stressed condition.

When compared to control plant, the high concentration of bark and leaf extracts significantly increased the shoot dry weight of the maize plants under saline conditions (Figure 3.31A). The highest shoot dry weight was observed in plants treated with 0.1% of leaf extract application under control conditions, whereas under stress conditions application of 0.2% of willow leaf or willow bark extract resulted with the highest shoot DW (Figure 3.31A). In contrast, the treatments did not have a significant effect on the root dry weight of plants under control or stress conditions (Table 3.18D; Figure 3.31 B). Still, plants which were treated by high concentration of willow leaf extracts had the highest root dry weight under stress conditions when compared to other treatments (Figure 3.31B).



Figure 3.31: Effect of salinity and salicylic acid, willow bark and leaf extracts on shoot (A) and root (B) dry weight of maize (*Zea mays* cv. Caramelo) plants grown for 30 days under growth chamber conditions by using hydroponic culture. Values are means of 4 independent pot replicates, each containing 5 plants. In cases where the interaction had no significant effect, the uppercase letters were given according to the Fisher's protected LSD test results in the control condition and the lower-case letters were given for to the salt stressed condition.

4. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Seed germination is a vital stage for the lifecycle of plants and this stage is considered to be the most susceptible one to salinity stress. The germinating capacity of seeds is impaired by salinity stress due to inhibition of water uptake or negative effects of excess salt ions (Na⁺ and Cl⁻) on seeds [Khajeh-Hosseini et al., 2003]. If seeds can germinate well under saline conditions and plantlets can tolerate salinity during seedling establishment, they have a better chance to tolerate salinity in later stages of their development [Jisha et al., 2013]. For this reason, the strategies which can help the seeds to overcome stress conditions are of great importance. One of the most important of these is seed treatments with various agents. Through these applications, plant metabolism is stimulated and prepared for stress conditions, thus improving the ability of plants to tolerate stress [Beckers and Conrath, 2007].

According to the results obtained from the first experiment in perlite media, it was observed that although the highest salinity level (100 and 150 mM NaCl) significantly decreased the shoot and root growth of 3, 5 and 7 days-old maize seedlings in the early period (Figure 3.2-3.4), no adverse effects of salinity was observed on seed germination (Figure 3.1, Table 3.1A) The adverse effects of salinity were more pronounced on the 3-day maize plants, while the negative effects on the 7-day shoots were reduced (Figure 3.2). Therefore, the medium salinity of 100 mM NaCl was selected for the second and third experiments. Moreover, the efforts of using willow extracts as novel plant-based biostimulants were focused on reducing losses on the plant growth related instead of increasing the germination percentage.

In conformity with the results reported in this study, in the literature it has been shown that low levels of salinity had no negative effect on maize growth whereas at high rates, shoot and root growth are inhibited [Turan et al., 2010]. In another study, Khodary (2004) reported that as the salinity level increased, the negative effects of stress on maize plant growth parameters, including shoot and root fresh weight, shoot length, became more severe. When the shoot and root growth is compared it was observed that shoots of maize seedlings were more sensitive to increasing NaCl levels than roots (Figure 3.2; 3.6; 3.7). Ertani et al. (2013) also documented similar results in maize plants.

Salicylic acid is an important phytohormone for plant growth and development and regulates various metabolic process when plants are exposed to salt stress. Treatment with SA can reduce mitigate the adverse effects of stress and enhance plant growth [Hayat et al., 2010]. The effects of salicylic acid on plant metabolism are known to vary depending on applied the dose. It was observed that the most effective salicylic acid dose was 0.5 mM in many applications carried out in different plants and stresses [Tufail et al., 2013], [Gautam and Singh, 2009], [Gunes et al., 2007], [Zanganeh et al., 2018], [Baninasab, 2010]. At this concentration, it was recorded that SA applications decreased negative effects of stress, increased growth and development, and improved stress tolerance. According to the results of second perlite experiments, at 3 DAS, 0.25 mM SA did not show any beneficial effect of shoot FW of maize seedlings, whereas 0.5 mM significantly increased the shoot growth of maize plants under salt stress conditions (Figure 3.6A, 3.9B). It was also observed that 1.0 mM SA did not provide any extra benefit under these conditions. For this study the most appropriate dose was also selected as 0.5 mM from different concentrations of SA tested and only that dose was used for the rest of perlite and soil experiments. The selected concentration was consistent with salicylic acid concentrations in the literature [Khodary, 2004], [Zanganeh et al., 2018].

In plant-based biostimulants applications, improvements in different traits including plant growth and development, nodule development, defense response, root growth and callus growth have been reported for many different plant species [Yakhin et al., 2017]. Usage of plant extracts containing many bioactive substances as seed treatment agents have positive effects on plant growth parameters and improve seedlings establishment under control and stress conditions [Rafi et al., 2015]. In the third perlite experiment, seed treatments of SA and willow extracts were showed to have a positive effect on maize seedlings grown in perlite media (Figures 3.10-3.17). Under both control and salinity conditions, maize seedlings grown from seeds treated with willow extracts showed a significant improve seed performance and vigor (Figures 3.10-3.11), shoot and root biomass (Figures 3.13-3.14), total root area (Figure 3.16) as well as shoot length (Figure 3.17), however the germination percentage or rate was not affected by seed applications (Figure 3.12). Since the germination percentage was not significantly reduced by salinity treatment in this experimental condition, it is not surprising to see a positive response for that treatment. When the positive effects of seed treatment agents were compared, for many measured traits including shoot FW, root FW, total root area and shoot height, in general willow extracts were reported to be more effective when compared to SA application (Figures 3.10-3.17). For 3-days-old seedlings shoot FW was enhanced by 225 % with willow extracts and 130 % with SA treatment (Figure 3.13A). Also, in total root area calculations, the positive effect of SA was 43% however willow extracts provided 87% increase (Figure 3.16A). Willow extracts may contain higher concentrations of SA derivatives or the other compounds which are present in these crude extracts of willow can provide extra benefit for plants.

When the effects of seed treatments on shoot FW was compared at 2 different harvest times (3 and 6 DAS), it was observed that the differences were more pronounced at earlier stages (Figure 3.13). For example, when compared to water application, WB seed treatment caused an increase of 50% in the shoot FW of 3-days-old seedlings, however this increase was limited to 15% for 6-days-old seedlings. When the shoot lengths were compared, the length of 3-day-old seedlings treated with willow extracts was 2.5 times the length of the control plants (Figure 3.17). However, the height of 6-days-old maize seedlings were about %80 higher when they were treated with willow extracts. The effects of seed applications may be reduced in time but still the positive effects observed in the very early stages of a seedlings life can be very critical and may determine its survivability in nature.

Similar to the results obtained, Afzal et al. (2012) reported that seed treatments using Moringa olifera tree extract, another important botanical biostimulant, increased the growth of maize plant in chilling stress and had a positive effect on root and shoot weight and length of plants. In another study using the same tree extract, it was reported that seed applications with this extract had a positive effect on wheat seedling growth parameters [Yasmeen et al., 2013].

Like the reported biostimulants, which are safe, natural and renewable sources which stimulate the metabolism in plants by affecting each other with endogenous phytohormone [Narwal, 2004], willow extracts may have a potential to be utilized for the same purposes.

The effect of seed treatment may vary depending on various factors such as priming time, priming agent, temperature, plant species [Parera and Cantliffe, 1994]. While seed treatment can simply be conducted by using water, the addition of nutrients, plant growth regulators or biostimulants may be used to enhance its benefits on seed germination and seedling vigor. In studies conducted with various plants, it has been shown that hydropriming as seed treatment has a great potential for positively affecting events in seed metabolism under stress conditions, increasing germination time and rate, producing more healthy and viable seedlings [Singh, 1995], [Harris et al., 1999]. In contrast, in the first soil experiment, there was no statistically significant effect of different hydropriming time on germination percentage, fresh weight, dry weight and plant height of soil grown maize under control and salt stress conditions (Table 3.4). The lack of a significant effect of hydropriming on maize grown under saline conditions may be due to some unexpected damage which might took place during drying. It has been mentioned in many studies that there may be a decrease in the performance of the seeds subjected to drying or storage for a certain period after hydropriming application [Adetumbi et al., 2009].

Since no critical differences were observed among the tried priming times (Table 3.4; Figures 3.20-22), 16 hours priming time was selected in accordance with the literature to be used in the second soil experiment. Chivasa et al. Reported (2000) that between 12 and 24 hours of hydropriming applications applied to maize seed had positive effects on plant growth. In another study, Nagar et al. (1998) recorded a positive improvement in plants after hydropriming for 16 hours. Other studies showed that hydropriming obtained the best results from maize seeds for 18 hours. This was close to the priming time chosen as the appropriate time in the first experiment. Also, instead of priming, soaking was preferred for the second soil experiment to minimize the unexpected negative effects which could be observed during drying step of seed priming.

Another important parameter determined in the first experiment was the soil EC_e value of the second experiment. The EC_e value of 7.8 was selected for use in the second experiment, since this salinity level cause a reduction of approximately 30% in shoot dry weight and height and 40% in fresh weight of the 14-day-old maize plant (Figures 3.20-3.22). It looked as a relatively high salinity level to effect the growth parameters significantly and a relatively low salinity level not to kill the treated plants and cause irreversible damage.

In the second soil experiment, the negative effects of salinity was observed in growth related parameters including shoot fresh and dry weights and shoot heights (Fig 3.23-3.27) which is in conformity with the literature [Cicek and Cakırlar, 2002], [Menezes-Benavente et al., 2004], [El-Sayed 2011], [Wakeel et al., 2011b].

As in the case of third perlite experiment, the positive effect of seed treatment with willow extracts as botanical biostimulant was observed in maize plant grown under both control and saline conditions (Figures 3.13-3.17; Figure 3.23). The rich bioactive substance content of the willow extracts can be transferred to the embryo growing in the lag stage of priming through seed treatment and these active compounds including SA can increase the seedling stress tolerance and early vigor.

According to the reported results, it has been found that the low dose (2%) of willow leaf extract may be the best treatment in many growth parameters such as fresh weight, dry weight, plant length (Figures 3.25-3.27). However, for medicinal purposes bark is the preferred part for applications [Chrubasik et al., 2000]; [Biegert et al., 2004]. Since it is much easier to collect willow leaves when compared to bark samples, usage of leaf samples as plant-based biostimulants can be an easier strategy for application and production purposes.

Moreover, in some cases it was observed that the high concentration (4%) of leaf and bark extract applications increased the growth compared to control plant but when compared to lower willow extract dose (2%) they did not provide any extra benefit or even reduced the observed positive effects (Figures 3.25-3.27). This can be explained by the fact that the positive or negative effect of the same extract may vary depending on the concentration [Ullah et al. 2014]. High concentrations of plant extracts may be unnecessary or even toxic for plant and have been reported to have a negative effect on plant metabolism and the secondary metabolite amount [Khan et al., 2011].

When the element concentrations were measured, it was observed that salinity stress decreased K concentration and increased Na concentration in maize shoots (Table 3.9). Due to ionic stress, which is an important component of salinity stress, high Na concentration can inhibit K uptake due to chemical similarities [Chinnusamy and Zhu, 2006]. However, it was observed that willow extracts had no positive effect on K uptake or did not decrease Na uptake. This means that the protective role of willow extracts or SA can not be explained by a direct effect on ionic toxicity.

In contrast to the K concentrations, it was documented that the seed treatment with willow leaf and bark extracts caused an increase in the K content of the maize shoots (Tables 3.11-3.13). Especially, 2% leaf extract application increased the K content by

almost 50%. This increase in content may be attributed to the fact that seed treatment with leaf extract increased shoot biomass and/or translocation of K from the roots to shoots.

Salinity and seed treatments also increased or reduced the concentrations and contents of other macro- or micro-elements (Table 3.8; Table 3.9; Table 3.12; Table 3.13). But none of the observed effects could explain the beneficial effects of willow extracts. So, it can be concluded that the positive effects of willow extracts could not be explained by the correction of a nutrient deficiency or toxicity observed in maize samples.

Seed treatment with SA and willow extracts increased protein concentration of maize plant grown in saline soil (Table 3.13). This may be attributed to the fact that nitrogen uptake may be increased by seed treatment of these compounds. According to the literature, it was observed that pre-treatment with SA enhanced nitrate reductase activity, nitrogen uptake as well as nitrogen use efficiency [Singhand Chaturverdi, 2012], [Hayat et al., 2005], [Jain and Srivastava, 1981], [Fariduddin et al., 2003]. This interesting finding should be confirmed with further experiments.

Abiotic stress including salinity stress also leads to increasing level of ROS in peroxisomes, chloroplast and mitochondria. It is important for the plant to control the ROS level with enzymatic (SOD, CAT, GR, APX) or non-enzymatic antioxidants (ascorbate, flavonoids carotenoids, phenolic compounds) in order to withstand oxidative stress [Schutzendubel and Polle, 2002]. SOD enzyme plays a role in the first step of the defense mechanism and converts superoxide to O_2 and hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂). AP and GR involved in ascorbate–glutathione pathway play a critical role in scavenging of ROS in chloroplast. H₂O₂ is also scavenged by catalase in peroxisomes [Asada, 1999].

In this study, specific SOD activity was increased with seed treatment of SA and bark extract, while specific GR and APX activities decreased with SA as well as willow extracts (Table 3.17). The SA treatment significantly increased specific CAT activity and treatment willow extracts reduced the specific CAT activity under saline conditions (Table 3.17). In some studies, it has been shown that pretreatment with SA increased antioxidant enzyme activity [Yusuf et al., 2008] and decreased it in some studies [Choudhury and Panda, 2004]. The decrease in antioxidant enzyme activity may be thought to be due to the rich bioactive substance content of willow extracts. Non-enzymatic antioxidants such as phenolic agents may be thought to decrease reactive oxygen levels especially, in chloroplast and thus enzyme activity reduces.

Salinity stress does not adversely affect plant growth only in soil condition or germination stage. It also has negative effects on vegetative growth in solution culture (Figures 3.28-3.31). A study by Bose et al. (2018) showed that the salinity level of 8 dsm⁻¹ (equivalent to 80 mM) reduced shoot and root growth and development of the maize plant in solution culture. Another study examined the effect of 60 mM NaCl on pepper and cucumber plants grown in hydroponics. This salinity level has been shown to cause negative results in plant metabolism [Kaya et al., 2001].

In the last part of this thesis, the effect of SA and willow extracts on maize plants grown in hydroponics were investigated (Figure 3.28). In contrast to previously reported results, these agents were not applied as seed treatment agents, instead they were added to nutrient solutions at low concentrations as liquid biostimulants. Many studies have reported that salicylic acid is an effective phytohormone in increasing root length and growth [Hayat et al., 2010]. It is also reported that aspirin, a close analogue of salicylic acid, improves rooting in bean plants [Larque-Saavedra et al., 1975]. In agreement with the literature, SA and willow extract applications increased the root dry weight under saline conditions (Figure 3.31B). Moreover, these positive effects were not only limited to root growth, in the shoot growth even a higher positive response was observed in response to willow extract applications (Figure 3.29; Figure 3.30; Figure 3.31A) The salinity treatments as well as biostimulant applications were started when the plants were 19 days old to have uniform plantlets. If these applications would have been applied since the beginning of experiment, the differences could be more dramatic. If the positive effects of SA and willow extracts are compared, willow extracts performed better under these conditions.

It can be concluded that willow bark and leaf extracts as a seed treatment could improve the seedlings performance and reduce the negative effects of salinity in the early periods of plant growth. Nevertheless, seed treatment with willow tree extracts at optimized doses can be a promising, sustainable and innovative approach. Usage of willow leaves instead of willow barks can be an easier strategy for the applicability and production of a potential product. It is thought that the biostimulant effect of willow extracts may be related to the rich bioactive substance content. It was also shown that willow extracts can be used as natural SA sources instead of chemical SA to increase the growth and development of plants. Results suggest that aqueous extracts of willow tissues may be used as biostimulants to improve crop performance although effects may not be salinity-specific. Further studies are needed to determine the compositions of extracts, their effects on other crops under different stress conditions and the best method of application.


REFERENCES

Abbas W., Ashraf M., Akrama N. A., (2010), "Alleviation of salt-induced adverse effects in eggplant (Solanum melongena L.) by glycinebetaine and sugarbeet extracts.", Scientia Horticulturae, 125: 188–195.

Abdel L., Arafat A., Tran L. S. P., (2016), "Impacts of priming with silicon on the growth and tolerance of maize plants to alkaline stress.", Frontiers in plant science, 7, 243.

Acosta-Motos, J., Ortuño M., Bernal-Vicente A., Diaz-Vivancos P., Sanchez-Blanco, M., Hernandez J., (2017), "Plant responses to salt stress: adaptive mechanisms.", Agronomy, 7(1), 18.

Adetumbi J. A., A. C. Odiyi, S. A. Olakojo and M. A. Adebisi., (2009), "Effect of storage materials and environments on drying and germination quality of maize (*Zea mays* L.).", EJEAFChe. 8(11): 1140-1149.

Afzal I., Hussain B., Basra S. M. A., Rehman H., (2012), "Priming with moringa leaf extract reduces imbibitional chilling injury in spring maize.", Seed Science and Technology, 40 (2), 271-276.

Afzal I., Rehman H. U., Naveed M., Basra S. M. A, (2016), "Recent advances in seed enhancements.", In New Challenges in Seed Biology-Basic and Translational Research Driving Seed Technology, IntechOpen.

Agarwal P. K., Dave A., Agarwal P., (2018), "Transcriptional regulation of salinity stress: role and spatio-temporal expressions of ion-transporter gene promoters.", Biologia Plantarum, 62 (4), 641-646.

Asada K., (1999), "The water-water cycle in chloroplasts: scavenging of active oxygens and dissipation of excess photons.", Annual review of plant biology, 50 (1), 601-639.

Ahmad W., Noor M., Afzal I., Bakhtavar M., Nawaz M., Sun X., Zhao M., (2016), "Improvement of sorghum crop through exogenous application of natural growthpromoting substances under a changing climate.", Sustainability, 8 (12), 1330.

Akram M, Malik M. A., Ashraf M. Y., Saleem M. F., Hussain M., (2007), "Competetive seedling growth and K⁺/Na⁺ ratio in different maize (*Zea mays* L.) hybrids under salinity stress.", Pak J Bot 39:2553–2563.

Alamgir A. N. M., (2017), "Therapeutic Use of Medicinal Plants and Their Extracts: Volume 1.", Pharmacognosy.

Alavi S. M. N., Arvin M. J., Kalantari K. M., (2014), "Salicylic acid and nitric oxide alleviate osmotic stress in wheat (Triticumaestivum L.) seedlings.", J.Plant Interac, 9, 683–688.

Alexandratos N., ve Bruinsma J., (2012), "World Agriculture Towards 2030/2050: the 2012 revision.", Yayın No: 12-13, ESA-FAO, Roma.

Al-Hakimi A. M. A., (2006), "Counteraction of drought stress on soybean plants by seed soaking in salicylic acid.", J Bot, 2:421–426.

Allen V. G., Pond K. R., Saker K. E., Fontenot J. P., Bagley C. P., Ivy R. L., Evans R. R., Schmidt R. E., Fike J. H., Zhang X., Ayad J. Y., Brown C. P., Miller M. F., Montgomery J. L., Mahan J., Wester D. B., Melton C., (2001), "Tasco: influence of a brown seaweed on antioxidants in forages and livestock—a review", Journal Animal Science, 79 (E Suppl): E21–E31.

Amini R., (2013), "Drought stress tolerance of barley (Hordeum vulgare L.) affected by priming with PEG.", International Journal of Farming and Allied Sciences, 2 (20), 803-808.

Amirkhani M., Netravali A. N., Huang W., Taylor A. G., (2016), "Investigation of soy protein–based biostimulant seed coating for broccoli seedling and plant growth enhancement.", HortScience, 51 (9), 1121-1126.

Apse M.P., Blumwald, E. (2002), "Engineering salt tolerance", Current Opinion Biotech. 13, 146–150.

Arihan O., Güvenç A., (2011), "Studies on the anatomical structure of stems of willow (Salix L.) species (Salicaceae) growing in Ankara province, Turkey. Turkish Journal of Botany, 35 (6).

Arimura G. I., Maffei M., (2016), "Plant Specialized Metabolism: Genomics, Biochemistry, and Biological Functions.", CRC press.

Arioli T, Mattner S. W., Winberg P. C., (2015), "Applications of seaweed extracts in Australian agriculture: past, present and future.", J Appl Phycol, 27:2007–2015.

Arteca R. N. (1996), "Plant Growth Substance Principles and Applications.", Chapman and Hall, New York, 332 p.

Arzani A., (2008), "Improving salinity tolerance in crop plants: a biotechnological view.", In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology-Plant, 44 (5), 373-383.

Ashkani, S., Rafii, M. Y., Shabanimofrad M., Miah G., Sahebi M., Azizi P., Nasehi A. (2015), "Molecular breeding strategy and challenges towards improvement of blast disease resistance in rice crop.", Frontiers in plant science, 6, 886.

Ashraf M., (2004), "Some important physiological selection criteria for salt tolerancein plants.", Flora, 199, 361–376.

Ashraf R., Sultana B., Riaz S., Mushtaq M., Iqbal M., Nazir A., Zafar Z., (2018), "Fortification of phenolics, antioxidant activities and biochemical attributes of radish root by plant leaf extract seed priming.", Biocatalysis and Agricultural Biotechnology, 16, 115-120. Ayala A., Muñoz M. F., Argüelles S., (2014), "Lipid peroxidation: production, metabolism, and signaling mechanisms of malondialdehyde and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal.", Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity, 2014.

Azooz M. M., Youssef M. M., (2010), "Evaluation of heat shock and salicylic acid treatments as inducers of drought stress tolerance in Hassawi wheat.", Amer J Plant Physiol, 5:56–70.

Bakht J., Shafi M., Jama Y., Sher H., (2011), "Response of maize (Zea mays L.) to seedpriming with NaCl and salinity stress.", Span. J. Agric. Res, 9, 252–261.

Bakhtavar M. A., Afzal I., Basra S. M. A., Ahmad A., Noor M., (2015), "Physiological strategies to improve the performance of spring maize (*Zea mays* L.) planted under early and optimum sowing conditions" PLoS ONE, 10 (4): e0124441.

Baninasab B., (2010), "Induction of drought tolerance by salicylic acid in seedlings of cucumber (Cucumis sativus L.).", The Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology, 85 (3), 191-196.

Basra S. M. A., Iftikhar M. N., Afzal I., (2011), "Potential of moringa (Moringa oleifera) leaf extract as priming agent for hybrid maize seeds", International Journal of Agriculture and Biology, 13, 1006–1010.

Basra S. M. A., Farooq M., Tabassum R., (2005), "Physiological and biochemical aspects of seed vigour enhancement treatments in fine rice (Oryza sativa L.).", Seed Sci Technol, 33:623–628.

Basra S. M. A., Zahoor R., Rehman H., Afzal I., Farooq M., (2009), "Response of root applied brassica and moringa leaf water extracts on seedling growth in sunflower. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Sustainable Food Grain Production: Challenges and Opportunities.", University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Pakistan, 23.

Battacharyya D., Babgohari M. Z., Rathor, P., and Prithiviraj B., (2015), "Seaweed extracts as biostimulants in horticulture.", Sci. Hortic, 196, 39–48.

Beckers G. J., Conrath, U. (2007), "Priming for stress resistance: from the lab to the field.", Current opinion in plant biology, 10 (4), 425-431.

Belkhadi A., HedijiH Abbes Z., Nouairi I., Barhoumi Z., ZarroukM Chaibi W., Djebali W., (2010), "Effects of exogenous salicylic acid pre-treatment on cadmium toxicity and leaf lipid content in Linumusitatissimum.", Ecotox Environ Safe, 73:1004–1011.

Bewley J. D., Bradford K. J., Hilhorst H. W. M., Nonogaki H., (2013), "Seeds physiology of development.", In: Germination and Dormancy, 3rd ed. Springer, New York.

Bhattacharyya P. N., Jha D. K., (2012), "Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR): emergence in agriculture.", World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 28 (4), 1327-1350.

Bibi A., Ullah, F., Mehmood S., Bibi K., Khan S. U., Khattak A., Ullah Khan R., (2016), "Moringa oleifera Lam. leaf extract as bioregulator for improving growth of maize under mercuric chloride stress.", Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section B—Soil & Plant Science, 66 (6), 469-475.

Biegert C., Wagner I., Lüdtke R., Kötter I., Lohmüller C., Günaydi, I., and Heide, L. (2004), "Efficacy and safety of willow bark extract in the treatment of osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis: results of 2 randomized double-blind controlled trials.", The Journal of rheumatology, *31* (11), 2121-2130.

Birben E., Sahiner U. M., Sackesen C., Erzurum S., Kalayci O., (2012), "Oxidative stress and antioxidant defense.", World Allergy Organization Journal, 5 (1), 9.

Birceno-Domínguez D., Hernández-Carmona G., Moyo M., Stirk W., van Staden J., (2014), "Plant growth promoting activity of seaweed liquid extracts produced from Macrocystis pyrifera under different pH and temperature conditions.", J Appl Phycol 26:2203–2210.

Borsani O., Valpuesta V., Botella M. A., (2001), "Evidence for a role of salicylic acid in the oxidative damage generated by NaCl and osmotic stress in Arabidopsis seedlings, Plant Physiol.", 126, 1024–1030.

Bose S., Fakir, O. A., Alam, M. K., Hossain, A. Z., Hossain, A., Mymensingh, B., Rashid, M. H., (2018), "Effects of Salinity on Seedling Growth of Four Maize (*Zea Mays L.*) Cultivars Under Hydroponics".

Botella M. A., Rosado A., Bressan R. A., Hasegawa P. M., (2005), "Plant Adaptive Responses to Salinity Stress, Plant Abiotic Stress.", Blackwell Publishing Ltd., 270.

Broadley M., Brown P., Cakmak I., Ma J. F., Rengel Z., Zhao F., (2012), "Beneficial elements. In Marschner's mineral nutrition of higher plants." Academic Press., 249-269.

Brown, P., Saa S., (2015), "Biostimulants in agriculture.", Frontiers in plant science, 6, 671.

Bulgari R., Cocetta G., Trivellini A., Vernieri P., Ferrante A., (2015), "Biostimulants and crop responses: a review.", Biol Agric Hortic, 31(1), 1–17.

Bulgari R., Trivellini A., Ferrante A., (2018), "Effects of two doses of organic extractbased biostimulant on greenhouse lettuce grown under increasing NaCl concentrations.", Frontiers in plant science, 9.

Calvo P., Nelson L., Kloepper J. W., (2014), "Agricultural uses of plant biostimulants.", Plant Soil, 3–41, 383.

Campos H., Cooper, M., Habben, J.E., Edmeades, G.O., Schussler, J.R., (2004), "Improving drought tolerance in maize: a view from industry.", Field Crops Res. 90, 19–34.

Canellas L. P., Olivares F. L., Aguiar N. O., Jones D. L., Nebbioso A., Mazzei P., Piccolo A., (2015), "Humic and fulvic acids as biostimulants in horticulture.", Scientia Horticulturae, 196, 15-27.

Carillo P., Annunziata M. G., Pontecorvo G., Fuggi A., Woodrow P., (2011), "Salinity stress and salt tolerance.", In Abiotic stress in plants-mechanisms and adaptations. IntechOpen.

Cerdán M., Sánchez-Sánchez A., Oliver M., Juárez M., Sánchez-Andreu J. J., (2009), "Effect of foliar and root applications of amino acids on iron uptake by tomato plants.", Acta Hortic, 830, 481–488.

Chen H. J., Hou W. C., Kúc J., Lin, Y. H., (2001), "Ca+2 -dependent and Ca+2 - independent excretion modes of salicylic acid in tobacco cell suspension culture.", Journal of Experimental Botany, 52 (359), 1219-1226.

Cheng C., Pei L. M., Yin T. T., Zhang K. W., (2018), "Seed treatment with glycine betaine enhances tolerance of cotton to chilling stress." The Journal of Agricultural Science, 156 (3), 323-332.

Chhabra R., (2017), "Soil salinity and water quality." Routledge.

Chinnusamy V., Jagendorf A., Zhu J. K., (2005), "Understanding and improving salt tolerance in plants.", Crop Sci, 45, 437–448.

Chinnusamy V., Zhu J., Zhu J. K., (2006), "Salt stress signaling and mechanisms of plant salt tolerance.", In Genetic engineering, 141-177, Springer, Boston, MA.

Chivasa W., Harris, D., Chiduza, C., Mashingaidze, A. B., Nyamudeza, P., (2000), "Determination of optimum on-farm seed priming time for maize (*Zea mays* L) and Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor [L.] Moench) for use to improve stand establishment in semiarid agriculture.", Tanzania Journal of Agricultural Sciences, 3 (2).

Choudhury S., Panda, S.K., (2004), "Role of salicylic acid in regulating cadmium induced oxidative stress in Oryza sativa L. Roots.", Bulg. J. Plant Physiol. 30 (3–4), 95–110.

Chrubasik S., Eisenberg E., Balan E., Weinberger T., Luzzati R., and Conradt C., (2000), "Treatment of low back pain exacerbations with willow bark extract: a randomized double-blind study.", The American journal of medicine, *109* (1), 9-14.

Chulze S. N., (2010), "Strategies to reduce mycotoxin levels in maize during storage: a review. Food Additives and Contaminants.", 27 (5): 651-657.

Cicek N., Cakirlar, H., (2002), "The effect of salinity on some physiological parameters in two maize cultivars", Bulg. J. plant physiol, 28 (1-2), 66-74.

Colla G., Nardi S., Cardarelli M., Ertani A., Lucini L., Canaguier R., Rouphael Y., (2015), "Protein hydrolysates as biostimulants in horticulture.", Sci. Hortic, 96, 28–38.

Colla G., Rouphael Y., Canaguier R., Svecova E., Cardarelli M., (2014), "Biostimulant action of a plant-derived protein hydrolysate produced through enzymatic hydrolysis.", Frontiers in plant science, 5, 448.

Comertpay, G., (2008), "Yerel Mısır Popülasyonlarının Morfolojik ve DNA Moleküler İşaretleyicilerinden SSR Tekniği İle Karakterizasyonu", Doktora Tezi, Çukurova Üniversitesi, Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Adana.

Craigie J. S., (2011), "Seaweed extract stimuli in plant science and agriculture" J Appl Phycol, 23, 371–93.

Dajic, Z., (2006), "Salt stress. In Physiology and molecular biology of stress tolerance in plants.", Springer, Dordrecht, 41-99.

de Azevedo Neto A. D., Prisco J. T., Eneas J., de Abreu C. E. B., Gomes-Filho E., (2006), "Effect of salt stress on antioxidative enzymes and lipid peroxidation in leaves and roots of salt-tolerant and salt sensitive maize varieties.", Environ Exp Bot, 56, 87–94.

de Azevedo Neto A. D., Prisco J. T., Enéas-Filho J., de Lacerda C. F., Silva J. V., da Costa P. H. A., Gomes-Filho E., (2004), "Effects of salt stress on plant growth, stomatal response and solute accumulation of different maize genotypes.", Braz J Plant Physiol 16, 31–38.

De Pascale S., Rouphael Y., Colla, G., (2017), "Plant biostimulants: innovative tool for enhancing plant nutrition in organic farming.", Eur. J. Hortic. Sci., 82, 277–285.

de Vasconcelos A. C. F., Zhang X. Z., Ervin E. H., Kiehl J. D., (2009), "Enzymatic antioxidant responses to biostimulants in maize and soybean subject to drought.", Sci Agric, 66, 395–402.

Deliopoulos T., Kettlewell P. S., Hare M. C., (2010), "Fungal disease suppression by inorganic salts: a review.", Crop Prot., 29, 1059–1075.

Devi B. N., Chitdeshwari, T., (2019), "Physiological and morphological traits of Maize hybrids under saline water irrigation."

Disi J. O., Kloepper J. W., Fadamiro H. Y., (2018), "Seed treatment of maize with Bacillus pumilus strain INR-7 affects host location and feeding by Western corn rootworm, Diabrotica virgifera virgifera.", Journal of pest science, 91 (2), 515-522.

Dixon R. A., Paiva N. L., Bhattacharyya M. K., (1995), "Engineering disease resistance in plants: an overview.", Molecular methods in plant pathology, 249-270.

Dolatabadian A., Modarressanavy S. A. M., Ghanati F., (2011), "Effect of salinity on growth, xylem structure and anatomical characteristics of soybean.", Not Sci Biol, 3, 41–45.

Drew, D. A., Cao, Y., & Chan, A. T., (2016), "Aspirin and colorectal cancer: the promise of precision chemoprevention.", Nature Reviews Cancer, 16 (3), 173.

du Jardin P., (2015), "Plant biostimulants: definition, concept, main categories and regulation.", Scientia Horticulturae, 196, 3-14.

Dudziak K., Zapalska, M., Börner, A., Szczerba, H., Kowalczyk, K., Nowak, M., (2019), "Analysis of wheat gene expression related to the oxidative stress response and signal transduction under short-term osmotic stress.", Scientific reports, 9 (1), 2743.

Duhamel M., Vandenkoornhuyse P., (2013), "Sustainable agriculture: possible trajectories from mutualistic symbiosis and plant neodomestication.", Trends in plant science, 18 (11), 597-600.

Ekmekçi E., Apan M., Kara T., (2005), "Tuzluluğun bitki gelişimine etkisi", Anadolu Journal Of Agricultural Sciences, 20 (3): 118-25s.

Elansary H. O., Skalicka-Woźniak K., King I. W., (2016), "Enhancing stress growth traits as well as phytochemical and antioxidant contents of Spiraea and Pittosporum under seaweed extract treatments.", Plant Physiol Biochem, 105, 310–320.

Elghandour M. M. M. Y., Kholif A. E., Bastıda A. Z., Martínez D. L. P., Salem A. Z. M., (2015), "In vitro gas production of five rations of different maize silage and concentrate ratios influenced by increasing levels of chemically characterized extract of Salix babylonica.", Turkish Journal of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, 39 (2), 186-194.

El Sayed HESA, (2011), "Influence of salinity stress on growth parameters, photosynthetic activity and cytological studies of *Zea mays*, L. Plant using hydrogel polymer.", Agric Biol J N Am 2:907-920.

El-Sayed M., El-Hashash M., Mohamed R., Abdel-Lateef E., (2015), "Phytochemical Investigation and in vitro antioxidant activity of different leaf extracts of Salix mucronata Thunb.", J. Appl. Pharm. Sci., 5 (12), 080–085.

El-Shazly A., El-Sayed A., Fikrey E., (2012), "Bioactive secondary metabolites from Salix tetrasperma.", Roxb. Z. Naturforsch., 353–359 67 c.

Eminağaoğlu Ö., Avcı M., Ok, T., Aksoy N. (2014). "Salix L".

Eraslan F., Inal A., Pilbeam D. J., Gunes A., (2008), "Interactive effects of salicylic acid and silicon on oxidative damage and antioxidant activity in spinach (Spinaciaoleracea L. cv. Matador) grown under boron toxicity and salinity.", Plant Growth Regul, 55, 207– 219.

Ertani A., Cavani L., Pizzeghello D., Brandellero E., Altissimo A., Ciavatta C., Nardi S., (2009), "Biostimulant activities of two protein hydrolysates on the growth and nitrogen metabolism in maize seedlings.", J. Plant. Nutr. Soil. Sci., 172, 237–244.

Ertani A., Pizzeghello D., Francioso O., Tinti A., Nardi S., (2016), "Biological activity of vegetal extracts containing phenols on plant metabolism.", Molecules, 21 (2), 205.

Ertani A., Schiavon M., Altissimo A., Franceschi C., Nardi S., (2011), "Phenol-containing organic substances stimulate phenylpropanoid metabolism in *Zea mays*.", Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science, 174 (3), 496-503.

Ertani A., Schiavon M., Muscolo A., Nardi S. (2013), "Alfalfa plant-derived biostimulant stimulate short-term growth of salt stressed *Zea mays* L. plants.", Plant and soil, 364(1-2), 145-158.

Fahad S., Hussain, S., Matloob, A., Khan, F. A., Khaliq, A., Saud, S., ... Faiq, M., (2015), "Phytohormones and plant responses to salinity stress: a review.", Plant growth regulation, 75(2), 391-404.

Fardus J., Matin M. A., Hasanuzzaman M., Hossain M. A., Hasanuzzaman M., (2018), "Salicylic acid-induced improvement in germination and growth parameters of wheat under salinity stress.", J. Anim. Plant Sci, 28, 197-207.

Fariduddin Q., Hayat S., Ahmad A., (2003), "Salicylic acid influences net photosynthetic rate, carboxylation efficiency, nitrate reductase activity, and seed yield in Brassica juncea.", *Photosynthetica*, *41*(2), 281-284.

Farooq M., Hussain M., Wakeel A., Siddique K. H., (2015), "Salt stress in maize: effects, resistance mechanisms, and management. A review.", Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 35 (2), 461-481.

Farooq M., Wahid A., Siddique K. H., (2012), "Micronutrient application through seed

treatments: a review.", Journal of soil science and plant nutrition, 12 (1), 125-142.

Farsiani A, Ghobadi ME., (2009), "Effects of PEG and NaCl stress on two cultivars of corn (*Zea mays* L.) at germination and early seedling stages.", World Acad Sci Eng Technol 57:382–385.

Fayez K. A., Bazaid S. A., (2014), "Improving drought and salinity tolerance in barley by application of salicylic acid and potassium nitrate." J. SaudiSoc.Agri. Sci., 13, 45–55.

Feng G., Zhang F. S., Li X. L., Tian C. Y., Tang C., Rengel Z., (2002), "Improved tolerance of maize plants to salt stress by arbuscular mycorrhiza is related to higher accumulation of soluble sugars in roots." Mycorrhiza, 12, 185–190.

Fernández-Torquemada Y., Sánchez-Lizaso J. L., (2013), "Effects of salinity on seed germination and early seedling growth of the Mediterranean seagrass Posidonia oceanica (L.) Delile.", Estuarine, Coastal Shelf Sci 119:64–70.

Flowers T. J., Colmer T. D., (2015), "Plant salt tolerance: adaptations in halophytes.", Ann. Bot. 115, 327–331.

Foidl N., Makkar, H. P. S., & Becker, K. (2001), "The potential of Moringa oleifera for agricultural and industrial uses. The miracle tree: The multiple attributes of Moringa.", 45-76.

Forni C., Duca D., Glick B. R., (2017), "Mechanisms of plant response to salt and drought stress and their alteration by rhizobacteria.", Plant and Soil, 410 (1-2), 335-356.

Fortmeier R., Schubert S., (1995), "Salt tolerance of maize (*Zea mays L.*): the role of sodium exclusion.", Plant Cell Environ 18:1041–1047.

Gautam S., Singh, P. K. (2009), "Salicylic acid-induced salinity tolerance in corn grown under NaCl stress.", Acta physiologiae plantarum, 31 (6), 1185.

Gecit H.H. vd. (2009), "Tarla Bitkileri", A.Ü.Z.F. Ders Kitabı: 521, Yayın No: 1569, ISBN 978- 975- 482 -803-0, Ankara.

Giaveno C. D., Ribeiro R. V., Souza G. M., de Oliveira R. F., (2007), "Screening of tropical maize for salt stress tolerance.", Crop Breed Appl Biotechnol 7, 304–313.

Gill S. S., and Tuteja, N., (2010), "Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants.", Plant Physiol. Biochem. 48, 909–930.

Gómez-Muñoz B., Lekfeldt J. D., Magid J., Jensen L. S., de Neergaard A., (2018), "Seed treatment with Penicillium sp. or Mn/Zn can alleviate the negative effects of cold stress in maize grown in soils dependent on soil fertility.", Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science, 204 (6), 603-612.

Goldsworthy, (1994), "Calcium and salinity.", Appl Biol 4:1-6.

Gong F., Yang L., Tai F., Hu X., Wang W., (2014), "Omics" of maize stress response for sustainable food production: opportunities and challenges." Omics: a journal of integrative biology, 18 (12), 714-732.

Gosal S. S., Wani SH, Kang MS., (2009), "Biotechnology and drought tolerance.", J Crop Improv 23, 19–54.

Grzeszczuk M., Salachna P., Meller E., (2018), "Changes in Photosynthetic Pigments, Total Phenolic Content, and Antioxidant Activity of Salvia coccinea Buc'hoz Ex Etl. Induced by Exogenous Salicylic Acid and Soil Salinity.", Molecules, 23(6), 1296.

Guan B., Yu J., Chen X., Xie W., Lu Z., (2011), "Effects of salt stress and nitrogen application on growthand ion accumulation of Suaeda salsa plants.", Intl Conf Remote Sens Environ Transport Engin, 24–26 June, 8268–8272.

Gunes A., Alpaslan A. I. M., Eraslan G., Bagci F. E., Cicek N., (2007), "Salicylic acid induced changes on some physiological parameters symptomatic for oxidative stress and mineral nutrition in maize (*Zea mays* L.) grown under salinity." J. Plant Physiol. 164, 728e736.

Gunes A., Inal, A., Alpaslan M., Cicek N., Guneri E., Eraslan F., Guzelordu T., (2005), "Effects of exogenously applied salicylic acid on the induction of multiple stress tolerance and mineral nutrition in maize (*Zea mays* L.).", Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science, 51 (6), 687-695. Guo B., Dai S., Wang R., Guo J., Ding Y., Xu Y., (2015), "Combined effects of elevated CO2 and Cd-contaminated soil on the growth, gas exchange, antioxidant defense, and Cd accumulation of poplars and willows." Environmental and Experimental Botany, 115, 1-10.

Halmer P., (2004), "Methods to improve seed performance in the field. In: Handbook of Seed Physiology; Application to Agriculture. R.L. Benech-Arnold and R.A. Sanchez (eds.).", The Haworth Press, New York, pp; 125-165.

Halpern M., Bar-Tal A., Ofek M., Minz D., Muller T., Yermiyahu U., (2015), "The use of biostimulants for enhancing nutrient uptake.", In Advances in agronomy 130, 141-174.

Hamed KB, Dabbous A, El Shaer H, Abdely C., (2018), "Salinity responses and adaptive mechanisms in halophytes and their exploitation for producing salinity tolerant crops.", In: Kumar V, Wani SH, Suprasanna P, Tran LSP (eds) Salinity responses and tolerance in plants, vol 2. Springer Nature, Basingstoke, 1–19.

Hara, M., Furukawa, J., Sato, A., Mizoguchi, T., & Miura, K. (2012), "Abiotic stress and role of salicylic acid in plants.", In Abiotic stress responses in plants, Springer, New York, NY, 235-251.

Harris D., A. Joshi, P.A. Khan, P. Gothakar, and P. S. Sodhi., (1999), "On-farm seed priming in semi-arid agriculture: Development and evaluation in corn, rice and chickpea in India using participatory methods.", Exp. Agric. 35: 15–29.

Hasegawa PM, Bressan RA, Zhu JK, Bohnert HJ. (2000), "Plant cellular and molecular response to high salinity". Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 51:463–499.

Hayat S., Fariduddin, Q., Ali, B., Ahmad, A. (2005), "Effect of salicylic acid on growth and enzyme activities of wheat seedlings.", Acta Agronomica Hungarica, 53 (4), 433-437.

Hayat Q., Hayat S., Irfan M., Ahmad A. (2010), "Effect of exogenous salicylic acid under changing environment: a review.", Environmental and experimental botany, 68 (1), 14-25.

Hayat S., Ahmad H., Ali M., Hayat K., Khan, M., Cheng Z., (2018), "Aqueous Garlic Extract as a Plant Biostimulant Enhances Physiology, Improves Crop Quality and Metabolite Abundance, and Primes the Defense Responses of Receiver Plants.", Applied Sciences, 8 (9), 1505.

Hejazi R., Amiji M., (2003), "Chitosan-based gastrointestinal delivery systems.", Journal of Controlled Release, 89, 151–165.

Hernández-Herrera R. M., Santacruz-Ruvalcaba F., Ruiz-López M. A., Norrie J., Hernández-Carmona G., (2014), "Effect of liquid seaweed extracts on growth of tomato seedlings (Solanum lycopersicum L.).", J Appl Phycol, 26, 619–628.

Hichem H., Mounir D., Naceur E. A., (2009), "Differential responses of two maize (*Zea mays* L.) varieties to salt stress: changes on polyphenols composition of foliage and oxidative damages.", Ind Crops Prod 30, 144–151.

Hirayama T., Shinozaki K., (2010), "Research on plant abiotic stress responses in the post-genome era: past, present and future.", The Plant Journal, 61, 1041-1052.

Horváth E., Szalai G., Janda T. (2007), "Induction of abiotic stress tolerance by salicylic acid signaling.", Journal of Plant Growth Regulation, 26(3), 290-300.

Hu Y., Burucs Z., Tucher S. V., Schmidhalter U., (2007), "Short-term effects of drought and salinity on mineral nutrient distribution along growing leaves of maize seedlings.", Environ Exp Bot, 60, 268–275.

Hua-long L., Han-jing S., Jing-guo W., Yang L., De-tang Z., Hong-wei Z., (2014), "Effect of seed soaking with exogenous proline on seed germination of rice under salt stress.", Journal of Northeast Agricultural University (English Edition), 21(3), 1-6.

Hubbard M., Germida J., Vujanovic V., (2012), "Fungal endophytes improve wheatseed germination under heat and drought stress.", Botany, 90, 137–149.

Idrees M., Naeem M., Aftab T., Masroor M., Moinuddin A. K., (2011), "Salicylic acid mitigates salinity stress by improving antioxidant defence system and enhances vincristine and vinblastine alkaloids production in periwinkle (Catharanthusroseus (L.) G. Don).", Acta Physiol Plant, 33, 987–999.

Iftikhar M. N., (2009), "The efficacy of moringa (Moringa oleifera L.) leaf extract as a seed priming agent in hybrid maize.", MSc Thesis. University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan.

Ilangumaran G., Smith D. L., (2017), "Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria in amelioration of salinity stress: a systems biology perspective.", Frontiers in plant science, 8, 1768.

Imran S., Afzal I., Amjad M., Akram A., Khawar K. M., Pretorius S. (2014), "Seed priming with aqueous plant extracts improved seed germination and seedling growth under chilling stress in Lentil (Lens culinaris Medik).", Acta Advances Agric. Sci., 11, 58-69.

Iqbal M., Ashraf M., (2007), "Seed treatment with auxins modulates growth and ion partitioning in salt-stressed wheat plants.", J Integr Plant Biol 49, 1003–1015.

Iqbal M., Ashraf M., Jamil A., (2006), "Seed enhancement with cytokinins: changes in growth and grain yield in salt stressed wheat plants.", Plant Growth Regul, 50, 29–39.

Isayenkov S., Maathuis F. J. M., (2019), "Plant Salinity Stress; Many Unanswered Questions Remain.", Frontiers in Plant Science, 10.

Jain A., Srivastava H. S., (1981), "Effect of salicylic acid on nitrate reductase activity in maize seedlings.", *Physiologia Plantarum*, *51*(4), 339-342.

Janmohammadi M., Dezfuli P. M., Sharifzadeh F., (2008), "Seed invigoration techniques to improve germination and early growth of inbred line of maize under salinity and drought stress.", Gen Appl Plant Physiol 34, 215–226.

Javid M. G., Sorooshzadeh A., Sanavy S. A. M. M., Allahdadi I., Moradi F., (2011), "Effects of the exogenous application of auxin and cytokinin on carbohydrate accumulation in grains of rice under salt stress.", Plant growth regulation, 65(2), 305-313.

Jerše A., Kacjan-Maršić N., Šircelj H., Germ M., Kroflič A., Stibilj V., (2017), "Seed soaking in I and Se solutions increases concentrations of both elements and changes morphological and some physiological parameters of pea sprouts.", Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 118, 285-294.

Jimenez J. S., Debouck D. G., Lynch J. P., (2003), "Growth, gas exchange, water relations, and ion composition of Phaseolus species grown under saline conditions.", Field Crop Res, 80, 207–222.

Jiménez-Peralta F. S., Salem A. Z. M., Mejia-Hernández P., González-Ronquillo M., Albarrán-Portillo B., Rojo-Rubio R., Tinoco-Jaramillo J. L., (2011), "Influence of individual and mixed extracts of two tree species on in vitro gas production kinetics of a high concentrate diet fed to growing lambs.", Livestock Science, 136 (2-3), 192-200.

Jini D., Joseph B., (2017), "Salicylic acid-mediated salt tolerance at different growth stages of Oryza sativa L. and its effect on salicylic acid biosynthetic pathway genes.", Biotechnol Ind J., 13, 134.

Jisha K. C., Vijayakumari K., Puthur J. T., (2013), "Seed priming for abiotic stress tolerance: an overview.", Acta Physiologiae Plantarum, 35(5), 1381-1396.

Kader M. A., Lindberg S., (2010), "Cytosolic calcium and ph signaling in plants under salinity stress.", Plant Signal. Behav., 5, 233–238.

Karlı B., Kadakoğlu, B., Gürsoy, A. K., (2018), "Türkiye'de Tarımsal Desteklerin Mısır Tarımına Etkileri.", Akademia Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi, (4), 307-317.

Karimi G, Ghorbanli M, Heidari H, Khavarinejad RA, Assareh MH., (2005), "The effects of NaCl on growth, water relations, osmolytes and ion content in Kochia prostrate.", Biol Plant 49:301–304.

Kasim E. A., Abd W., Saad-Allah K. M., Hamouda M., (2016), "Seed Priming with Extracts of two Seaweeds Alleviates the Physiological and Molecular Impacts of Salinity Stress on Radish (Raphanus sativus).", International Journal of Agriculture & Biology, 18(3).

Katiyar D., Hemantaranjan A., Singh B., (2015), "Chitosan as a promising natural compound to enhance potential physiological responses in plant: a review.", Indian Journal of Plant Physiology, 20 (1), 1-9.

Kawasaki S., Borchert C., Deyholos M., Wang H., Brazille S., Kawai K., Galbraith D. Bohnert H., (2001), "Gene Expression Profiles During the Initial Phase of Salt Stress in Rice.", Plant Cell., 13, 889-905.

Kaya C., Kirnak, H., & Higgs, D., (2001), "Effects of supplementary potassium and phosphorus on physiological development and mineral nutrition of cucumber and pepper cultivars grown at high salinity (NaCl).", Journal of Plant Nutrition, 24 (9), 1457-1471.

Kaydan D., Yagmur M., Okut N., (2007), "Effects of salicylic acid on the growth and some physiological characters in salt stressed wheat (Triticum aestivum L.).", Tarim Bilimleri Dergisi, 13 (2), 114-119.

Keeney D., Olson, R. A. (1986), "Sources of nitrate to ground water", Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology, 16 (3), 257-304.

Kenstavičienė P., Nenortienė, P., Kiliuvienė, G., Ževžikovas, A., Lukošius, A., & Kazlauskienė, D., (2009), "Application of high-performance liquid chromatography for research of salicin in bark of different varieties of Salix.", Medicina, 45 (8), 644.

Khah E. M., (1992), "Sodium hypochlorite concentration, temperature, and seed age influence germination of sweet pepper.", Hort Sci., 27, 821–823.

Khajeh-Hosseini M., Powell, A. A., Bingham, I. J. (2003), "The interaction between salinity stress and seed vigour during germination of soyabean seeds.", Seed Science and technology, 31 (3), 715-725.

Khan W., Rayirath U. P., Subramanian S., Jithesh M. N., Rayorath P., Hodges D. M., Critchley A. T, Craigie J. S, Norrie J., Prithiviraj B., (2009), "Seaweed extracts as biostimulants of plant growth and development.", J Plant Growth Regul, 28, 386–399.

Khan MA, Qureshi RA, Ullah F, Gilani SA., (2011), "Phytotoxic effects of selected medicinal plants collected from Margalla Hills.", Islamabad Pakistan. J Med Plants Res. 5:4671–4675.

Khan M. I. R., Asgher, M., Khan, N. A. (2014), "Alleviation of salt-induced photosynthesis and growth inhibition by salicylic acid involves glycinebetaine and ethylene in mungbean (Vigna radiata L.).", Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 80, 67-74.

Khan M. I. R., Fatma M., Per T. S., Anjum N. A., Khan N. A., (2015), "Salicylic acidinduced abiotic stress tolerance and underlying mechanisms in plants.", Frontiers in Plant Science, 6, 462.

Khan M. I. R., Iqbal N., Masood A., Per T. S., Khan N. A., (2013), "Salicylic acid alleviates adverse effects of heat stress on photosynthesis through changes in proline production and ethylene formation.", Plant Signal. Behav., 8, e26374.

Khan M. I. R., Asgher M., Khan N. A., (2014), "Alleviation of salt-induced photosynthes is and growth inhibition by salicylic acid involves glycinebetaine and ethylene in mung bean(Vignaradiata L.).", Plant Physiol. Biochem., 80, 67–74.

Khatoon F., Khabiruddin M., Ansari W. H., (1988), "Phenolic glycosides from Salix babylonica.", Phytochemistry, 27, 3010–3011.

Khattak A., Ullah F., Wazir S. M., Shinwari Z. K., (2015), "Allelopathic potential of Jatropha curcas aqueous extracts on seedling growth of wheat.", Pak J Bot. 472449–2454.

Khodary S. E. A., (2004), "Effect of salicylic acid on the growth, photosynthesis and carbohydrate metabolism in salt stressed maize plants.", Int. J. Agric. Biol, 6(1), 5-8.

Kim H. J., Chen F., Wang X., Rajapakse N. C., (2005), "Effect of chitosan on the biological properties of sweet basil (Ocimum basilicum L.).", Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 53, 3696–3701.

Kim Y., Mun B. G., Khan A. L., Waqas M., Kim H. H., Shahzad R., Lee I. J. (2018), "Regulation of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species by salicylic acid in rice plants under salinity stress conditions.", PloS one, 13 (3), e0192650.

Kleiber T., Markiewicz B., (2013), "Application of "Tytanit" in green house tomato growing.", ActaSci. Pol. Hortorum Cultus, 12,117–126.

Kloepper J. W., Gutierrez-Estrada A., McInroy J. A., (2007), "Photoperiod regulates elicitation of growth promotion but not induced resistance by plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria.", Can J Microbiol, 53(2), 159–167.

Kogbe JOS, Adediran JA., (2003), "Influence of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium application on the yield of maize in the savanna zone of Nigeria.", Afr. J. Biotechnol., 2: 345-349.

Krasensky J., Jonak C. (2012), "Drought, salt, and temperature stress-induced metabolic rearrangements and regulatory networks.", Journal of experimental botany, 63 (4), 1593-1608.

Kumar D., (2014), "Salicylic acid signaling in disease resistance.", Plant Science, 228, 127-134.

Kumar J., Chaurasia A. K., Bara B. M. (2017), "Effect of organic priming on germination and vigour of cotton (Gossypium hirsutum L.) seed.", Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry, 6(3), 815-819.

Kumar S., Chinnannan K., Thamilarasan S. K., Seralathan M., Shanmuganathan R., Padikasan I. A., (2019), "Enzymatically hydrolysed sago bagasse improves physiological, biochemical and molecular attributes of Solanum lycopersicum.", Biocatalysis and Agricultural Biotechnology, 17, 499-506.

Kuşvuran A., Nazlı, R. (2014), "Orta Kızılırmak Havzası ekolojik koşullarında bazı mısır (*Zea mays* L.) çeşitlerinin tane mısır özelliklerinin belirlenmesi.", Yüzüncü Yıl Üniversitesi Tarım Bilimleri Dergisi, 24(3), 233-240.

Kuzovkina Y. A., Quigley M. F., (2005), "Willows beyond wetlands: uses of Salix L. species for environmental projects.", Water, Air, and Soil Pollution, 162(1-4), 183-204.

Larque-Saavedra A., Wilkins, H., Wain, R.L., (1975), "Promotion of cress root elongation in white light by 3,5-diiodo-4-hydroxybenzoic acid.", Planta 126, 269–272.

Lee Y. S., Kim Y. H., Kim, S. B., (2005), "Changes in the respiration, growth, and vitamin C content of soybean sprouts in response to chitosan of different molecular weights.", Horticulture Science, 40, 1333–1335.

Li B., Li N., Duan X., Wei A., Yang A., Zhang J., (2010), "Generation of marker-free transgenic maize with improved salt tolerance using the FLP/FRT recombination system.", Journal of biotechnology, 145 (2), 206-213.

Liu W., Zhang Y., Yuan X., Xuan Y., Gao Y., Yan Y., (2016), "Exogenous salicylic acid improves salinity tolerance of Nitraria tangutorum.", Russian journal of plant physiology, 63 (1), 132-142.

López-Climent M. F., Arbona V., Pérez-Clemente R. M., Gómez-Cadenas A., (2008), "Relationship between salt tolerance and photosynthetic machinery performance in citrus.", Environmental and Experimental Botany, 62(2), 176-184.

Lovatt C. J. (2015), "Use of a natural metabolite to increase crop production. U.S. Patent Application.", 14, 120.

Loutfy N., El-Tayeb, M. A., Hassanen, A. M., Moustafa, M. F., Sakuma, Y., Inouhe, M., (2012), "Changes in the water status and osmotic solute contents in response to drought and salicylic acid treatments in four different cultivars of wheat (Triticum aestivum).", Journal of Plant Research 125 (1): 173-184.

Ma W., Mao Z., Yu Z., Van Mensvoort M. E. F., Driessen P. M., (2008), "Effects of saline water irrigation on soil salinity and yield of winter wheat–maize in North China Plain.", Irrigation and Drainage Systems, 22 (1), 3-18.

Maas E. V., (1986), "Salt tolerance of plants.", Appl Agric Res, 1, 12–25.

Mabberley D. J., (2008), "Salix L. In: Mabberley's Plant Book. A Portable Dictionary of Plants, Their Classification and Uses.", Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Manchanda G., Garg, N., (2008), "Salinity and its effects on the functional biology of legumes", Acta Physiologiae Plantarum, 30 (5), 595-618.

Mahdi J. G., (2010), "Medicinal potential of willow: A chemical perspective of aspirin discovery.", Journal of Saudi Chemical Society, 14 (3), 317-322.

Manchanda G., Garg N., (2008), "Salinity and its effects on the functional biology of legumes.", Acta Physiologiae Plantarum, 30 (5), 595-618.

Masuthi D., Chavan M. L., Khaja Rubina S., Ramangouda S. H., Abdul Kareen M., Prabhakar I., Haleshkumar B., (2015), "Different priming treatments on germination and viability of cluster bean seeds.", International Journal of Advanced Research, 3 (5), 108-111.

Matsuoka Y., Vigouroux, Y., Goodman, M.M., Sanchez J., Buckler E.S., Doebley, J.F., (2002), "A single domestication for maize shown by multilocus microsatellite genotyping.", PNAS, 99, 6080-6084.

Mehta D. K., Kanwar H. S., Thakur A. K., Thakur K. S., (2010), "Influence of organic seed priming on germination and seedling quality in bell pepper (Capsicum annuum L.).", Journal of Hill Agriculture, 1 (1), 85-87.

Menezes-Benavente L, Kernodle SP, Margis-Pinheiro M, Scandalios JG., (2004), "Saltinduced antioxidant metabolism defenses in maize (*Zea mays* L.) seedlings.", Redox Rep 9:29-36.

Mereddy R., (2015), "Solid matrix priming improves seedling vigor of okra seeds.", In Proceedings of the Oklahoma Academy of Science, 80, 33-37.

Merwad A. R. M., (2018), "Using Moringa oleifera extract as biostimulant enhancing the growth, yield and nutrients accumulation of pea plants." Journal of Plant Nutrition, 41 (4), 425-431.

Methenni K., Abdallah M. B., Nouairi I., Smaoui A., Zarrouk M., Youssef N. B., (2018), "Salicylic acid and calcium pretreatments alleviate the toxic effect of salinity in the Oueslati olive variety.", Scientia horticulturae, 233, 349-358.

Miller G., Shulaev V., Mittler R., (2008), "Reactive oxygen signaling and abiotic stress.", Physiol. Plant, 133, 481–489.

Miller G. A. D., Suzuki N., Ciftci-Yilmaz S., Mittler R. O. N., (2010), "Reactive oxygen species homeostasis and signalling during drought and salinity stresses.", Plant Cell Environ., 33, 453–467.

Misra N., Saxena P., (2009), "Effect of salicylic acid on proline metabolism in lentil grown under salinity stress.", Plant Science, 177(3), 181-189.

Miura K., Tada Y., (2014), "Regulation of water, salinity, and cold stress responses by salicylic acid.", Frontiers in plant science, 5, 4.

Mochida K., Shinozaki K., (2011), "Advances in omics and bioinformatics tools for systems analyses of plant functions.", Plant and Cell Physiology, 52(12), 2017-2038.

Motha R. P., Baier, W., (2005), "Impacts of present and future climate change and climate variability on agriculture in the temperate regions.": North America. Climatic Change, 70 (1-2), 137-164.

Moussa H. R., El-Gamel S.M., (2010), "Effect of salicylic acid pretreatment on cadmium toxicity in wheat.", Biol Plant, 54, 315–320.

Muchate N. S., Nikalje G. C., Rajurkar N. S., Suprasanna P., Nikam T. D., (2016), "Plant salt stress: adaptive responses, tolerance mechanism and bioengineering for salt tolerance.", The Botanical Review, 82 (4), 371-406.

Munns R., Tester M., (2008), "Mechanisms of salinity tolerance.", Annu Rev Plant Biol 59, 651–681.

Munns R. (2002), "Salinity, growth and phytohormones. In Salinity: environment-plants-molecules.", Springer, Dordrecht, 271-290.

Nadeem S. M., Zahir Z. A., Naveed M., Arshad M., (2009), "Rhizobacteria containing ACC-deaminase confer salt tolerance in maize grown on salt-affected fields.", Can J Microbiol, 55, 1302–1309.

Nagar R.P., Dadlan, M.I., Sharama, S.P., (1998), "Effect of hydropriming on field emergence and crop growth of maize genotypes.", Seed Res. 26, 1-5.

Narwal SS., (2004), "Allelopathy in crop production.", Jodhapur: Scientific Publishers., 326–332.

Nathawat N. S., Nair J. S., Kumawat S. M., Yadava N. S., Singh G., Ramaswamy N. K., D'souza S. F., (2007), "Effect of seed soaking with thiols on the antioxidant enzymes and photosystem activities in wheat subjected to water stress.", Biologia plantarum, 51 (1), 93-97.

Nazar R., Iqbal N., Syeed S., Khan N. A., (2011), "Salicylic acid alleviates decreases in photosynthesis under salt stress by enhancing nitrogen and sulfur assimilation and antioxidant metabolism differentially in two mungbean cultivars." Journal of Plant Physiology, 168(8), 807-815.

Neubert A. B., Zörb C., Schubert S., (2005), "Molecular characterization of Na^+/H^+ antiporters (ZmNHX) of maize (*Zea mays* L.) and their expression under salt stress.", Journal of plant physiology, 162(1), 55-66.

Noleto-Dias C., Ward J. L., Bellisai A., Lomax C., Beale M. H., (2018), "Salicin-7-sulfate: A new salicinoid from willow and implications for herbal medicine." Fitoterapia, 127, 166-172.

Noreen S., Ashraf M., Hussain M., Jamil A., (2009), "Exogenous application of salicylic acid enhances antioxidative capacity in salt stressed sunflower (Helianthus annuus L.) plants.", Pak. J. Bot, 41(1), 473-479.

Nouman W., Siddiqui M. T., Basra S. M. A., (2012), "Moringa oleifera leaf extract: An innovative priming tool for rangeland grasses.", Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry, 36(1), 65-75.

Olivares F. L., Aguiar N. O., Rosa R. C. C., Canellas L. P., (2015), "Substratebiofortification in combination with foliar sprays of plant growth promoting bacteria and humic substances boosts production of organic tomatoes.", Sci.Hortic. 183, 100–108.

Ondrasek G., Rengel Z., Veres S. (2011), "Soil salinisation and salt stress in crop production.", In Abiotic stress in plants-Mechanisms and adaptations. InTech.

Orzali L., Forni C., Riccioni L. (2014), "Effect of chitosan seed treatment as elicitor of resistance to Fusarium graminearum in wheat." Seed Science and Technology, 42(2), 132-149.

Ozcan S., (2009), "Modern dünyanın vazgeçilmez bitkisi mısır: genetiği değiştirilmiş (transgenik) mısırın tarımsal üretime katkısı.", Türk Bilimsel Derlemeler Dergisi, (2), 1-34.

Palma F., López-Gómez M., Tejera N.A., Lluch C., (2013), "Salicylic acid improves the salinity tolerance of Medicago sativa in symbiosis with Sinorhizobium meliloti by preventing nitrogen fixation inhibition.", Plant Sci., 208, 75e82.

Pan B., Zhong T., Zhao G., (2017), "Promoting deep-sowing germinability of corn (*Zea mays*) by seed soaking with gibberellic acid." Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science, 63(9), 1314-1323.

Panuccio M. R., Chaabani S., Roula R., Muscolo A., (2018), "Bio-priming mitigates detrimental effects of salinity on maize improving antioxidant defense and preserving photosynthetic efficiency.", Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 132, 465-474.

Paparella S., Araújo S. S., Rossi G., Wijayasinghe M., Carbonera D., Balestrazzi A. (2015), "Seed priming: state of the art and new perspectives.", Plant Cell Reports, 34 (8), 1281-1293.

Parera C.A., Cantliffe D.J., (1994), "Pre-sowing seed priming. Hortic. Rev. 16: 109-141. In: Subedi, K.D., and B.L. Ma., (2005), Seed Priming Does Not Improve Corn Yield in a Humid Temperate Environment.", Agron. J. 97: 211-218.

Parida A. K., Das A. B., (2005), "Salt tolerance and salinity effects on plants: a review.", Ecotoxicology and environmental safety, 60(3), 324-349.

Parihar P., Singh S., Singh R., Singh V. P., Prasad, S. M., (2015), "Effect of salinity stress on plants and its tolerance strategies: a review.", Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 22 (6), 4056-4075.

Patade V. Y., Maya K., Zakwan A., (2011), "Seed priming mediated germinationimprovement and tolerance to subsequent exposure to cold and salt stress incapsicum.", Res. J. Seed Sci., 4, 125–136.

Paul K., Sorrentino M., Lucini L., Rouphael Y., Cardarelli M., Bonini P., Colla G., (2019), "Understanding the Biostimulant Action of Vegetal-Derived Protein Hydrolysates by High-Throughput Plant Phenotyping and Metabolomics: A Case Study on Tomato.", Frontiers in plant science, 10.

Phiri C., Mbewe D. N., (2010), "Influence of Moringa oleifera leaf extracts on germination and seedling survival of three common legumes.", International Journal of agriculture and Biology, 12(2), 315-317.

Pichyangkura R., Chadchawan S., (2015), "Biostimulant activity of chitosan in horticulture.", Scientia Horticulturae, 196, 49-65.

Pilon-Smits E. A., Quinn C. F., Tapken W., Malagoli M., Schiavon M., (2009), "Physiological functions of beneficial elements.", Current opinion in plant biology, 12(3), 267-274.

Pirasteh-Anosheh H., Emam Y., Rousta M. J., Ashraf M., (2017), "Salicylic acid induced salinity tolerance through manipulation of ion distribution rather than ion accumulation." Journal of plant growth regulation, 36(1), 227-239.

Popova T. P., Kaleva M. D., (2015), "Antimicrobial Effect in vitro of Aqueous Extracts of Leaves and Branches of Willow (Salix babylonica L.)." Int. J. Curr. Microbiol. App. Sci, 4(10), 146-152.

Popova L., Pancheva T., Uzunova A., (1997), "Salicylic acid: properties, biosynthesis and physiological role." Bulg. J. Plant Physiol, 23(1-2), 85-93.

Qadir M., Quille'rou E., Nangia V., Murtaza G., Singh M., Thomas R. J., Drechsel P., Noble A. D., (2014), "Economics of salt-induced land degradation and restoration.", In Natural Resources Forum, 38(4), 282-295.

Qu C., Liu C., Gong X., Li C., Hong M., Wang L., Hong F., (2012), "Impairment of maize seedling photosynthesis caused by a combination of potassium deficiency and salt stress.", Environ Exp Bot, 75, 134–141.

Radkowski A., Radkowska I., (2013), "Effect of foliar application of growth biostimulant on quality and nutritive value of meadow sward.", Ecol. Chem. Eng. A., 20, 1205–1211.

Rady H. M., Dina S., Nashwa I., (2018), "Quality Improvement And Seed Yield Of Two Garlic Cultivars (Allium Sativam L.) By Seaweed Extract And Mycorrhizae.", Alexandria Journal of Agricultural Sciences, 63(1).

Rady M. M., Taha R. S., Semida W. M., Alharby H. F., (2017), "Modulation of salt stress effects on Vicia faba L. plants grown on a reclaimed-saline soil by salicylic acid application.", Rom Agric Res., 34, 175–185.

Rafi H., Dawar S., Zaki M. J., (2015), "Seed priming with extracts of Acacia nilotica (L.) willd. ex Delile and Sapindus mukorossi (L.) plant parts in the control of root rot fungi and growth of plants.", Pak. J. Bot, 47(3), 1129-1135.

Rajjou L., Duval M., Gallardo K., Catusse J., Bally J., Job C., Job D., (2012), "Seed germination and vigor.", Annual review of plant biology, 63, 507-533.

Ramirez-Cabral N. Y., Kumar, L., Shabani, F. (2017), "Global alterations in areas of suitability for maize production from climate change and using a mechanistic species distribution model (CLIMEX).", Scientific reports, 7 (1), 5910.

Ranum P., Peña-Rosas, J. P., Garcia-Casal, M. N. (2014), "Global maize production, utilization, and consumption.", Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1312 (1), 105-112.

Rappoport Z., (2004), "The chemistry of phenols.", John Wiley & Sons.

Raskin I., Skubatz H., Tang W., Meeuse B. J., (1990), "Salicylic acid levels in thermogenic and non-thermogenic plants", Annals of Botany, 66 (4), 369-73.

Ravensberg W. J., (2015), "Commercialisation of microbes: present situation and future prospects.", In Principles of Plant-Microbe Interactions, Springer, Cham, 309-317.

Rehman H., Iqbal H., Basra S. M. A., Afzal I., Farooq M., Wakeel A., Ning W., (2015), "Seed priming improves early seedling vigor, growth and productivity of spring maize.", J Integ Agric., 14, 1745–1754.

Rios-Gonzalez K., Erdei L., Lips S. H., (2002), "The activity of antioxidant enzymes in maize and sunflower seedlings as affected by salinity and different nitrogen sources.", Plant Sci., 162:923–930.

Roberts L. S., Marrow J. D., (2001), "Analgesic-Antipyretic and antiinflammatory agents and drugs employed in the treatment of gout. In: Limbird LE, Hardman JG (Eds). Goodman and Gilman's The pharmacological basis of therapeutics.", 10th ed. USA: The Mcgraw-Hill Companies, 687-703.

Rodriguez-Navarro A., Rubio F., (2006), "High-affinity potassium and sodium transport systems in plants.", J. Exp. Bot. 57, 1149–1160.

Rouphael Y., Cardarelli M., Bonini P., Colla G., (2017a), "Synergistic action of a microbial-based biostimulant and a plant derived-protein hydrolysate enhances lettuce tolerance to alkalinity and salinity.", Front. Plant Sci., 8, 131.

Rouphael Y., Colla G., Giordano M., El-Nakhel C., Kyriacou M. C., De Pascale S., (2017b), "Foliar applications of a legume-derived protein hydrolysate elicit dosedependent increases of growth, leaf mineral composition, yield and fruit quality in two greenhouse tomato cultivars.", Scientia horticulturae, 226, 353-360.

Rouphael Y., Colla G., (2018a), "Synergistic biostimulatory action: Designing the next generation of plant biostimulants for sustainable agriculture.", Frontiers in Plant Science, 9.

Rouphael Y., Giordano M., Cardarelli M., Cozzolino E., Mori M., Kyriacou M., Colla G., (2018b), "Plant-and seaweed-based extracts increase yield but differentially modulate nutritional quality of greenhouse spinach through biostimulant action.", Agronomy, 8(7), 126.

Rouphael Y., Raimondi G., Lucini L., Carillo P., Kyriacou M. C., Colla G., De Pascale, S., (2018c), "Physiological and metabolic responses triggered by omeprazole improve tomato plant tolerance to NaCl stress.", Frontiers in plant science, 9, 249.

Roychoudhury A., Ghosh S., Paul S., Mazumdar S., Das G., Das S., (2016), "Pretreatment of seeds with salicylic acid attenuates cadmium chloride-induced oxidative damages in the seedlings of mungbean (Vigna radiata L. Wilczek).", Acta physiologiae plantarum, 38 (1), 11.

Rozeff N., (1995), "Sugarcane and salinity—a review paper.", Sugarcane, 5, 8–19.

Ruuhola T, Julkunen-Tiitto R., (2000), "Salicylates of intact Salix myrsinifolia plantlets do not undergo rapid metabolic turnover.", Plant Physiol 122, 895–905.

Sandford P. A., (2003), "Commercial sources of chitin and chitosan and their utilization", Advances in chitin science, 6, 35-42.

Schaafsma G., (2009), "Safety of protein hydrolysates, fractions thereof and bioactive peptides in human nutrition.", Eur J Clin Nutr., 63 (10), 1161–1168.

Schnable S.S., Ware, D., Fulton R.S., Stein J.C. Wei, F., (2009), "The B73 Maize Genome: Complexity", Diversity, and Dynamics, Science, 326,1112-1115.

Schroeder J. I., Delhaize E., Frommer W. B., Guerinot M. L., Harrison M. J., Herrera-Estrella L., Tsay Y. F., (2013), "Using membrane transporters to improve crops for sustainable food production.", Nature, 497(7447), 60.

Schrör K, (2016), "Acetylsalicylic acid". John Wiley & Sons.

Schulz V., Hänsel R., Tyler V. E., (2001), "Rational phytotherapy: a physician's guide to herbal medicine.", Psychology Press.

Schutzendubel A., Polle, A., (2002), "Plant responses to abiotic stresses: heavy metal induced oxidative stress and protection by mycorrhization.", J. Exp. Bot. 53, 1351–1365.

Seiber J.N., Coats J., Duke S. O., Gross A. D., (2014), "Biopesticides: state of the art andfuture opportunities.", J. Agric. Food Chem., 62, 11613–11619.

Selvakumar G., Joshi P., Mishra P. K., Bisht J. P., Gupta H. S., (2009), "Mountain aspects influence the genetic clustering of psychrotolerant phosphate solubilizing Pseudomonads in the Uttarkhand Himalayas.", Curr Microbiol., 59, 432–8.

Sestili F., Rouphael Y., Cardarelli M., Pucci A., Bonini P., Canaguier R., Colla G. (2018), "Protein Hydrolysate Stimulates Growth in Tomato Coupled With N-Dependent Gene Expression Involved in N Assimilation", Frontiers in plant science, 9.

Shabala S., (2013), "Learning from halophytes: physiological basis and strategies to improve abiotic stress tolerance in crops", Ann Bot 112, 1209–1221.

Shabala S., Mackay A., (2011), "Ion transport in halophytes", Adv. Bot. Res., 57, 151-187.

Shah Z. A., Hameed A., Ahmed A., Simjee S. U., Jabeen A., Ullah A., Shaheen F., (2016), "Cytotoxic and anti-inflammatory salicin glycosides from leaves of Salix acmophylla.", Phytochemistry letters, 17, 107-113.

Sharma A., Kumar V., Yuan H., Kanwar M. K., Bhardwaj R., Thukral A. K., Zheng B., (2018), "Jasmonic acid seed treatment stimulates insecticide detoxification in Brassica juncea L." Frontiers in Plant Science, 9.

Sharma H. S., Fleming C., Selby C., Rao J. R., Martin T., (2014), "Plant biostimulants: a review on the processing of macroalgae and use of extracts for crop management to reduce abiotic and biotic stresses.", Journal of applied phycology, 26 (1), 465-490.

Sharma K. K., Singh U. S., Sharma P., Kumar A., Sharma L. (2015), Seed treatments for sustainable agriculture-A review.", Journal of Applied and Natural Science, 7 (1), 521-539.

Shi H., Lee, B. H., Wu, S. J., Zhu, J. K., (2003), "Overexpression of a plasma membrane Na+/H+ antiporter gene improves salt tolerance in Arabidopsis thaliana.", ERTA Nature biotechnology, 21 (1), 81.

Siadat S. A., Moosavi S. A., Zadeh M. S., Fotouhi F., Zirezadeh M., (2011), "Effects of halo and phytohormone seed priming on germination and seedling growth of maize under different duration of accelerated ageing treatment.", African Journal of Agricultural Research, 6 (31), 6453-6462.

Siddhuraju P., Becker K., (2003), "Antioxidant properties of various solvent extracts of total phenolic constituents from three different agroclimatic origins of drumstick tree (Moringa oleifera Lam.) leaves.", Journal of agricultural and food chemistry, 51 (8), 2144-2155.

Singh B. G., (1995), "Effect of hydration dehydration seed treatments on vigour and yield of sunflower.", Indian J. Plant. Physiol. 38: 66-68.

Singh B., Usha K., (2003), "Salicylic acid induced physiological and biochemical changes in wheat seedlings under water stress." Plant Growth Regul 39, 137–141.

Sorahinobar M, Niknam V, Ebrahimzadeh H, Soltanloo H, Behmanesh M, Enferadi ST., (2016), "Central role of salicylic acid in resistance of wheat against Fusarium graminearum.", J Plant Growth Regul. 35:477–491.

Stevenson F. J., (1994), "Humus Chemistry", Wiley, New York, USA, 496.

Tahjib-Ul-Arif M., Siddiqui M. N., Sohag A. A. M., Sakil M. A., Rahman M. M., Polash M. A. S., Tran L. S. P., (2018), "Salicylic Acid-Mediated Enhancement of Photosynthesis Attributes and Antioxidant Capacity Contributes to Yield Improvement of Maize Plants Under Salt Stress.", Journal of Plant Growth Regulation, 37 (4), 1318-1330.

Tan S., Evans R., Singh B., (2006), "Herbicidal inhibitors of amino acid biosynthesis and herbicide-tolerant crops.", Amino acid. 30, 195-204.

Tanji K. K., Kielen N. C., (2002), "Agricultural drainage water management in arid and semi-arid areas.", FAO, Annex 1. Crop salt tolerance data.

Taylor A. G., Salanenka Y. A., (2012), "Seed treatments: phytotoxicity amelioration and tracer uptake.", Seed Science Research, 22(S1), S86-S90.

Tian F., Jia T., Yu B., (2014), "Physiological regulation of seed soaking with soybean isoflavones on drought tolerance of Glycine max and Glycine soja.", Plant growth regulation, 74 (3), 229-237.

Tufail A., Arfan, M., Gurmani, A. R., Khan, Abdullah., Bano, A. (2013), "Salicylic acid induced salinity tolerance in maize (*Zea mays*).", Pak. J. Bot, 45 (S1), 75-82.

Turan MA, Elkarim AHA, Taban N, Taban S., (2010), "Effect of salt stress on growth and ion distribution and accumulation in shoot and root of maize plant", Afr J Agric Res 5:584–588.

Ullah F, Ullah A, Wazir SM, Shinwari ZK., (2014), "Phytotoxic effects of safflower yellow exposure on seed germination and early seedling growth of canola (Brassica napus L).", Pak J Bot. 46:1741–1746.

Van Oosten M. J., Pepe O., De Pascale S., Silletti S., Maggio A., (2017), "The role of biostimulants and bioeffectors as alleviators of abiotic stress in crop plants.", Chemical and Biological Technologies in Agriculture, 4 (1), 5.

Vatansever R., Ozyigit I. I., Filiz E., (2017), "Essential and beneficial trace elements in plants, and their transport in roots: a review.", Applied biochemistry and biotechnology, 181 (1), 464-482.

Vaughan M. M., Block, A., Christensen, S. A., Allen, L. H., Schmelz, E. A. (2018), "The effects of climate change associated abiotic stresses on maize phytochemical defenses.", Phytochemistry reviews, 17 (1), 37-49.

Verma V., Ravindran P., Kumar P. P., (2016), "Plant hormone-mediated regulation of stress responses.", BMC plant biology, 16 (1), 86.

Vessey J. K., (2003), "Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria as biofertilizers.", Plant and soil, 255 (2), 571-586.

Wakeel A., Farooq M., Qadir M., Schubert S., (2011a), "Potassium substitution by sodium in plants.", Crit Rev Plant Sci 30, 401–413.

Wakeel A, Sümer A, Hanstein S, Yan F, Schubert S., (2011b), "In vitro effect of Na+/K+ ratios on the hydrolytic and pumping activity of the plasma membrane H+-ATPase from maize (*Zea mays L.*) and sugar beet (Beta vulgaris L.) shoot.", Plant Physiol Biochem 49:341-345.

Wang W., Vinocur B., Altman A., (2003), "Plant responses to drought, salinity and extreme temperatures: toward genetic engineering for stress tolerance.", Planta 218, 1–14.

Wang Y. H., Irving H. R., (2011), "Developing a model of plant hormone interactions.", Plant signaling & behavior, 6 (4), 494-500.

Waśkiewicz A., Gładysz, O., Goliński, P., (2016), "Participation of phytohormones in adaptation to salt stress.", In Plant Hormones under Challenging -Environmental Factors, Springer, Dordrecht, 75-115.

Web 1, (2019), http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/wsfs/docs/Issues_papers/HLEF2050_Global_A griculture.pdf, (Acession date: 24/06/2019). Web 2, (2019), <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10584-005-5940-1</u>, (Acession date: 24/06/2019).

Web 3, (2019), <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10643388609381748</u>, (Acession date: 24/06/2019).

White PJ, Johnsan LA, (2003), "Corn Chemistry and Technology. American Association of Cereal Chemists.", St. Paul, MN, USA.

Wiesneth S., Aas G., Heilmann J., Jürgenliemk G., (2018), "Investigation of the flavan-3-ol patterns in willow species during one growing-season.", Phytochemistry, 145, 26-39.

Wilson H. T., Amirkhani M., Taylor A. G., (2018), "Evaluation of Gelatin as a Biostimulant Seed Treatment to Improve Plant Performance.", Frontiers in plant science, 9.

Wungrampha S., Joshi R., Singla-Pareek S. L., Pareek A., (2018), "Photosynthesis and salinity: are these mutually exclusive?", Photosynthetica, 56(1), 366-381.

Xu K., Zhang, H., Blumwald, E., Xia, T. (2010), "A novel plant vacuolar Na+/H+ antiporter gene evolved by DNA shuffling confers improved salt tolerance in yeast.", Journal of Biological Chemistry, 285 (30), 22999-23006.

Yakhin O. I., Lubyanov A. A., Yakhin I. A., Brown P. H., (2017), "Biostimulants in plant science: a global perspective.", Frontiers in plant science, 7, 2049.

Yan M., (2015), "Seed priming stimulate germination and early seedling growth of Chinese cabbage under drought stress.", South African Journal of Botany, 99, 88-92. Yang X., Lu C., (2005), "Photosynthesis is improved by exogenous glycinebetaine in salt-stressed maize plants.", Physiol Plant 124, 343–352.

Yang C., Hu L. Y., Ali B., Islam F., Bai Q. J., Yun X. P., Zhou W. J. (2016), "Seed treatment with salicylic acid invokes defence mechanism of Helianthus annuus against Orobanche cumana.", Annals of applied biology, 169 (3), 408-422.

Yang Y., Qi M., Mei C., (2004), "Endogenous salicylic acid protects rice plants from oxidative damage caused by aging as well as biotic and abiotic stress.", The Plant Journal, 40 (6), 909-19pp.

Yasmeen A., Nouman W., Basra S. M. A., Wahid A., Rehman H. U., Hussain N., Afzal I., (2014), "Morphological and physiological response of tomato (Solanum lycopersicum L.) to natural and synthetic cytokinin sources: a comparative study.", Acta Physiol Plant, 36, 3147–3155.

Yasmeen A., Basra S. M. A., Farooq M., Rehman H., Hussain N., (2013), "Exogenous application of moringa leaf extract modulates the antioxidant enzyme system to improve wheat performance under saline conditions.", Plant Growth Regulation, 69 (3), 225-233.

Yavuz G. G., Miran, B., Gürer, B. B., Yüksel, N. Y., Demir, A. (2016), "Buğday, dane mısır ve çeltik üretiminde fark ödemesi desteklerinin etkisi.

Yazdanpanah S., Baghizadeh A., Abbassi F., (2011), "The interaction between drought stress and salicylic and ascorbic acids on some biochemical characteristics of Satureja hortensis." Afr. J. Agric. Res., 6, 798e807.

Yusuf M., Hasan, S.A., Ali, B., Hayat, S., Fariduddin, Q., Ahmad, A., (2008), "Effect of salicylic acid on salinity induced changes in Brassica juncea.", J. Integrative Plant Biol. 50 (8), 1–4.

Zandonadi D. B., Canellas L. P., Façanha A. R., (2007), "Indolacetic and humic acids induce lateral root development through a concerted plasmalemma and tonoplast H^+ pumps activation.", Planta 225, 1583–1595.

Zanganeh R., Jamei, R., Rahmani, F., (2018), "Impacts of seed priming with salicylic acid and sodium hydrosulfide on possible metabolic pathway of two amino acids in maize plant under lead stress.", Molecular biology research communications, 7 (2), 83.

Zhang Y., Xu S., Yang S., Chen Y., (2015), "Salicylicacid alleviates cadmium induced inhibition of growth and photosynthesis through upregulating antioxidant defense system in two melon cultivars (Cucumis melo L.).", Protoplasma, 252, 911–924.

Zhang L., Chia J.M., Kumari, S., Stein, J.C., Liu Z., Narechania, A., Maher, C.A., Guill, K, McMullen, M.D ve Ware, D., (2009), "A genome-wide characterization of microRNA genes in maize. PLOS Genetics.", 5 (11), 1-16.

Zhao J., Davis L. C., Verpoorte R., (2005), "Elicitor signal transduction leading to production of plant secondary metabolites.", Biotechnology advances, 23 (4), 283-333.

Zholkevich V. N., Pustovoytova T. N., (1993), "The role of Cucumis sativum L leaves and content of phytohormones under soil drought.", Russ J Plant Physiol, 40, 676-680.

Zhu J. K., (2001), "Plant salt tolerance.", Trends Plant Sci., 6, 66–71.

Ziosi V., Giovannetti G., Vitali F., Di Nardo A., Porro D., (2012), "SUNRED®, a botanical extract-based biostimulant, enhances polyphenols accumulation and improves quality of musts.", In I World Congress on the Use of Biostimulants in Agriculture, 1009, 67-70

BIOGRAPHY

Hande MUTLU was born in Balıkesir in 1994. She achieved her bachelor's degree from Department of Bioengineering, Yıldız Technical University in 2016. She started her master's degree program in the Department of Bioengineering at Yıldız Technical University. Afterwards, in 2018 Spring she continued her master's degree program as a research assistant at the Institute of Biotechnology at Gebze Technical University. She made a poster presentation in GTU Graduate Studies Symposium and Introductory Days 2019 namely "Willow Tree Extracts As Novel Plant-Based Biostimulants".

